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November 30, 2023

The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council

City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ladies and Gentlemen:

The City of Mebane, North Carolina's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is submitted for your review and
use. The City's Finance Department prepared this report, which is the comprehensive publication of the City's
financial position and results of operations as of and for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. Like all other local
governments in the State, the City is required by state law to publish a complete set of financial statements within
four months of the close of each fiscal year. In addition, the financial statements must be presented in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards by a licensed, certified public accountant firm. This report is published to fulfill that requirement for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, and to provide further accountability to citizens and other interested parties by
providing a more comprehensive report in lieu of the minimum basic financial statement requirements.

City management is responsible for both the data's accuracy and the report's completeness and fairness.
Accordingly, city management has established a comprehensive framework of internal controls to ensure the
reliability of the information. Internal controls protect the City's assets from loss, theft, and misuse and provide
reliable information for preparing this report. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their
benefits, the City's controls were designed to provide reasonable, rather than an absolute, assurance that the
financial statements are free of any material misstatements. As management, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, this financial report is complete, accurate, and reliable in all material respects.

As noted earlier, the City is required by state law to have an annual independent financial audit. Stout, Stuart,
McGowen & King, LLP, conducted the audit and concluded in an unmodified ("clean") opinion that the financial
statements present fairly in conformity with GAAP, in all material respects, the financial position and changes in
financial position for the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2023. The independent auditors' report on
the basic financial statements is at the beginning of the financial section of this report.

Management's discussion and analysis of the basic financial statements (MD&A) immediately follows the
independent auditors' report and provides a prescribed narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic
financial statements. The MD&A is designed to complement this letter of transmittal and should be read in
conjunction with it.

Profile of the City

The town was named for Brigadier General Alexander Mebane of the North Carolina Militia and a member of
Congress in the 1790s. In 1855, the railroad arrived, and Mebane was incorporated in 1881 as the town of
Mebanesville. The name was officially changed to Mebane in 1883. The charter was amended to the City of
Mebane in February 1987. Also in 1881, Mebane's industrial growth began with the establishment of the former

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St. | Mebane, NC 27302 Q 919 563 5901 919 563 1007

www.CITY MEBANE.com
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White Furniture Company, followed by the Mebane Bedding Company (now Kingsdown) in 1904 and the Ridgeville
Telephone Company (now Brightspeed) in 1907.

The City of Mebane is located in the Piedmont Triad Region of North Carolina, about 45 minutes west of Raleigh,
the State capital, 20 minutes west of Research Triangle Park, and 20 minutes east of Greensboro, the State's third
largest City. The City has a land area of approximately twelve square miles and a population of 19,338. Mebane is
the second largest of ten municipalities on the eastern border of Alamance County. The City is located mainly in
Alamance County, with about 28% of it in Orange County.

The City is governed by the council-manager form of government. Policymaking and legislative authority are vested
in the City Council, consisting of the Mayor and five Council Members. The City Council is responsible, among other
things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring the City's manager and
attorney. The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council,
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City, and appointing the heads of the various departments. Five
Council Members and the Mayor are elected to four-year staggered terms. The Council then selects the Mayor Pro-
tem from within the Council membership.

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the maintenance of streets and other
infrastructure; planning and building inspections; solid waste and recycling services; water and sewer services;
recreational and cultural activities; and a library. In the 1970s, the City of Mebane and the City of Graham began a
joint venture to develop a single water supply for both cities. This intergovernmental cooperation led to the
creation of the Graham-Mebane Lake, which supplies drinking water to both towns. The City of Graham operates
the water treatment plant and manages all lake operations, with half of the costs paid by the City of Mebane and
half borne by the City of Graham. In FY17, Mebane entered into an agreement to buy 750,000 gallons per day of
Graham's sewer capacity.

The Mebane City Council is required to adopt a budget by July 1 of each year. The City is empowered to levy a
property tax on real estate and personal properties within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state statute to
extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the governing
board. The City's budget ordinance creates a legal limit on spending authorizations and serves as the foundation
for Mebane's financial planning and control. The budget is prepared by fund and department. The budget
ordinance authorizes the City Manager to make transfers within funds to facilitate budget execution consistent
with Council intent.

Local Economy

Mebane is uniquely located between two metropolitan areas, the Triangle, and the Triad. Mebane has and
continues to lead the area in new homebuilding. This trend is expected to continue as we grow like other
Triangle fringe cities. In addition, the trend of increased retail spending is expected to continue and grow
stronger as the population of Mebane grows. Interest in the commercial and downtown sectors could result
in these categories of development creating stand-alone projects versus recent mixed-use approaches.

Industrial development also continues in Mebane, mainly due to its prime location on the Interstate 85/40 corridor
that links two of the fastest-growing metro areas on the East Coast. At one end is the Research Triangle Park
region of Raleigh, Durham, and Chapel Hill; at the other end is the Piedmont Triad region of Greensboro, Winston-
Salem, and High Point. The City of Mebane is at the heart of this corridor, where the total resources of the region

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St. | Mebane, NC 27302 Q 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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come together to create exceptional opportunities for expanding and relocating companies in the nationally
recognized N.C. Industrial Center, the Buckhorn Industrial Park in Orange County, and the newly established North
Carolina Commerce Park. Boasting over 3,000 acres between these three development areas, Mebane is poised
for economic growth.

Long-Term Financial Planning and Major Initiatives

The City's 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) outlines the major capital purchases and capital project
expenditures for the next five fiscal years while matching a conservative revenue source for payment. This
document also describes the impact of the capital expenditures on the General Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, and
the City finances as a whole. The City's long-range plans are committed to maintaining a solid financial position
while providing the necessary capital improvements to continue its historically high level of services.

Major initiatives of the CIP include the expansion of the City's wastewater facility, construction of an elevated
storage tank, Lake Michael Dam repairs, a new police station, and a new fire station. In addition, the City's
dedication to quality of life is reflected in the commitment to update the Master Recreation and Parks Plan and
Bike and Pedestrian Plan by the winter of 2024.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the City of Mebane for its annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2022. To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and
efficiently organized ACFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Mebane has received the award for
the last ten years. We believe that our current ACFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's
requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. We believe
that participating in the GFOA's Certificate of Achievement program will improve our transparency and disclosure
to the citizens of Mebane.

Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has given an Award for
Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting to the City of Mebane for its Popular
AnnualFinancial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The Award for Outstanding Achievement in
Popular Annual Financial Reporting is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest
standards for preparation of state and local government popular reports.

In order to receive an Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting, a government
unit must publish a Popular Annual Financial Report, whose contents conform to program standards of creativity,
presentation, understandability, and reader appeal.

An Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only.

We believe our current report continues to conform to the Popular Annual Financial Reporting requirements, and
we are submitting it to GFOAto determine its eligibility for another Award.

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St. | Mebane, NC 27302 Q 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedicated efforts of the entire staff of the

Finance Department. We want to express our appreciation to all members of the department who assisted and
contributed to the preparation of this report. Credit also must be given to the Mayor and the City Council for their
unfailing support in maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in managing the City of Mebane's
finances.

Respectfully submitted,

Qe

Chris Rollins Daphna Schwartz
City Manager Finance Director
CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St.| Mebane, NC 27302 Q 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Mebane’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of City of Mebane as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes
in financial position, and cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison
for the General Fund, for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the City of Mebane and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raises substantial doubt about the City of Mebane’s ability
to continue as a going concern for the twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including
any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Governmental
Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or
in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Governmental Auditing Standards we

e exercised professional judgement and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsible to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e cvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the City of Mebane’s ability to continue as a going concern
for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 through 11, and the Other Post Employment
Benefits’ Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios on page 66, the Law
Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance Schedules of Changes in Total Pension Liability
and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 62 through 63, the Local
Government Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of the Proportionate Share of the Net
Pension Liability (Asset) and Contributions, on pages 59 through 60, respectively, and the Firefighter’
and Rescue Squad Worker’s Pension Fund’s Schedule of the Proportionate Share of Net Pension
Liability on page 61 and the Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in
Total Pension Liability and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 64
and 65, respectively be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consist of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Mebane’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual
fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules, as well as the accompanying schedule
of expenditures of expenditures of federal and state awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us. In our opinion, based on
our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and the combining and individual fund
financial statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal
and state awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory information and the statistical sections but does not include
the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November
30, 2023 on our consideration of the City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Stour Sueet M%owen € K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 30, 2023
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2023

As management of the City of Mebane, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview
and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We encourage readers to
read the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the
City’s financial statements, which follow this narrative.

Financial Highlights

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Mebane exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $149,847,750 (net position).

e The government’s total net position increased by $15,815,311, due to increases in the government
type net position of $7,663,639 and increases in the business type activities net position of
$8,151,672.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Mebane’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $24,829,745, an increase of $3,960,294 in comparison to
$4,455,321 in the prior year. Approximately 25.6 percent of this total amount, or $6,348,124, is
nonspendable or restricted.

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $11,989,170
or 50.6 percent of total general fund expenditures for the fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial
statements present two different views of the City through the use of government-wide statements and fund
financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental
information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the City of Mebane.

Required Components of Annual Financial Report (Figure 1)

Management Discussion and L .
. Basic Financial Statements
Analysis
Government-wide Financial . . Notes to the Financial
Fund Financial Statements
Statements Statements
Summary »  Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City’s financial status.
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The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 8) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on the
activities of the individual parts of the City government. These statements provide more detail than the
government-wide statements. There are three parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the governmental
funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements; and 3) the proprietary fund statements.

The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements explain
in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, supplemental information is
provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary information required by the General
Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the
City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-wide
statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as a whole.

The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s financial
condition.

The government-wide statements are divided into two categories: 1) governmental activities and 2)
business-type activities. The governmental activities include most of the City’s basic services such as public
safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes and state and federal grant funds
finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the City charges customers to
provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of Mebane.

The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements (see Figure 1) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Mebane, like all other governmental entities
in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-
related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All of the funds of
the City of Mebane can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services are
accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash
flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.
Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting that
provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader
a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources
available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities (reported in the
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.

The City of Mebane adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes. The
budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the management
of the City, and the decisions of the Board about which services to provide and how to pay for them. It also
authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current period activities. The
budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City complied with the
budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as planned when the
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budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is
presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document. The statement
shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the board; 2) the final budget as amended by the
board; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4)
the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual resources and charges.

Proprietary Funds — The City of Mebane has one kind of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to report
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City of Mebane uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer activity. These funds are the same as
those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements — The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements begin on page 24 of this report.

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
includes certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Mebane’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information can be found
beginning on page 59 of this report.

Interdependence with Other Entities — The City depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated
with, both the Federal Government and the State of North Carolina. Because of this dependency, the City is
subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to Federal and
State laws and Federal and State appropriations.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

City of Mebane’s Net Position (Figure 2)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Current and other assets... $22,680,271 $21,553,090 $17,108,874 $12,097,809 $11,173,521 $ 8,495,903 $ 34,778,080 $ 32,726,611 $ 25,604,777
Non-current assets.. 5,713,414 2,761,091 2,077,097 9,425,907 14,484,677 3,136,703 15,139,321 17,245,768 5,213,800

Capital assets.....
Total assets ...

69,241,769 64,738,517 60,583,002 72,576,174 61,138,183 54,987,245 141,817,943 125,876,700 115,570,247
97,635,454 89,052,698 79,768,973 94,099,890 86,796,381 66,619,851 191,735,344 175,849,079 146,388,824

Deferred outflows of resources......... 9,128,573 8,237,052 6,984,654 1,347,157 1,187,413 971,957 10,475,730 9,424,465 7,956,611

Long-term liabilities outstandin:
Other liabilities..

Total liabilities

23,977,497 22,886,748 22,991,907 18,073,630 19,009,149 8,841,303 42,051,127 41,895,897 31,833,210
2,779,114 _ 2,772,624 _ 2,200,642 3,399,791 3,171,532 1,293,498 6,178,905 5,944,156 3,494,140
26,756,611 25,659,372 25,192,549 21,473,421 22,180,681 _ 10,134,801 48,230,032 47,840,053 __ 35,327,350

Deferred inflows of resources............ 3,676,225 2,962,826 675,694 457,067 438,226 94,556 4,133,292 3,401,052 770,250

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted..
Unrestricte

Total net po:

63,317,482 58,077,074 53,020,166 58,855,897 53,706,014 48,261,754 122,173,379 111,783,088 101,281,920
6,348,124 4,324,267 3,533,331 5,539,735 3,702,258 2,465,362 11,887,859 8,026,525 5,998,693
6,665,585 6,266,211 4,331,887 9,120,927 7,956,615 6,635,335 15,786,512 14,222,826 10,967,222

.. $76,331,191 $68,667,552 $60,885,384 $73,516,559 $65,364,887 $57,362,451 $149,847,750 $ 134,032,439 $118,247,835

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Mebane exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows
by $149,847,750 as of June 30, 2023. The City’s net position increased by $15,815,311 for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2023. However, the largest portion (81.5%) reflects the City’s net investment in capital assets
(e.g. land, buildings, machinery, and equipment). The City of Mebane uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of
Mebane’s net investment in capital assets is reported net of the outstanding related debt, the resources
needed to repay that debt must be provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the City of Mebane’s net position $11,887,859 (7.93%)
represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining
balance of $15,786,512 is unrestricted.
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Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations positively influenced the total unrestricted
governmental net position:

Allocation of Net Assets

e Continued diligence in the collection of Net
property taxes by maintaining a tax investﬂ'lent
collection percentage of 99.50%, which '“a‘;::t":'

compares favorably with the statewide 81%
average of 99.13%.

e Other taxes increased $585,245 which
included an increase in sales taxes of

$507,538. Restricted
e Water and sewer charges for services 8%
increased by $1,045,878 due to an
incr in demand for th rvices.
crease in demand for these services T—
e A continued low cost of debt due to the 11%
City’s high bond rating.
City of Mebane Changes in Net Position (Figure 3)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for Services......ooueeueennns $ 2,689,077 $ 2,165,375 $ 2,041,900 $10,749,657 $ 9,703,779 S 9,146,098 S 13,438,734 $ 11,869,154 S 11,187,998
Operating grants and contributions 1,322,247 1,071,973 821,868 2,016,944 2,045,130 - 3,339,191 3,117,103 821,868
Capital grants and contributions..... 6,500,750 4,284,192 4,465,736 4,032,800 3,422,692 2,890,267 10,533,550 7,706,884 7,356,003
General revenues:
Property taxes... 14,228,025 13,129,528 11,807,602 - - - 14,228,025 13,129,528 11,807,602
Other taxes... 7,926,631 7,341,386 5,764,756 - - - 7,926,631 7,341,386 5,764,756
Grants and contributions not
restricted to specific programs 23,110 410,380 191,474 - - - 23,110 410,380 191,474
431,652 630,116 157,929 302,525 63,939 (62,837) 734,177 694,055 95,092

Total revenues. 33,121,492 29,032,950 25,251,265 17,101,926 15,235,540 11,973,528 50,223,418 44,268,490 37,224,793

Expenses:
General government 3,569,169 2,838,280 2,945,979 - - - 3,569,169 2,838,280 2,945,979
Public safety. 10,300,977 8,660,213 9,046,866 - - - 10,300,977 8,660,213 9,046,866
Public works 5,824,083 4,824,551 5,273,617 - - - 5,824,083 4,824,551 5,273,617
Economic development. 3,031,889 2,260,845 2,225,126 - - - 3,031,889 2,260,845 2,225,126
Culture and recreation 2,543,789 2,064,269 1,931,238 - B - 2,543,789 2,064,269 1,931,238
Interest on long-term dep 174,264 178,756 200,005 - - - 174,264 178,756 200,005
Water and sewer . - - - 8,963,936 7,656,972 7,656,961 8,963,936 7,656,972 7,656,961
Total eXPeNSEes.......ovwuririvsiesriiciinians 25,444,171 20,826,914 21,622,831 8,963,936 7,656,972 7,656,961 34,408,107 28,483,886 29,279,792
Increase in net position before
transfers and special item................ 7,677,321 8,206,036 3,628,434 8,137,990 7,578,568 4,316,567 15,815,311 15,784,604 7,945,001
Transfers (13,682) (423,868) - 13,682 423,868 - - - -
Special item. - - - - - - - - -
Increasein net position.. 7,663,639 7,782,168 3,628,434 8,151,672 8,002,436 4,316,567 15,815,311 15,784,604 7,945,001
Net position, July 1 68,667,552 60,885,384 57,684,297 65,364,887 57,362,451 53,045,884 134,032,439 118,247,835 110,730,181
Net position, restated.. - 60,885,384 57,256,950 - 57,362,451 53,045,884 - 118,247,835 110,302,834

Net position, June 3 . $76,331,191 $68,667,552 $60,885,384 $73,516,559 $65,364,887 $57,362,451 $149,847,750 $ 134,032,439 $118,247,835

Note: 2020 Net Position has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

Governmental activities: Governmental activities prior to transfers increased the City’s net position by
$7,677,321 thereby accounting for 48.54% of the total growth in the net position of the City of Mebane. Key
elements of this change in net position are as follows:

e Property taxes increased by $1,098,497 over the prior year.

e Other tax revenues increased by $585,245 over the prior year, mostly in sales tax.

e Charges for services increased by $523,702 and operating grants increased $250,274 while capital
grants and contributions increased $2,216,558 over the prior year.
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Business-type activities: Business-type activities prior to transfers increased the City of Mebane’s net
position by $8,137,990, accounting for 51.46% of the total growth in the government’s net position. Key
elements of this change in net position as compared to

the prior year are as follows: Revenues by Source - All Activities

e Charges for services increased $1,045,878 due

. ] . Capital grants
to an increase in demand for these services,

and
due to the growth in Mebane. contributions
e  Operating grants and contributions decreased 21%

$28,186 while capital grants and contributions
increased $610,108 over the prior year.

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City of Mebane uses fund Operating grants

accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with and
finance-related legal requirements. contributions
7%

Governmental Funds: The focus of the City of
Mebane’s governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable
resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City of Mebane’s financing requirements.

1%

The general fund is the chief operating fund of
Expenses by Function - All Activities the City of Mebane. At the end of the current
fiscal year, fund balance available in the
General Fund was $14,786,633, while total
fund balance reached $20,978,011. The City
currently has an available fund balance of
62.40% of general fund expenditures, while

Economic total fund balance represents 88.53% of the
General develoopme"t same amount.
overnment 9% _culture and
g 10% recreation At June 30, 2023, the governmental funds of
’ Interest on 7% the City of Mebane reported a combined fund
long-term balance of $24,829,745, a 18.98% increase
dept over last year. This increase in fund balance is

1% due to an increase in the general fund of
$249,999 combined with an increase in the non-major funds of $3,710,295.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights: During the

fiscal year, the City revised the budget on several Increase in Net Position - Governmental Funds
occasions. Generally, budget amendments fall into
one of three categories: 1) amendments made to _$7,663,639

adjust the estimates that are used to prepare the
original budget ordinance once exact information is
available; 2) amendments made to recognize new
funding amounts from external sources, such as
Federal and State grants; and 3) increases in
appropriations that become necessary to maintain
services.

$7,782,168

$3,628,434

Revenues were more than the budgeted amounts
primarily because tax revenue that the City
originally had expected to receive was significantly 2023 2022 2021

Page 9



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2023

more. Expenditures were significantly less than budgeted as a result of the delay of many expenditures due
to supply change issues.

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer fund at
the end of the fiscal year amounted to $9,120,927. The total increase in net position was $8,151,672.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets: The City of Mebane’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business—type
activities as of June 30, 2023, totals $141,817,943 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
buildings, roads, land, artwork and collections, machinery and equipment, park facilities, vehicles, and right
to use assets for IT subscriptions.

Major capital asset transactions during the year include the following additions and disposals:

e Capital contributions and donations in the general fund in the amount of $3,920,850 and in the
water and sewer fund in the amount of $4,032,800.

e  Construction in progress in the governmental funds consisted of construction related expenses in
the Lake Michael Dam Spillway of $324,561 and the Cates Farm Park of $486,034.

e While not significant, the implementation of GASB 96 added $36,097 of right to use assets for IT
subscriptions.

e Construction in progress for Utility funds includes related expenses of $7,007,422 for the WRRF
Upgrade, $2,448,836 for the WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion, $219,484 for the Elevated Water Tank, and
$45,852 for the GKN Pump Station.

City of Mebane’s Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (Figure 4)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021

Land $ 7,677,836 S 7,669,906 $ 7,509,059 S 1,054,201 $ 766,326 S 566,834 S 8,732,037 S 8436232 $ 8,075,893
Artwork and collections.. 68,360 68,360 68,360 - - - 68,360 68,360 68,360
Buildings and systems... 12,614,051 12,533,851 12,515,279 21,273,231 21,830,149 22,100,411 33,887,282 34,364,000 34,615,690
Water and sewer systems.. - - 38,255,754 34,620,673 30,748,944 38,255,754 34,620,673 30,748,944
Improvements other than buildings 9,358,510 9,510,210 9,994,677 - - - 9,358,510 9,510,210 9,994,677
Machinery and equipment............ 1,705,292 1,556,136 1,515,008 1,007,296 982,313 984,340 2,712,588 2,538,449 2,499,348
Computer equipment.. 197,791 216,302 213,453 15,627 - - 213,418 216,302 213,453
Infrastructure 33,237,981 30,048,595 26,250,167 - - - 33,237,981 30,048,595 26,250,167
Vehicles and motorized equipment. 2,949,785 2,678,709 2,225,671 170,917 23,713 31,431 3,120,702 2,702,422 2,257,102
Right to use assets:

1T SUDbSCriptions....c.ccecueeueeeeceeerierians 36,097 - - - - - 36,097 - -
Construction in progress........cocueuue 1,396,066 456,448 291,328 10,799,148 2,915,009 555,285 12,195,214 3,371,457 846,613

$69,241,769 $64,738,517 $60,583,002

$72,576,174 $61,138,183 $54,987,245

$141,817,943 $125,876,700

$115,570,247

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found on page 34 of this report.

Long-term Debt: As of June 30, 2023, the City of Mebane had no bonded debt outstanding.

City of Mebane’s Outstanding Debt (Figure 5)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
General obligation bonds. $ - S - S - S - S - S S - S - S

Revenue bonds........oooe... - - 12,609,000 13,573,000 12,609,000 13,573,000 -
Direct Placement Debt........ 6,834,187 7,512,035 7,562,836 115,550 144,563 3,186,778 6,949,737 7,656,598 10,749,614
Other long-term payables. - - 2,933,907 3,211,310 3,538,713 2,933,907 3,211,310 3,538,713
IT Subscription liabilities. 32,902 - - - - 32,902 - -
Compensated absences..... 567,064 510,453 445,229 94,507 88,740 78,990 661,571 599,193 524,219
9,102,363 11,120,836 9,501,292 1,443,671 1,757,921 1,494,607 10,546,034 12,878,757 10,995,899
. 7,440,981 3,743,424 5,482,550 876,995 233,615 542,215 8,317,976 3,977,039 6,024,765
$23,977,497 $22,886,748 $22,991,907 $18,073,630 $19,009,149 $ 8,841,303 $42,051,127 $41,895,897 $ 31,833,210

Note: 2020 Pension related debt has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

The City of Mebane’s total debt increased by $155,230 (.37%) during the past fiscal year, primarily due to
increases in pension obligations of $4,340,937, offset by decreases in OPEB liabilities of $2,332,723, netted
with scheduled principal payments of $2,586,867 on notes, bonds, and other long-term payables.
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The City of Mebane has maintained a high bond rating at “AA+” with Standard and Poor’s Corporation. There
was no new general obligation debt issued in FY23, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services last review
affirmed the rating, with a stable outlook for the City of Mebane. They stated that the rating reflects their
opinion of the City’s favorable location, growing and diverse property base, very strong finances and low
direct debt. The City believes this speaks very highly of the stability and sound management practices of the
City of Mebane.

North Carolina general statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8 percent of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s
boundaries. The legal debt margin for City of Mebane is $226,718,089.

Additional information regarding the City of Mebane’s long-term debt can be found on page 51 of this report.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The following key economic indicators reflect the growth of the City of Mebane:

e The City has and continues to lead the area in industrial recruitment and new homebuilding. The
residential and industrial sectors continue to demonstrate growth, with the latter potentially
increasing explicitly beyond the number and size of recent years. Interest in the commercial and
downtown sector could result in these categories of development creating stand-alone projects
versus recent mixed-use approaches.

e The City's tax base continues to grow with industrial development and expansion in the NC Industrial
Center and NC Commerce Park, along with new development in Orange County.

e Retail sales are expected to remain strong, with Tanger Outlets sustaining much of its growth.

e The City's population continues to grow rapidly, with the Office of State Management and Budget at
the North Carolina Department of Revenue showing a 29.15% increase in the total population from
2018 to 2023.

Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024

Governmental Activities: The tax year 2023 was a revaluation year for Alamance County. The City Council
decreased the property tax rate from $0.47 per $100 property valuation to $0.37 per $100. The revenue-
neutral tax rate was $0.3421. The City Council directed staff to set aside the revenue from $0.02 per $100
valuation for future capital projects such as building a new fire station, police station, and recreation project.
Property tax revenue is expected to increase 20% over the prior year's budget. Based on current trends and
forecasts, sales tax revenues were budgeted to increase, with an overall increase of 27% over the FY2023
budgeted amount. Major projects include an inclusive playground at Cates Farm Park and the Lake Michael
Dam spillway renovation. The budget included a 6% cost-of-living increase and merit pay for employees.

Business-type Activities: The budget for FY24 included a 6% rate increase for water and sewer services.
Water and sewer charges were budgeted to increase due to the rate increase and growth, with overall
revenues increasing 18.27%. In addition, the budget continued the City's dedication to the maintenance of
the system and to address growth, continuing the plan to expand the capacity of the Water Resources
Recovery Facility.

Request for Information

This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those interested in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or request for additional information should
be directed to:

Daphna Schwartz

Finance Director

106 E. Washington Street Mebane, NC 27302 (919) 563-5901
dschwartz@cityofmebane.com
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Basic Financial Statements

The Basic Financial Statements provide a dual perspective
summary overview of the financial position and operating
results of the government as a whole (government-wide
financial statements) and of all funds (fund financial
statements). They also serve as a condensed introduction to
the more detailed statements and schedules that follow.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023 Exhibit 1
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Assets
Cash and cash equIValeNnts.........ccecueeveeveciecieieeeee e S 19,438,535 $ 10,922,599 S 30,361,134
Taxes receivables, (Net)......cocvvieiiee et 76,092 - 76,092
Accrued interest receivable on taxXes.......cccccccceiiiiciiiee, 14,242 - 14,242
Accounts receivable (Net)......ovuveicveeeiieeeeee e 145,242 1,175,210 1,320,452
Leases reCeiVabIE...ouii et e - - -
Due from other gOVernmMENtS.......cccueevueeriiirieerieeiee e s 3,006,160 - 3,006,160
Prepaid itEMS. .o et e - - -
RESTIICtEd CASN..c..tiiiciiii et e 5,222,881 9,425,907 14,648,788
Notes receivable - Mebane Mill Lofts, LLC.......ccceeveeeeeivnrieeeeeeeenns 490,533 - 490,533
Capital assets (Note 2):
Land, non-depreciable improvements, and
construction in progress 9,142,262 11,853,349 20,995,611
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 60,063,410 60,722,825 120,786,235
Right to use assets, net of amortization..........ccccoeeeevvvencvicniennee. 36,097 - 36,097
Total Capital @SSEtS.....ceieiuiieiiiieiiee e e 69,241,769 72,576,174 141,817,943
QLo LI T =] S 97,635,454 94,099,890 191,735,344
Deferred outflows of resources..........cccccveeeierreereeeccereeneneseeeeenns 9,128,573 1,347,157 10,475,730
Liabilities
Amounts due within one year:
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.......c.veevceeeiiiereennveennnns 1,429,490 1,383,353 2,812,843
Accrued interest payable.........coocvviiriiiiniiec e 47,249 86,108 133,357
Payable from restricted assets........ccevverviiereerieeiiie e 1,302,375 809,746 2,112,121
UNEAINEA FEVENUES....cvvveiieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e - 1,120,584 1,120,584
Current portion of long-term liabilities.........ccccceeeeeeieeiieeiiieeens 1,742,056 1,360,528 3,102,584
Amounts due in more than one year:
Net pension liability - LGERS........ccccoviiiiiiieeciee e 5,706,551 876,995 6,583,546
Net pension liability - LEOSSA.......cccviviieiiiiieiies e 1,176,432 - 1,176,432
Net pension liability - FIr@SSA........coouiieiciieeieeee e 557,998 - 557,998
Due in More than 0N YEar......ccvueeeviieiiriieeseee e 14,794,460 15,836,107 30,630,567
8 oL L] T Y T 26,756,611 21,473,421 48,230,032
Deferred inflows of reSOUICES......cccuueieriiereenceeeeieennnceeeeeeennnieeenns 3,676,225 457,067 4,133,292
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets.......ccccvvveevieeeicieecciee e 63,317,482 58,855,897 122,173,379
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State Statute.... 6,191,378 - 6,191,378
Economic development......ccueeeuieeeciieccieee e e 156,746 - 156,746
Future system development.......ccccuveeeiieeeiiiee e - 5,539,735 5,539,735
UNFESEIICEE weviiiiiiiiiieeeee et ettt s e e 6,665,585 9,120,927 15,786,512
TOtal NEt POSILION...vvveeceierrerereaeseitre e seseeettesssssessssssssssssesen: $ 76,331,191 $ 73,516,559 $ 149,847,750

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2023 Exhibit 3
Total
Total Non - Governmental
General Fund Major Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents.........c..ccceevveeveivenreennns S 18,243,278 $ 1,195,257 $ 19,438,535
Restricted Cash....uuuiiiieiiiiiiieee e 2,466,135 2,756,746 5,222,881
Taxes receivable, Net.......uueeeeeeeeeieieieiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeiens 107,148 - 107,148
Receivable from other governments.................... 2,975,104 - 2,975,104
Other receivables........cccccovvvvieeeeeeeee 145,244 - 145,244
Leases receivable........coccveieeiicciiieeeeeecceeeee e, - - -
Prepaid itemS......cccvvieeececeee s - - -
Total assets....cccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeneeeeannns S 23,936,909 S 3,952,003 $ 27,888,912

Liabilties, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accounts payable......ccccveeeiiieieiie e
Payable from restricted assets..........cccceeeuverennenn.

Total liabilities..ccccieeuiireeiireeniereeiereniereneerennienes

Deferred inflows of resources.........ccceeveeenencennenen

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

Prepaid assets.......ccuevieeieeiiiieee e s

Restricted

Stabilization by State Statute..........ccccoveeeeeenns
Economic development.........ccceeeevieevciieeenieeens

Assigned

Subsequent year's expenditures.............cccuu......
UNASSIZNEd....c.uiieiiieeciiee et cree e e

Total fund balances........ccceeveeeiereeeiiieninreeienennn.

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances.......cccccceeevierennnnnne.

1,329,221 100,269 1,429,490
1,302,375 - 1,302,375
2,631,596 100,269 2,731,865
327,302 - 327,302
6,191,378 - 6,191,378
- 156,746 156,746
2,797,463 3,694,988 6,492,451
11,989,170 - 11,989,170
20,978,011 3,851,734 24,829,745

$ 23,936,909

S 3,952,003

S 27,888,912

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet (continued)

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023

Exhibit 3

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position (Exhibit 1) are different because:

Total fund balance, governmental funds.........ccccooeeiiiiei e

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Gross capital assets at historical COSt......cvviiiiiiiiiiiie e
Accumulated depreCiation.........ccuee et e

Right to use leased assets used in governmental activities are not
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Right to use assets at historical COSt.......cvuuiiiiiiiriiiiie e
Accumulated amortization........coeeeecciee e e

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not

reported iNthe FUNAS.......ooi e e e

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not

reported iNthe FUNAS.... ..o e e

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are inflows of resources in the funds.

Accrued interest receivable 0N TaXeS......ccvvviiiieciivieeieee e
NOTES MECEIVADIE. ...t e et e e e e e e e saareee s

Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources

[T 0 aTe I =1 =] 0 =1 ] TR

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not

reported iNThe FUNAS.... ..o e e

Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not

reported iNThe FUNAS.... ..o e e

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

[N o LT o T 17 | o] =TSRSS
Subscription liability payable........cccuviiiiiii e
CompeNnSated @DSENCES. ......uiiiiiieecie ettt e e et s
Net pension liability - LGERS...........ueiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e
Total pension liability - LEOSSA.........oiiiiieeciie ettt et ee e ee e eee et e e s
Total pension liability - FIF@SSA.......ccuiiiie e
(0] 2] 212 B =T o113 2SRRI

Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable

in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds..........................
Net Position of Governmental ActiVities.........ccccceeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiininnnnneeiininninneenenn

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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S 24,829,745

92,018,810
(22,813,138) 69,205,672
48,129
(12,032) 36,097
6,255,983
2,872,586
14,242
490,533 504,775
107,148
(582,256)
(2,873,815)
(6,834,187)
(32,902)
(567,065)
(5,706,551)
(1,176,432)
(557,998)
(9,102,363)  (23,977,498)
(47,249)

S 76,331,188



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Exhibit 4
Total

Total Non- Governmental
General Fund Major Funds Funds

Revenues
Property taxes............

Other taxes and [iCENSES......covvvriieriiieniieieeiees e
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........ccccceeeeeininneen...
Restricted intergovernmental........cccceevvveevcieeecieenen.
Permits and fees.......cooveiiiiieeiniee e

Sales aNd SEIVICES.....cccveeeeeeicreeeee e e

Investment earnings..
Miscellaneous............

TOtal FEVENUES....ceeeeecerrreeneieeerreenneeereeennseeeeeeensseeeseens

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Public safety.............
Public works.............
Recreation................

Economic and physical development............ccccc....

Debt Service:

PrinCipal....coceeeeeee e

Interest and other charges.........cccocveeecveeeceee v,

Capital outlay.............

Total Expenditures........ccccevviiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnneennn,

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures.....

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers iMoo e

Transfers out

Installment purchase obligations

ISSUB.uueieiieieireeee ettt et eearer e e e ennnees

IT subscription agreement.........cccccveeeecveeccieeesnenennn

Total other financing sources and uses.............ccccuuu..

Net change in fund balances..........ccccceevcieeeeceeecinenen.

Fund balances - beginn

Fund balances - ending

INE ceeeeeeeeeeeee e e

$ 13,691,894 $ - $ 13,691,894
945 = 945
8,234,539 - 8,234,539
1,508,594 2,600,000 4,108,594
1,878,503 - 1,878,503
752,683 - 752,683
222,281 19,392 241,673
264,941 11,235 276,176
26,554,380 2,630,627 29,185,007
3,408,844 - 3,408,844
9,473,055 - 9,473,055
5,504,445 - 5,504,445
2,269,584 - 2,269,584
3,046,352 - 3,046,352
1,608,965 - 1,608,965
170,431 - 170,431

- 707,172 707,172
25,481,676 707,172 26,188,848
1,072,704 1,923,455 2,996,159
- 1,786,840 1,786,840
(1,786,840) - (1,786,840)
916,006 - 916,006
48,129 - 48,129
(822,705) 1,786,840 964,135
249,999 3,710,295 3,960,294
20,728,012 141,439 20,869,451

$ 20,978,011 $ 3,851,734

S 24,829,745

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (continued)

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Exhibit 4

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of

Activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however,

in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over

their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation

in the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized............ccceeevvveeieennnnnenn.
Capital asset transfers to and from other funds........ccccceeecveeeiciiecciee e,
Depreciation expense for governmental assets.........cccceevvveeeeiveeecieeesivneenn,

Right to used leased asset capital outlay

expenditures which were capitalized.........cccocovieeiiiiiiiiiieeeee e,
Amortization expense for intangible assets.......cccccovvieeiiiiiiiiiiei e,
Cost of capital asset disposed of during the year, not recognized

on modified accrual Basis..........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiccccc e

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal
year are not included on the Statement of Activities.........ccccceevvvvvevcieeennenn.
Benefit payments paid and administrative costs for
LEOSSA are deferred outflows of resources on the
Statement Of ACHIVITIES.....cocuviiiiiieece e
OPEB benefit payments and administrative costs made
in the current fiscal year are not included on the
Statement of ACHIVITIES......iiviiiiiiiec
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Amount of contributed capital and donations..........ccoccuvuiiiieeeiiiciiiieee e
Mebane Mills Lofts notes receivable principal receipts.......ccccccceevevveervnenne
Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues........cccccvveeeecieeeeciieeecciieeens

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
New long-term debt iSSUB........cccuiiiiiieeeiiie e
Principal payments on long-term debt
Increase in accrued interest payable.........ccoeiieeiiiiiiie e

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require

the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported

as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated abSENCES........uiiicuiieeciieeeee e e
PENSION EXPENSE. it e e
OPEB Plan @XPENSE......uuiiiiieieiiiiee e eecitee e e eeett e e e e e e earar e e e e e esarae e e e e e enraneas

Total changes in net position of governmental activities .......cccccceeeeeennnnnne.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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S 3,960,294

3,267,353
(13,682)

(2,707,367) 546,304
48,129

(12,032) 36,097

(156,565)

(47,390)

(98,355)
3,920,850
(11,235)

28,051 3,937,666
(964,135)
1,608,965

(3,832) 640,998
(56,612)
(406,428)

(692,370) (1,155,410)

S 7,663,639



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Annual Budget to Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Exhibit 5

Variance with
Final Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Property taxes.......ccccceeene. ... $13,144,770 S 13,144,770 S 13,691,894 $ 547,124
Other taxes and licenses.............. 1,000 1,000 945 (55)
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........cccceeevvevveencveennnns 7,334,061 7,334,061 8,234,539 900,478
Restricted intergovernmental...... 1,104,800 1,394,623 1,508,594 113,971

Permits and fees....... e ———— 1,259,760 1,259,760 1,878,503 618,743
Sales and services........ e 682,114 682,114 752,683 70,569
INVeStMENT EarNINES......viieiiiiiee et e 20,000 20,000 222,281 202,281
MiSCEIIANEOUS. ...coiiiiiieeiiie et e e 98,430 2,698,430 264,941 (2,433,489)
TOtal FEVENUES.....ceeeeiiireecirtreecirteereeiereeaeeereeneeeesenssssseennenns 23,644,935 26,534,758 26,554,380 19,622
Expenditures
Current:
General GOVEINMENT......cveviieeieeie et 3,781,112 4,025,087 3,408,844 616,243
Public safety..... e 10,296,622 12,195,417 9,473,055 2,722,362
Public works.. 5,998,805 6,794,999 5,504,445 1,290,554
Recreation.....cccccvveeeviieee e 2,390,782 2,605,344 2,269,584 335,760
Economic and physical development........cccccccvevieerieeeennenn, 2,984,647 3,466,132 3,046,352 419,780
Debt Service:
PrINCIPAL.cccieeiie et e 1,751,335 1,645,621 1,608,965 36,656
Interest and other charges... 173,023 174,824 170,431 4,393
Total expenditures.......cccceeiiieiiiiiseennnnreeeiniiieennisesssesssssnsennns 27,376,326 30,907,424 25,481,676 5,425,748
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures............... (3,731,391) (4,372,666) 1,072,704 5,445,370
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
TraNSTEIS N e - - - -
TIANSTEIS OUL...vrreeeeeereeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenas (900,000) (4,470,760)  (1,786,840) 2,683,920
Long-term debt obligations issued..........cccceeeviieieiiiinieeeennnn, 2,466,006 2,466,006 916,006 (1,550,000)
IT subscription agreement........cccuveeceeeceeeiee e e, - - 48,129 48,129
Fund balance appropriated........cccceeeveecrieeieeciee e 2,165,385 6,377,420 - (6,377,420)
Total other financing sources and uses..........ccceeeverrrnennnnnnn 3,731,391 4,372,666 (822,705) (5,195,371)
Net change in fund balances S - S - 249,999 §$ 249,999
Fund balances - beginning 20,728,012
Fund balances - ending $ 20,978,011

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2023 Exhibit 6
Water and
Sewer Fund
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS..........uiiiiiieiiiee et e e e et e e e e et e e e e e eesaabaeeeeeeeabas ernnsreneaeean S 10,922,599
Accounts receivable (Net) - DIE.......cccuii e e e saee s 774,427
Accounts receivable (Net) - UNDIlIEd...........ooouiiiie e e e 395,634
(01 (=T oL AVZ L o] F=T- TR 5,149
[ YE o [ 0 =]e I or= 1] o TN 9,425,907
o) = eV E=T 0 o Y=L £ T RPN 21,523,716
Non-current assets:
NET PENSION @SSEE..eiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e ettt e e e e et e e e e e eee saaabbbnbnrarnreee -
Capital assets:
Land and other NON-depreciable aSSEtS.......cciuiiiiiiiee e cciee et s e e e e e e sar e e e ean eenees 11,853,349
Other capital assets, net of dePreCiation.........cceeiciiiieeciie e e e et eeeeaes 60,722,825
REe) 1ot [ 1) = | I =] 4T USRS 72,576,174
e =1 W o) 0 Bl ol [ Y g = 1YY USRS 72,576,174
o] - I T =1 P RPTRN 94,099,890
Deferred outflows Of re@SOUICES......cccveueciiiiiieicccirieeeecerrreenece s erenaeeeesseenansseeseennnsssssnesnnnsssssnnennnns 1,347,157
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued l1abilities.........cccueiiiiiiiiece e e 1,383,354
ACCrued iNtEreSt PAYADIE. . .cci i e e e e et e e e e e an e e e e anareeaeas 86,108
Payable from restriCted @SSELS......uiiiiiiiiiiiie et e cee et e et e et e et e e et e e e ta e e s rtbaeessbaeeeas snraeeennees 809,746
UNEAINEA FEVENUES....eviiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e et te ettt ettt e e e ettt ettt eteeeetesesesesaassssbarasabsassassssssesessasasess srssssssrerernns 1,120,584
CoMPENSATEA ADSENCES. ... eeiii ettt e e e e te e e s e e et e e e esb e e e ataeesaseeeenssaraeeeanaeas 73,853
(o) aT=8 {0 le =Y o ol U =T o | SO UOPPPPN 306,675
BONAS PAYADIE = CUIMTENT...uiiiii i s e et e e e e e tbe e e e e e e eaaba e e e e e eenbeareaeeenan s 980,000
B o) = eV L= 0 o =Y 1L A= 4,760,320
Noncurrent liabilities:
COMPENSALEA ADSENCES. .. . ettt et e e e e et e e e e e e et e e e e e s etaaeeeeseesaabaeeaeaasseeeeannnnees 20,653
N L= oY= oI [ T T 1= o111 o 2SS 876,995
TOtal OPEB 11ability.....vveeeeeieeiiiiiee e et e e e e et e e e e e e e ab e e e e e e et e e eennraeeaeeeannres 1,443,671
LoNg-term debt - NONCUITENT......uiie ettt e et e et e e s e e et e e e eaaeeesnsaeeees sraeeennnns 2,742,782
BoNds payable - NONCUITENT......ccciii et e e e et e e e ata e e saaeeesntaeeennaeeennees 11,629,000
Total NONCUITENT [TADIlITIES. ... e e e e e e e eeeeeees savebarabereaees 16,713,101
LI L= LI LT 11 4 =T 21,473,421
Deferred INTIOWS Of FESOUICES.......civieeiiiieiirtecittenerenerreeeteteseerensseresssssssssssessssssnssssennsssssnssssanssne: 457,067

Net Position

Net investmMent in CaPital @SSEES....ccuiiiiiiie et e et e e sre e e e sare e e snree e eeesnseeean 58,855,897
Restricted for future system developPmMENTt.........coocciiiiiiiii e ee e 5,539,735
(01T =T g Lot =T PR 9,120,927
TOtAl NET POSITION. . .eeeeieiiieeereeiieretierseeeeeecreeeeesereeeeeessseeeesesssnsesessssnsesessssnneesssssssessssssnsesesssssnsanens S 73,516,559

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Exhibit 7
Water and

Operating Revenues

(0 T = LT o Y =T oV ol TS USSR
Water @N0 SEWET TAPS. . uurrieeeieiiiiieieeeeeiitte e e e e eeit eettareeeeeesabaeeeeesesssseeeeeesassaseaeesassranneaaaan
(00T Y Y=o d o] o I8 =TT SRS
Y TEYol= 1= T =T T PSP

Total Operating reVeNUES.........cuuueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiierereessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnnnns

Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and BilliNg............ooeei i
O 1] YA 0 - 110N =T = [ RS
[ o FqT=T=T oY -SSP
Water resource reCoVery faCility......cocoiee et
NON-AEPArTMENTAL ... e e et e e e e s arr e e e e e e e sarreeeaeean
(DI T Yol F- | o] o SO

Total OPErating EXPENSES.....cccvreiriiirnreiiiisrreeissssnnesssssssnessssssssssssssssnsssssssssssssssssnsasssssns

Operating iNCoOME (10SS)...cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeriiieieieiieeesiereeeeseeeeeeessessssnsssssssssssssssssssssssses

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Interest and iINVESTMENT FEVENUE. ........coiciuvieee e ettt eeetre e e e ee et e e e eeareeeeeeesasrereeeeaas

[N Ry =) ] o 1= o [T PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPN
ARPA Grant PrOCEEAS. ....ccccurieeectiieieiiee e eiteeesttee e s e esitee e saeeeastreeeetseeesssaeessseeesssseesnsseeesnseeenn

Total nonoperating revenues (EXPENSES).....ccccueeereerrreereeesraneeseesseesssesssneesssssneessssssnsens

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers..........cccoeoeeiiiiiiiiceciec e,

(0% o)1 = | I oTo T o A o TV 4 o] o -SRI
LT (=T £ [ TR
B I (=] £ o1V U PURRRRPRRRS

Change iN NEt POSITION.....iii it e et e e e et e e e e e eeaba e e e e e sesaaraeeeeeeanees
Total net Position - DEGINNING..........uuiiiii et

Total net Position - @NAING......cceeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirirrereeeeeeererrees s ssssssssssssssnns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Sewer Fund

S 8,334,674
18,079
1,792,107
606,672

10,751,532

1,163,192
3,605,415
295,062
1,778,774
28,989

1,875,620
8,747,052

2,004,480

396,777

(99,006)

(214,005)
2,016,944

2,100,710

4,105,190

4,032,800
5,738,728
(5,725,046)
8,151,672
65,364,887

$ 73,516,559



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Exhibit 8

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash received frOM CUSTOMEBIS. ...couiiiiierieetee ettt ettt sttt sae e e bee st e e sbb e e bees e saeeennes
Cash paid for 00dS AN SEIVICES......ueiiiiiiciiiiee e et e e e e e e e e e e aaraeea s
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for SErviCes........cvvrriieeiiiieeecie e
Customer depPOSItS FECEIVEM. ......uuiiii ittt e et e e e et e e e e s ebre e e e e e eesanreeeeeeananes
Customer depPoSits FELUIMEd.......uiiiiuiieeeiiieccee et eeeere e eee e et e e e raeee e s e e e s ateeeesaeeeanseeeans
Other OPErating rEVENUES.....cc.utiiiieeiteritt ettt ettt ettt st sie e st e e sabesbeesabeesatesnbeesabeenaeesas

Total cash provided (used) by operating activities.........ccccvvrmrereririiiiccissssneneeeeeesesseeeennns

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Other NON-0PEratiNG FEVENUES. ... eiiieee ettt ettt e e e et e e e e st e e e e e e e abra e e e e e e anaaeeas
Transfers from other fUNAS........cc.uvi i

Transfers to OTher fUNAS........ueii e e e e e et e e e e e e aaaeees
Grant proceeds-federal ARPA Srant.........coccouuiiieiieiiiiiiieee et et e e e eevrae e e e e e e e

Total cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities...........cccceeeveriiiriiiiineennnnee.

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital @ssets........ccccvriiiiiiieeciiie e
Proceeds from NEW AEDt.....ccuiii i

Principal paid on bonds and notes payable..........cccueeeiiiiiee e
Interest paid on bonds and notes Payable........ccueeiieee e

Total cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities..........cccccceuueeennnne.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

INVESEMENT INCOME. .. e e e s ee e e s e e e e e e en
Total cash provided (used) by investing activities.......ccccceeerreriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiinnnneeeeeneeenee.

Net increase (decrease) in cash and eqUIVAlENTS........c.eeeeiiiiiecciie e
2 ool TN oT=Y =4 o o V- PSP
L= 25 T Tl TR = 3 Vo V-

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water and

Sewer Fund

$ 10,081,807

(4,041,691)

(3,046,296)
179,625

(108,645)
606,672

3,671,472

(99,006)
5,725,046

(5,725,046)
2,591,329

2,492,323

(9,267,130)
(1,270,415)
(220,562)

(10,758,107)

396,777

396,777

(4,197,535)
24,546,041

S 20,348,506



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Exhibit 8

Water and
Sewer Fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

OPErating INCOME (I0SS) ... uuiieeeiiie ettt ettt e e et e e e e e et e e e eetb e e e e aaaeeeabee e eeeearaeeenneas S 2,004,480
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
(D T=Y ool T L[] o FO PP PPPPPSPPPTPPP 1,875,620
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable.............oooiii i e 88,784
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful acCoOUNts........cccuveeeiiiiiciiiice e, (151,837)
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources for pensions..........ccccceeveeeeiiiieciiiecccnnennn. (159,744)
Increase (decrease) accounts PAYabIE.......ccuvieciii i s (367,455)
Increase (decrease) salaries Payable..........ooueiieiiiii e e (43,094)
Increase (decrease) accrued vacation 5,766
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability 643,380
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for PeNsioNs.........cceccveeevieeeeciie e (344,172)
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability........ccoiiiiiuiiiiieiiei et e (314,250)
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for OPEB..........cccceevcieeeviieecciee e 363,014
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 70,980
o) &1 I Lo J 10T 5 1= oY £ PUPURN 1,666,992
Net cash provided by operating activities........ccuuueeeeeeeiirrriiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiinreeeeeereeeeseseesssssssssssens S 3,671,472
Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
Noncash capital contributions of capital @SSetS.......uiivuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e S 4,032,800
Unrealized gain/l0SSs 0N INVESTMENTS......cviiiiiicieeeieee et eetee et eetee et e e ee e et e eereeeteeeetaeeseesaneeeseeeas saneenes S -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Mebane conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Mebane is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a five-member
council. The City is located in the eastern part of Alamance County and the western part of Orange
County. Generally accepted accounting principles require that these financial statements present the
primary government (i.e. the City) and any component units, legally separate organization for which the
elected officials of the City are financially accountable. The City of Mebane has no component units as
defined above.

B. Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government. These statements include the financial activities of the
overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been
made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds.
Separate statements for each fund category — governmental and proprietary — are presented. The
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in
a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as
nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies, result from
non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such as investments
earnings.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund accounts for
all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, federal and State grants, and various other taxes and licenses.
The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, and general
government.

The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:

CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft — Special Revenue Fund: This fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns Building into subsidized housing.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

Capital Project Fund — Cates Farm Park: This fund is used to account for the construction of a new city
park.

Capital Project Fund — Lake Michael Dam Spillway: This fund is used to account for the construction of
upgrades to the Lake Michael Dam Spillway.

Capital Project Fund — Transload Facility: This fund is used to account for the construction of a new rail
transload facility.

The City reports the following major enterprise fund:

Water and Sewer Fund: This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations. The
Water and Sewer Capital Project Funds and the System Development Capital Reserve Fund have been
consolidated into the Water and Sewer Fund for financial reporting purposes. The budgetary comparison
for the Water and Sewer Capital Projects Fund has been included in the supplemental information.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the year
using the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements: The government-wide and proprietary
fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the
City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include
property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in
the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The City also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to
the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation/amortization on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements: Governmental funds are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have
matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Issuance of general long-term debt and acquisitions under leases and IT subscriptions are reported as
other financing sources.

The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except for
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not
susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are materially
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past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of the current
year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection
of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law,
the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor
vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts, including the City of Mebane. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which
they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for
limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are offset by
deferred inflows of resources.

Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as utilities franchise tax, collected and held by
the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a
shared revenue for the City of Mebane because the tax is levied by Alamance County and Orange County
and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and sales and
services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash.
All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general revenues rather than
program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a
combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus,
when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to
finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general revenues.

D. Budgetary Data

The City’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget is
adopted for the General Fund and the Enterprise Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal year-
end. Project ordinances are adopted for the Special Revenue Funds and the Capital Projects Funds and
the Enterprise Capital Projects Funds. The enterprise fund projects are consolidated with the operating
funds for reporting purposes. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted
funds and at the project level for the multi-year funds. Amendments are required for any revisions that
alter total expenditures of any fund or that change functional appropriations. All amendments must be
approved by the governing board. During the year, several amendments to the original budget were
necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity

Deposits and Investments

All deposits of the City are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required by
State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association
whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City may establish time deposit accounts
such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.

State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United States or obligations
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States; obligations of the State of North
Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority; obligations of
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers’
acceptances and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City’s investments are
reported at fair value. The North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT), which consists of an SEC-
registered mutual fund (the Government Portfolio), is authorized by G.S. 159-30(c)(8). The Government
Portfolio, which invests in treasuries and government agencies, and collateralized repurchase
agreements, is a money market mutual fund (2a-7) and maintains an AAAm rating from S&P and AAAmf
by Moody’s Investor Service. It is reported at fair value. Because the NCCMT Government has a
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weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, it is presented as an investment with a maturity of less
than 6 months.

In accordance with State law, the City has invested in securities which are callable and which provide for
periodic interest rate increases in specific increments until maturity. These investments are reported at
fair value as determined by quoted market prices.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize
investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand deposits and are
considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Assets

Customer deposits held by the City before any services are supplied are restricted for which the deposit
was collected. Contractor reserves and bond deposits received and held are classified as restricted cash.
Grant proceeds received in advance for specified purposes are classified as restricted cash. Unexpended
loan principal and interest receipts in the CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund is classified as
restricted assets because its use is restricted for future economic development per an agreement with
the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash, if
applicable, because they can be expended only for the purposes of maintaining, repairing, constructing,
reconstructing or widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4. Unexpended utility
system development fees are restricted for use in accordance with G.S 162A-211.

City of Mebane Restricted Cash
Governmental Activities
General Fund

Contractor reserves and bond depositS......ccciicieveieneesiereeereeeee e S 308,123
ASSEL fOrTRITUIE fUNTS ....vivieitectetecteeeteeet e e b s b s 253,860
UNSPENT 10GN PrOCEEUS ...ttt ettt eb e et netans 909,900
Corrections UNUSE FUNAS ......ccivvieiecececectctcee ettt ere e ese e e eneen 1,305
SEOTMWALEL FESEIVES ...uveeiteeeeereeettetesee e st et e et e s e eeesreesseesteesesse e seenseenaesssesseessensessenns 992,947
CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Capital Project Fund
ECONOMIC DEVEIOPMENT....c.iiiiiieieiireeerr et et 156,746
Transload Capital Project Fund Unspent
STALE GrANT PrOCEEAS .......eeeeeeeeeeeeee s es s __ 2,600,000
Total governmental aCtiVitieS......cccvcveeieicircececee e _ 5222881

Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Fund

CUSTOMET AEPOSITS .euviuiiteicteieeetetete et ettt a et sttt s bbb eseebeneesenis 809,746
Unexpended system development fEES........cvcvveeeececee e 5,539,735
Unexpended ARPA Capital Project Fund uexpended proceeds........ccocecerererenenne. 1,138,246
Unspent bond proceeds _ 1,938,180
TOtal BUSINESS-tYPE ACHVITIES...rvvurveerirerieiessesssses s s sssses st sssessssessasssssasssssns __ 9425907
TOtal RESIICEA CASH..cuieieeciececeececeeeee et sttt s $ 14,648,788

Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem taxes on
property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on
September 1 (lien date), however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2022. As allowed by State law, the City has established
a schedule of discounts that apply to taxes that are paid prior to the due date. In the City’s General
Fund, ad valorem tax revenues are reported net of such discounts.
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Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were
written off in prior years.

Leases Receivable

The City’s leases receivable is measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be received
during the lease term. Under the lease agreement, the City may receive variable lease payments that are
dependent upon the lessee’s revenue. There are no variable components under the lease agreement.

A deferred inflow of resources is recorded for the leases. The deferred inflow of resources is recorded at
the initiation of the lease in an amount equal to the initial recording of the lease receivable. The deferred
inflow of resources is amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City’s enterprise fund consist of expendable materials and supplies that are
expensed when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are
used.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a

certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Minimum capitalization costs are $5,000
for all items. Donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair
value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at
acquisition value. All other purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment in the proprietary fund of the City are recorded at original cost at the
time of acquisition. The City capitalizes those interest costs which are incurred during the construction
period of any major capital projects. Property, plant, and equipment donated to the proprietary fund
type operations are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lives

N T ASEIUCTUIE .t e sttt e b e et e st e st e e s bt e e satesabeeeebeesseesane
Buildings................

Improvements
LV =] ool [T PSPPSR
FUurniture and @QUIPMENT ......ooiiiiiee e ettt e e et e e e e e e e raaa e e e e e e eeaaaaeeeeeeeenssaaees nens 5/10
COMPULEE EQUIPMENT ..ceviiiitieeiie ettt et ettt e etee et cteeeeveeebeesteeetseesbeeeabeesabeessseessseeseeeabeesnneens 3/5/10

Right to use assets

The City’s capital assets also include certain right to use assets. These right to use assets arise in
association with agreements where the City reports a lease (only applies when the City is the lessee) or
agreements where the City reports an Information Technology (IT) Subscription in accordance with the
requirements of GASB 87 and GASB 96, respectively.
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The right to use lease assets are initially measured at an amount equal to the initial measurement of the
related lease liability plus any lease payments made at or prior to the start of the lease term, less lease
incentives received from the lessor at or prior to the start of the lease term, and plus ancillary charges
necessary to place the lease asset into service. The right to use lease assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the life of the related lease.

The right to use IT subscription assets are initially measured at an amount equal to the initial
measurement of the subscription liability plus any subscription payments made at the start of the
subscription term, if applicable, plus capitalizable initial implementation costs at the start of the
subscription term, less any incentives received from the IT subscription vendor at the start of the
subscription term. Subscription payments, as well as payments for capitalizable implementation costs
made before the start of the subscription term should be reported as a prepayment (asset). Such
prepayments should be reduced by any incentives received from the same vendor before the start of the
subscription term if a right of offset exists. The net amount of the prepayments and incentives should be
reported as an asset or liability, as appropriate, before the start of the subscription term at which time
the amount should be included in the initial measurement of the subscription asset. The right to use
subscription assets should be amortized on a straight-line basis over the subscription term.

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of
Resources, represent a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has three items that meet this criterion,
pension deferrals and OPEB deferrals for the 2023 fiscal year. In addition to liabilities, the statement of
financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This
separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of Resources, represent an acquisition of net
assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The City has
several items that meet the criterion for this category — prepaid taxes, property taxes receivable
unavailable revenues (reported only on the Balance Sheet of the Governmental Funds), leases, and
pension and OPEB deferrals.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the
bonds using the straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premiums or discount.

In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Compensated Absences

The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to 240 hours of earned vacation leave
with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the City’s government-wide and proprietary funds,
an expense and a liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as
the leave is earned. The City has assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated
time. The portion of that time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as
a current liability in the government-wide financial statements.
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The City’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does
not vest. Since the City does not have any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually
taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made.

Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position

Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints
on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or imposed by law through state statute.

Fund Balances

In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of classifications designed to
disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.

The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Prepaid Assets — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it represents the
year-end balance of prepaid assets, which are not spendable resources.

Leases Receivable, net — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it is not in
spendable form. The reported amount is calculated by reducing the lease receivable by the related
deferred inflow of resources.

Restricted Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.

Restricted for Stabilization by State Statute — portion of fund balance that is restricted by State
Statue [G.S. 159-8(a)]. North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units of government from budgeting or
spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one of several statutes enacted by the North
Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that were designed to improve and maintain the fiscal health
of local government units. Restricted by State statute (RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal
year for all annually budgeted funds. The calculation in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for
determining what portion of fund balance is available for appropriation. The amount of fund balance
not available for appropriation is what is known as “restricted by State statute”. Appropriated fund
balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of cash and investments minus the sum of liabilities,
encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close
of the fiscal year next preceding the budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon
which a restriction is “imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS
is reduced by inventories and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding
Encumbrances are included within RSS. RSS is included as a component of Restricted Net position
and Restricted fund balance on the face of the balance sheet.

Restricted for Economic Development — portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source
for future community development related activities. This amount represents the balance of the
total unexpended funds from the amortized repayments of the CDBG monies loaned to Mebane
Mills Lofts, LLC.

Assigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that the City intends to use for specific purposes.

Subsequent year’s expenditures — portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves the
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appropriation; however, the budget ordinance authorizes the budget officer to modify the
appropriations by resource or appropriation within funds without limitation. Any transfer between
funds must be approved by the governing board in the budget ordinance as amended.

Unassigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
to specific purposes or other funds. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General
Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report positive unassigned fund balance but can report negative
unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned to those purposes.

The City of Mebane has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple
revenue sources. The Finance Officer will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds,
federal funds, State funds, local non-city funds, city funds. For purposes of fund balance classification,
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Officer has the authority
to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the City.

The City of Mebane has adopted a fund balance policy that instructs management to conduct the
business of the City in such a manner that unrestricted fund balance is 50% of annual budgeted
expenditures and transfers. Any portion in excess of 50% may be set aside for future capital
improvements or to other purposes as directed by the City Council.

Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from
LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS.
For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due. The City of Mebane’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the City of Mebane has
a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.

For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions to/deductions from
FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

F. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

2. Detail Notes on All Funds
A. Assets

Deposits
All the deposits of the City are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the

Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. Under the Pooling Method,
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which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State
Treasurer’s agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary
capacity for the City, these deposits are considered to be held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. The
amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest bearing
deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories using the Pooling
Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured
deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City or the escrow agent.
Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the City under the
Pooling Method, the potential exists for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of
high cash flows. However, the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial
stability for each depository that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has
no formal policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce
standards of minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official depositories
and verifying that deposits are properly secured.

At June 30, 2023 the City’s deposits had a carrying amount of $32,585,066, and a bank balance of
$29,718,055. Of the bank balance, $1,010,199 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. Petty cash on hand at June 30,
2023 was $400.

Investments
At June 30, 2023, the City’s investment balances were as follows:

Valuation
Measurement Book Value at
Investments by Type Method 6/30/2023 Maturity Rating
NC Capital Management Trust
- Government Portfolio......cccceeveuenes Fair Valuelevel 1 S 12,424,456 N/A AAAM
Total S 12,424,456

All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of assets.

Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a matrix
pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ benchmark quoted
prices.

Interest Rate Risk. The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk. As a means of
limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s internal investment
policy limits at least half of the City’s investment portfolio to maturities of less than 12 months. Also, the
City’s internal management policy requires purchases of securities to be laddered with staggered
maturity dates and limits all securities to a final maturity of no more than two years.

Credit Risk. The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management procedures
that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the purchase of securities
to the highest possible ratings whenever particular types of securities are rated. State law limits
investments in commercial paper to the top rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations (NRSROs). As of June 30, 2023, the City did not hold any investments in commercial paper.
The City’s investment in the NC Capital Management Trust Government Portfolio carried a credit rating
of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s and AAAm-mf by Moody’s Investors Service as of June 30, 2023.
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Concentration of Credit Risk. The City’s Council places no limit on the amount that the City may invest in
any one issuer. For the year ended June 30, 2023, there were no investments in commercial paper that
totaled more than 5 percent of the City’s investments.

Receivables — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The amount of taxes receivable presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position
includes penalties levied and outstanding in the amount of $115,116.

The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position for the year ended June
30, 2023 are net of the following allowances for doubtful accounts:

Funds

General Fund:
LR G T =T V2= L F= RS S 15,356
Accounts Receivable... -
1o} = | H OSSR S RO 15356

ENtEIPriS@ FUNG. et ettt sttt snenan 49,714
B0 = T S 65,070

Leases Receivable

In July 2020, the City entered into a lease with Alamance County. Under the lease, the Alamance County
pays the City $450 per month for three years in exchange for maintaining a room and parking bay at the
City fire department. The lease receivable is measured as the present value of the future minimum rent
payments expected to be received during the lease term at a discount rate of 2.6%, which is the City’s
incremental borrowing rate. This lease expired prior to June 30, 2023.

In fiscal year 2023, the City recognized $5,348 of lease revenue and $52 of interest revenue under the
lease.

In prior years, the City entered into separate five year renewable leases with three mobile phone
companies. Under the leases, the mobile phone companies pay the City rents in the amounts of $2,409,
$1,331, and $3,861 per month in exchange for antenna space on the City’s water tower. The leases
receivable are measured as the present value of the future minimum rent payments expected to be
received during the lease terms at a discount rate of 2.6%, which is the City’s incremental borrowing
rate. These leases terminated or expires prior to June 30, 2023.

In fiscal year 2023, the City recognized $24,074, $15,949, and $7,703 of lease revenue and $16, $223,
and $19 of interest revenue under the leases.
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Capital Assets
Primary Government

Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Governmental activities: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
LaNG.uiiiiriieeeeee ettt e S 7,669,906 S 7,930 S - $ 7,677,836
Artwork and collections 68,360 - - 68,360
Construction in Progress....eeeereereeneeneens 456,448 1,015,513 75,895 1,396,066
Total capital assets not being depreciated... 8,194,714 1,023,443 75,895 9,142,262
Capital assets being depreciated:
BUITAINGS ettt 17,288,045 461,892 - 17,749,937
Other improvements 11,420,943 219,155 - 11,640,098
Equipment......cccceevevvernenne. 3,652,714 446,552 15,379 4,083,887
Computer equUipMENT......cccccevirerieiireeieeeiees 665,225 29,876 - 695,101
Vehicles and motorized equipment................. 9,761,612 891,175 565,581 10,087,206
INFrastrUCTUre. . ittt e 34,422,050 4,198,270 - 38,620,320
Total capital assets being depreciated.......... 77,210,589 6,246,920 580,960 82,876,549
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BUITAINGS vt 4,754,194 381,692 - 5,135,886
Other improvements... 1,910,733 370,855 - 2,281,588
EQUIPMENT ..ottt e 2,096,578 297,396 15,379 2,378,595
Computer equUipMENT......cccecerircerierireeieeeiees 448,923 48,387 - 497,310
Vehicles and motorized equipment................. 7,082,903 190,914 136,396 7,137,421
INFrastrUCTUre. . et e 4,373,455 1,008,884 - 5,382,339
Total accumulated depreciation...................... 20,666,786 $2,298,128 S 151,775 22,813,139
Total capital assets being depreciated, net... 56,543,803 60,063,410
Capital assets being amortized:
ITSUbSCriptions......ccoeeeeveeeeececeeeeeeeenee - 48,129 - 48,129
Total capital assets being amortized - 48,129 - 48,129
Less accumulated amortization for:
ITSUBSCIIPLIONS...cuiieeieeeireeceeeee e - 12,032 - 12,032
Total accumulated amortization.......ccu........ - S 12,032 S - 12,032
Total capital assets being amortized, net...... - 36,097
Governmental activity capital assets, net........... S 64,738,517 $69,241,769
Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:
GENETAl OVEIMIMENT....uiiiiiiiiieeiiie ettt e ettee e ettt e e s e e st e e e steeeeetseessssaeeessseeeanssaeessseeeasseenanes S 126,195
PUBIIC SAfOLY ..ttt s 677,052
PUDBIIC WOTKS ...ttt e e e e e e e r e e e e e e e aab e e e e e e e ennanaeeeeeeeeaaeas 1,378,455
Recreation 500,282
Economic & physical development 25,384
o] =1 U PP PPPPN $2,707,368

Page 34



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

Business-type Activities

The capital assets of the Enterprise Fund for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Water and Sewer Fund: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
LaN ittt e enan S 766,326 S 287,875 S - $ 1,054,201
Construction in Progress....inenenesreneenns 2,915,009 7,884,139 - 10,799,148
Total capital assets not being depreciated....... 3,681,335 8,172,014 - 11,853,349
Capital assets being depreciated:
W ater SOUMCES....uevieeieieeee e et see e e eas 13,937,610 - - 13,937,610
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 8,866,489 11,965 - 8,878,454
Water and sewer liNeS.......cocveeeeeecececececree s 46,749,514 4,686,180 - 51,435,694
Land improvements........ccceeceveeeeeceeeceeeeeenes v 77,094 12,281 - 89,375
Water Resource Recovery Facility.....coceevneee. 9,796,576 89,620 - 9,886,196
Machinery and equipment........ccccceeevevueveriereerennns 2,002,688 151,106 21,770 2,132,024
Computer eqUIiPMENT......ccociivirviriiiieeeceee s - 16,028 - 16,028
VENTICIES .. e 443,830 583,656 31,452 996,034
Total capital assets being depreciated.............. 81,873,801 5,550,836 53,222 87,371,415
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Water SOUICES.....covcuieetieeeeeeee ettt e 4,567,973 285,941 - 4,853,914
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 2,208,219 164,228 - 2,372,447
Water and sewer liNes......coceeeveeevecesrecreeree s 12,128,841 1,051,099 - 13,179,940
Land improvements......c.ccceeeeveeeereerecneeseeessnenes 10,859 3,474 - 14,333
Water Resource Recovery Facility.....cccoevurunnen. 4,060,569 217,141 - 4,277,710
Machinery and equipment.......cccccceeveeeveverereerennns 1,020,375 126,123 21,770 1,124,728
Computer equipment........cccoeeeecnecnerneneeie e - 401 - 401
VENICIES .o e 420,117 436,452 31,452 825,117
Total accumulated depreciation.......ccoeeevveenee 24,416,953 $2,284,859 S 53,222 26,648,590
Total capital assets being depreciated, net....... 57,456,848 60,722,825
Business-type activity capital assets, net................ $61,138,183 $72,576,174

Right to Use Leased Assets

The City has no right to use leased assets for the year ended June 30, 2023.
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Construction Commitments

The government has active construction projects as of June 30, 2023. At year end, the government’s
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Project Spent to Date Remaining Contract
WRRF Upgrade Construction Services.......coeeereererereereuennn. S 333,274 § 203,116
WRRF Design/Engineering SErviCes......oouvemeereeeeererecennsesenns 2,358,786 951,214
City of Mebane WRRF Upgrade 5,486,467 898,494
PW Facility Fence Loop Paving - 10,000
WRRF Construction Administration......cccceeeeeeeeeeeeieeeseecveenne. - 5,000
Lake Michael Spillway DeSign......cceeivererreerieinieeerieiseseesenens 324,561 583,679
AWCK - Lake Michael Connector Engineering and Des........... 28,831 7,169
GKN Re-Route Final Design......cccccveeevnene 43,193 6,307
U-6013 Utility Reloctions Engineering 16,047 33,453
Elevated Storage Tank Eningeering Services........cccoceeevervennnnn. 198,519 325,481
Dead End Turn-Around Study Project......ccoeceeeeereceeveeeecreseenennns 16,546 13,454
N. Second St. and Crawford St. Sidewalk Design.......cccccevuvenene 18,240 1,761
Future Water Planning Modeling........ccccovceveeeccnnnceieccnenenes 28,618 2,206
Cates Farm Park Improvements.......ccccoeeveenecenienesesieneeenienens 328,498 564,252
Fifth St. Pocket Park & Eighth St. Sidewalk .....cccccevevevviereenenene 7,495 2,505
S. Third St. Ext. Sidewalk Project- Ph. 1....ccccovevevineieniciicens 2,943 46,858
AWCK - CEl - Cates Farm Park Phase #1.......ccoceeeevvvvecrnnrvecnennnns 22,814 7,186
Cates Farm Park Playground Phase #1........cccooevviveeveevienennnns 110,823 205,677
Long Range Water System Planning SUpport......ccccceeeveeenee. 22,058 7,943
Fiddler Stage for Community Park......coceceeveeerceneecieeeeeerennns 42,018 65,982
Clay Street Infrastructure Improvements 593,180 168,745
Criteria Design Station 4. 69,036 30,964
W Carr St Sidewalk Project - Striping ..c.ceoeeeeevneeenecenenneenene - 3,770
West Carr St Sidewalk Improvements.......ccoccveeeverieereenienennns - 27,700
Council Chamber/Conf Room/ Hallway Restoration.............. - 29,996
TOTAL et et et S 10,051,947 S 4,202,912

B. Liabilities

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System

Plan Description. The City of Mebane is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general employees and
local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities. Article 3 of G.S.
Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of
13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by
the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-
officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included in the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes
financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be obtained
by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-
1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.
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Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A
member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at
age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age
with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at
age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service (age 55 for
firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of
creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue squad
members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have reached age
60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases.
Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.

LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed
20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have
reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55, or
have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty. Eligible beneficiaries
may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’'s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s
contributions.

Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Mebane employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the LGERS
Board of Trustees. The City of Mebane’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June
30, 2023, was 13.10% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 12.10% for general employees
and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions,
is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year. Contributions to the
pension plan from the City of Mebane were $2,313,791 for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Refunds of Contributions — City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after service
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s
right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $6,583,546 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2021. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the pension plan, relative
to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating LGERS employers,
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2022, the City’s proportion was 0.117%, which was a decrease of
0.001% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021.
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For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $2,582,941. At June 30, 2023,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows of

of Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience............. S 283,679 S 27,813
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS...c.cueuriiririririrrrerereeeee st 656,890 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan iNVeStMENtS......ccccoevecrererereireere e 2,175,931 -
Changes in proportion and differences between City

contributions and proportionate share of contributions.. 1,212,752 61
City contribution subsequent to the measurement date......... 2,313,363 -
L ] 1 TR S 6,642,615 S 27,874

$2,313,363 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2024 .. et e eeae e e e b e e reeeaeenraeanns S 1,558,486
2025ttt ettt a et st te e st tebenen 1,261,126
0 TSRS 445,111
20027 e e e s ea e et e e et e e e b e e ebeestaeanns 1,036,655
2028... -
THEMEATEEN ...ttt sttt ae -

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25 to 8.25 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Investment rate of return 6.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2019.

Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
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interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2022 are summarized in the following table:

Target
Asset Class Allocation
Fixed Income 23.9%
Public Equity 35.8%
Cash and receivables.........oovvviviiiiiiii s 14.3%
(014 1 1=] PN 26.0%
LI = RN 100.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2021 asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.50%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 6.50 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (5.50 percent) or one percentage point higher (7.50 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(5.50%) (6.50%) (7.50%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (aSSet)........cccvveeeievieieieieereee e $ 11,882,454 S 6,583,546 S 2,216,939

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30
years of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of
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creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the
base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The
retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be
authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December
31, 2021, the valuation date, the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2020
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25to 7.75 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 4.31 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2021.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a total pension liability of $1,176,432. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2022 based on a December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2022 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City
recognized pension expense of $156,565.
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Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience........cccccoevevneee. S 119,865 S 165,257
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....ccouciiieeeeeerccee et 285,068 258,890
Benefit payments and administrative expenses made
subsequent to the measurement date........cococveerennieneinenneniceneene - -
TOTA ettt ettt n bt sa e erennetans S 404,933 S 424,147

S0 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

SRS 32,514
0 U SS 18,797
0 SRS 19,956
A SRS 7,533
2028 oo eeeee e eeeeee et e s e s se e es e sseeeeeeeeeessenes (27,377)
THEMEATEEN .t (70,637)

S0 paid as benefits came due and SO of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 4.31 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(3.31 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.31 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(3.31%) (4.31%) (5.31%)
Total pension 1iability.....cceeeeveeereeeeeererenenas S 1,290,627 S 1,176,432 S 1,073,519

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

2023

BegiNNiNG DAlanCeuuiiieiieeeeeeeeeeteteete ettt setesenes S 1,503,388
Service costat end of Year..... s 91,743
Interest of total pension liability 33,693
Changes of benefit termMS.......ccueeieveciresesee s -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.....ccooevineveiiicnnnens (192,084)
Changes of assumptions or other inputs.......ccoceeveeeeeveicececenenene (248,450)
Benefit payments (11,858)
Other CRANEES ..c.ccuiiceeeee et et nn -
Ending balance of the total pension liability......ccccooeoeevrrnirnnne. $ 1,176,432
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The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five year period ending December 31, 2019.

Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified firefighters under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years of creditable
service or have attained 60 years of age and have completed twenty-five or more years of creditable
service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the base rate of
compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The retirement
benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by
the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time firefighters of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December 31, 2021 the
Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:

Retirees receiving benefits .......ooii i -
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits ........cccceeeeevviencieiieenenenne, -
Active plan members

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2021
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25 to 8.00 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 4.31 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2021.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
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by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a total pension liability of $557,998. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2022 based on a December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2022 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City
recognized pension expense of $47,390.

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 1,048 S 21,192

Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....cciuiiiiieeeecce e 83,056 125,874
Benefit payments and administrative expenses made

subsequent to the measurement date........ccccceeeeeeveeeceieeceeececreeieens - -
TOTA ettt et b e s e e re e bans S 84,104 S 147,066

S0 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

P07 X SO (17,586)

S0 paid as benefits came due and SO of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 4.31 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(3.31 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.31 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(3.31%) (4.31%) (5.31%)
Total pension liability....cccceeeeeeeeereereeereresnnes S 619,181 S 557,998 S 503,221
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Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance
2023

BeginNinNg DalanCe.....cocueveeeeereeeeciereeeee et s S 666,001
Service costat end Of YeaT.....ccccivieeeieiiccceeee s 36,408
Interest of total pension liability 14,985
Changes of benefit terms........ccceceeeceieieccece e -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability......ccoevvererirrrninnns (25,779)
Changes of assumptions or other iNPULS.....cccoceceeieevree e (133,617)
BeNefit PAYMENTS....ciiiiieec e -
Other CNANEES .ot et ne -
Ending balance of the total pension liability.....cccoceveeeiecineceenenne S 557,998

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five year period ending December 31, 2019.
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Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions

Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS LEOSSA Fire SSA Total

PENSION EXPENSCuu.uerreieerereceererectereseieseseesesesaessennans S 2,582,941 S 156,565 S 47,390 S 2,786,896
Pension Liability..eeeircreeeeseeeeene s 6,583,546 1,176,432 557,998 8,317,976
Proportionate share of the

net pension [iability...cooeveeiennersneceeeennn 0.11700% n/a n/a
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and

actual eXperienCe.. e 575,078 119,865 1,048 695,991
Changes of assumptions........ccceeeeeeerereererereenne. 1,135,666 285,068 83,056 1,503,790

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... - - -
Changes in proportion and differences

between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions........cccceeeveeeeeciecnenene 1,128,407 - - 1,128,407

Benefit payments and administrative costs

paid subsequent to the measurement date.. 2,065,813 - - 2,065,813

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual eXperiencCe......veecieenenierereeeseeenne - 165,257 21,192 186,449
Changes of assumpPtions......ccccoeeecerreeeeeserennn - 258,890 125,874 384,764

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... 2,582,588 - - 2,582,588

Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions.......cccceceveiiecenierennennn, 123 - - 123

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Non-Law Enforcement Officers

Pension Descriptions. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by The Prudential Insurance Company of America. The Plan
provides retirement benefits to non-law enforcement officers employed by the City. The City Council has
the authority for establishing or amending the plan’s provisions.

Funding Policy. The City contributes an amount equal to five percent of each employee's salary, and all
amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also, the employees may make voluntary contributions to
the plan. The City Council has the authority for establishing or amending contribution requirements.
Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $608,549, which consisted of $373,701 from the
City and $234,848, respectively, from the employees.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of G.S.
Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included
in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR
includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan
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that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may
be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North
Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 981-5454.

Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The
law enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan. Contributions for the year
ended June 30, 2023 were $178,144, which consisted of $125,734 from the City and $52,410,
respectively, from the law enforcement officers.

Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund

Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Mebane, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North Carolina.
FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire workers that have elected to become members of the
fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one
appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who
serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighter’s Pension Fund is included in the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR) for the state of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the Fund. That report may be obtained by writing to the
Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling
(919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.

Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a non-
employer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City is not required to contribute to
the Fund; however, as a benefit to the firefighters, the City has chosen to fund the member’s
contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58- 86 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, the State
contributed $19,352,000 to the plan.  The City of Mebane’s proportionate share of the State’s
contribution is $26,945.

Refunds of Contributions — Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The total
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$27,377. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022. The total pension liability used to
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calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2021. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to make any future
contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at June 30, 2023 and at June 30, 2022 was 0%.

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $4,791 and revenue of $4,791
for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2023, the City reported no deferred outflows of resources
and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases Not applicable

Investment rate of return 6.50 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan noted above.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.50%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Other Post-employment Benefits

Healthcare Benefits

Plan Description. Employees who retire under the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System (NCLGERS) and have fifteen (15) or more years of service with the City at
the time of retirement are eligible to continue coverage in the City’s health plan, a single-employer
defined benefit plan. Coverage in the health plan will continue until the retiree becomes Medicare
eligible, at which time coverage will be converted to a Medicare Supplement Plan. Health care and
prescription drug coverage are provided by the City’s health plan. A separate stand-alone report is not
issued.

Membership of the Health Care Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2021, the date of the latest
actuarial valuation:

General Law Enforcement
Employees Officers
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits ........ccccccccveeieeiieennns 25 5
Active plan MembErs .........ooiii i 100 __ 38
L ) | S 125 43




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability of $10,546,034 was measured as of June 30, 2022 with a determination
date of June 30, 2021, the actuarial valuation date.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods
included in the measurement unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Real wage growth 0.75 percent

Wage inflation 3.25 percent

Salary increases General Employees- 3.25 to 8.41 percent, Firefighters 3.25 to

8.15 percent, Law Enforcement Officers 3.25 to 7.90 percent,
including inflation

Discount rate 3.54 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-Medicare- 7.00 percent for 2021 to 4.50 percent by 2031
Medicare- 5.125 percent for 2021 to 4.50 percent by 2024

The discount rate is based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year Municipal
Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJuly 1, 2022.....cccccoeeveevirvenreiieiereens S 12,878,757
Changes for the year
SEIVICE COSTu ittt ettt et e e e st e resaaeeaeesteeae s e e ssnensaeseennenns 732,681
LN (= =T OO RRRRPP 292,415
Changes in benefit terMS.......cccceieciceecccee e -
Differences between expected and actual experience..........cccucuu... (16,611)
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (3,192,965)
Benefit payments.......coceeeeeeeeseveriresieieenns (148,243)
NEL CHANEES ..ottt as (2,332,723)
Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJune 30, 2023.....ccccccveeeverenerenrennns S 10,546,034

Changes in assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.16% to 3.54%.

Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 mortality tables, with adjustments for LGERS experience and
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2019.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period January 2015 through December 2019.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current discount

rate:
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.54%) (3.54%) (4.54%)
Total OPEB [iability...ocoeeeeeeerereererereenes $ 12,739,713  § 10,546,034 $ 8,844,743

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
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calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
Total OPEB liability...ccccovevvevereeicieeciennnnee S 8,539,519 S 10,546,034 S 13,228,063

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense of $1,048,669. At June 30, 2023,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 973,665 S 18,138
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....ccvuiirieireeecceeeeee e 2,256,746 3,295,913
Benefit payments and administrative costs made
subsequent to the measurement date.......cccecveeerereeneiniereeeneeeseens 113,667 -
[ 0] = 1 OO OO S 3,344,078 S 3,314,051

$113,667 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

$ 23,573
23,573

23,573

59,757

114,738
(328,855)

Other Employment Benefits

The City has elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for members
of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-employer,
State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis. The beneficiaries of those
employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or who die
within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of contributing
membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits. Lump sum death
benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a row during
the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be less than
$25,000. Because all death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan and not by the City,
the City does not determine the number of eligible participants. The City has no liability beyond the
payment of monthly contributions.  The contributions to the Death Benefit Plan cannot be separated
between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit amount. Contributions are
determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established annually by the State.
Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law enforcement officers.
The City considers these contributions to be immaterial.
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Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources is comprised of the

following:
Pensions- differences between expected and actual experience....... S 283,679
Pensions- change of assUMPLiONS......c.ccveeeieeciececee e 656,890
Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment

CATNINES oottt ettt ettt ettt s ebesaesbe e sb e e se s st e e e st e e e st et eneeneene 2,175,931
Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 1,212,752
Contributions to pension planin current fiscal year.......cccoceevveenee 2,313,363
LEOSSA- differences between expected and actual experience........... 119,865
LEOSSA- change of assuUMPLioNS......cccivveiveeneeseeeeee e 285,068
FFSSA- differences between expected and actual experience 1,048
FFSSA- change of asSUMPLiONS......cocvcieieieeeieeceeeee e 83,056
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 973,665
OPEB- change of assuUmMpPtioNS.......ccceeueceeeieeeceeeie et 2,256,746
Benefit payments for OPEB made subsequent to measurement

Lo 1= ¢ PR 113,667
LEOSSA- benefit payments made and administrative

EXPEINSES c.vevivrreetetetetststststsesees st sestes shese e bbbt bbb bt a sttt e enenen -
TOTA N ettt ettt eeneneaeetans S 10,475,730
Deferred inflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following:

Statement of General Fund
Net Position Balance Sheet

Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment
BATNINES cvvureeterieeeete et s e seses st ee s et sss et s s s st essasbesesssastesesassessanaetas S 27,813 S -

Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 61 -
LEOSSA- differences between expected and actual experience........... 165,257 -
LEOSSA- change of assuUmMPtioNS......ccceveeevecenenesiieee e 258,890 -
FFSSA- differences between expected and actual experience.... 21,192 -
FFSSA- change of assumptions.......ccocceeveeecieineeenee s 125,874 -
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 18,138 -
OPEB- change of assuUmMPLioNS......ccccucciereeecieiseee e 3,295,913 -
Leases receivable (General FUNd).....ccocoveeerenireeecencrereseeenesee s - -
Prepaid taxes and licenses (General FUNd).....ccocoeveeveiicenereeinecenienens 220,154 220,154
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund).....ccccoevevrveeerinenenee - 107,148
TOTA et et b bt ne e bens S 4,133,292 S 327,302
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Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions, injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries commercial coverage
for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior
year and settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the last three fiscal years.

The City has not been designated as being in a flood zone and thus carries no commercial flood
insurance.

In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given time
of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer is
individually bonded for $1,000,000 and the City Manager for $25,000. The remaining employees that
have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $25,000.

Claims, Judgments and Contingent Liabilities

At June 30, 2023, the City was a defendant to various lawsuits. In the opinion of the City’s management
and the City attorney, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the City’s financial position.

Short-Term Obligations

The City did not have any short-term debt outstanding at the beginning of the year. There was no short-
term debt issued during the year and none is outstanding at the end of the year.

Long-Term Obligations

Capital Leases

The City has no lease agreements that qualify as other than short-term leases required to be reported
under GASB 87.

General Obligation Indebtedness

The general obligation bonds and the notes payable, which were issued to finance the construction of
facilities utilized in the operations of the water and sewer system and which are being retired by its
resources, are reported as long-term debt in the Water and Sewer Fund. All general obligation bonds are
collateralized by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the City. Principal and interest requirements
are appropriated on all indebtedness when due.

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 2023 are comprised of the following individual issues:

Revenue Bonds:
Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

$2,749,000 2021 Series A Refunding Utilities Revenue Bonds due in annual

installments of $329,000 to $359,000 through June 30, 2030; interest at 1.27%................ S 4,339,304
$10,824,000 2021 Series B Utilities Revenue Bonds due in annual installments

of $635,000 to $815,000 through August 1, 2036; interest at 1.78% ........cceeceeveererreereennenens 8,269,696
TOtal REVENUE BONGAS ...viieeiiiiie ettt e e ettt e e et e e e et e e e sta e e e etbeeeeasaeeesabeeeeanteeesnnneeas $12,609,000

The City is in compliance with the covenants as to rates, fees, rentals and charges in Section 4 of the
Master Trust Agreement, authorizing the issuance of the City's Combined Utilities Revenue Bonds, Series
2021A and 2021B. Section 4.03 of the Master Trust Agreement requires the sum of the income available
for debt service and 15% of the system fund balance to be no less than 120% of the long-term debt
service requirement for parity indebtedness and the income available for debt service will be not less
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than the sum of the long-term debt service requirement for parity indebtedness and subordinate
indebtedness and the debt service on all installment debt and system general obligation debt.

The debt service calculation is as follows:

Operating revenues $ 10,751,532

Operating expenses less depreciation (6,871,433)
Operating income 3,880,099

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2,100,710

Income available for debt service 5,980,809

15% of Unrestricted Net Position 1,368,139

Total Balance for 120% Parity S 7,348,948

Debt service principal and interest (Revenue Bond only) 1,183,839

Debt service coverage ratio on first-lien debt 621%
Debt service all debt 1,490,977

Debt service coverage ratio on all debt together 493%
Installment Purchases:

Serviced by the General Fund:

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank for the Southside Fire Station
Project. Principal payments of $86,667 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on July 23, 2014. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.84%. All
property, equipment and deposits acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is OULSTANAING ...cc.eeevvviiiiiiiiiccece e 1,040,000

Direct placement contract payable to Piedmont Electric Membership
Corporation as part of the USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL)
Program for the purchase of a fire truck. Principal payments of $46,833 are
due annually starting on August 1, 2017 with final payment due August 1, 2026.
The note bears no interest as part of the REDL program. The fire truck is
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ........ccveeeeviiiiviiiee e 187,332

Direct placement contract payable to American National Bank and Trust
Company for the City Park Project. Principal payments of $194,333 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on October 15, 2017. The note bears
interest at the rate of 3.23%. All property, improvements and equipment
acquired with these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is
Lo U1 ) 7 0o [ 1o V-SSR 3,498,000

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $46,900 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on May 9, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.02%.
All equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ...........ccceeeiiiiiiiieicciee e 46,900

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Vehicles. Principal payments of $26,647 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on October 16, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.58%. All
equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the security
for the debt while the debt is ouUtStaNdiNg .......ccocveeeiieiiiiiii e 53,294

Direct placement contract payable to U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and
Finance, Inc., for sanitation vehicles. Principal payments of $43,050 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on February 28, 2022. The note bears
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interest at the rate of 1.363%. All equipment and improvements acquired with
these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is outstanding..................... 215,250

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank, for equipment and rolling
stock. Principal payments of $133,176 to $138,871 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on January 20, 2022. The note bears interest at the rate of
1.070%. All equipment and rolling stock acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ..........cccooveiiiiiniiiiniinie e 963,190

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank, for equipment and rolling
stock. Principal payments of $85,785 to $96,444 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on February 1, 2023. The note bears interest at the rate of
3.040%. All equipment and rolling stock acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ...........cceeeeiiiiviiie e 830,221

Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

Direct placement contract payable from the North Carolina Water Pollution
Control Revolving Fund for 9th Street Sewer improvements. Principal
payments of $4,806 annually on the indebtedness started on May 1, 2010. The
interest rate as established under this program is zero percent. This debt is not
Y <1o18 [ =] ORIt 28,834

Direct placement contract payable to Truist Bank, for equipment and rolling
stock. Principal payments of $12,077 to $12,528 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on January 20, 2022. The note bears interest at the rate of
1.070%. All equipment and rolling stock acquired with these local funds are the

security for the debt while the debt is OULSTANAING ...cc.veevvviiiiiiicieciece e 86,716
Total installmeNnt PUICHESES.......uii i e e eaae e e erae s 6,949,737
Total [oNG-terM dEDT....oee e et e e e be e e e s e 19,558,737
Less: Current portion of long-term debt........cccvveviieei e (2,250,792)
Non-current portion of long-term debt.........cccveeeeiiiiie e $ 17,307,945

At June 30, 2023, the City of Mebane had no authorized but unissued bonds and had a legal debt margin
of $226,718,089.
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The following table summarizes the annual requirements to amortize all long-term liabilities outstanding
at June 30, 2023 (excluding compensated absences, pension liabilities, OPEB liabilities, and any claims or

judgments).

Other Long-term

Revenue Bonds Indebtedness Total Debt Due
Serviced by General Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
- - $ 1,241,520 $ 151,326 $ 1,241,520 $ 151,326
- - 1,149,596 125,139 1,149,596 125,139
- - 1,115,011 100,695 1,115,011 100,695
- - 940,148 77,226 940,148 77,226
- - 659,910 56,088 659,910 56,088
- - 1,728,002 90,623 1,728,002 90,623
- - S 6,834,187 S 601,097 S 6,834,187 S 601,097
Serviced by Water & Sewer Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
2024 S 980,000 S 204,225 S 29,272 § 463 S 1,009,272 S 204,688
2025 995,000 188,356 29,534 372 1,024,534 188,728
2026 1,010,000 172,238 29,800 336 1,039,800 172,574
2027 o 1,028,000 155,849 17,332 - 1,045,332 155,849
2028, 1,044,000 139,183 4,806 - 1,048,806 139,183
2029-2033...cciviennee 4,377,000 457,004 4,806 - 4,381,806 457,004
2034-2038....ccccevceennee 3,175,000 114,285 - - 3,175,000 114,285
2039-maturity............. - - - - - -
Total .o $12,609,000 S$1,431,140 S 115,550 S 1,171 $ 12,724,550 $1,432,311
Subscriptions:

For the year ended June 30, 2023 the City implemented the requirements of GASB Statement No. 96,
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (Subscriptions). The Statement provides a
definition of Subscriptions and provides uniform guidance for accounting and financial reporting for such
transactions. The guidance will decrease diversity in the accounting and financial reporting for these
transactions, thereby, increasing comparability in financial reporting among governments. Further, the
reporting of a subscription asset (a right-to-use intangible capital asset) and a subscription liability will
enhance the relevance and reliability of the financial statements.

Subscriptions in affect at the end of the prior fiscal year had their assets and liabilities initially measured
at the present value of the subscription payments expected over the remaining term of the Subscription
after July 1, 2022. One such agreement was in place at June 30, 2022. The Subscription is for an Applicant
Tracking and Performance Management System that aids the City in onboarding new employees and
provides educational opportunities for employees to enhance their professional development. The initial
term of the agreement was three years. The remaining term at June 30, 2023 is eighteen months. The
Subscription does not have a stated interest rate. Accordingly, the City’s estimated incremental
borrowing rate of 2.60% was used to discount the subscription payments. As a result, the amount of
$48,129 was added as a right-to-use subscription asset and a subscription liability as of July 1, 2022. This
restatement had no effect on equity. The liability balance at June 30, 2023 was $32,902.
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The future minimum subscription obligations and the net present value of these minimum payments as

of June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Serviced by General Fund:

Fiscal Year Principle Interest Total
2024, S 32,902 §$ 209 S 33,111
o] =] S 32,902 §$ 209 S 33,111
Changes in Long-Term Liabilities
Current
Balance July 1, Balance June  Portion of
2022 Increases Decreases 30,2023 Balance
Governmental activities:
Direct Placement
Installment purchase......cocoeeeeevveeeenne S 7,512,035 916,006 $1,593,854 $ 6,834,187 $1,241,520
IT Subscription liabilities.. . - 32,902 - 32,902 32,902
Compensated absences........cccoevveveveereenene. 510,453 467,634 411,023 567,064 467,634
Total OPEB liability..coceveereererrecrcreene 11,120,836 - 2,018,473 9,102,363 -
Net pension liability (LGERS).... 1,574,035 4,132,516 - 5,706,551 -
Net pension liability (LEOSSA).. . 1,503,388 - 326,956 1,176,432 -
Total pension liability (Firefighters SSA)... 666,001 - 108,003 557,998 -
Governmental activity
long-term liabilities......ccccooevreviniveninnrenne $22,886,748 5,549,058 $4,458,309 $23,977,497 $1,742,056
Business-type activities:
Direct Placement
Installment purchase.. . § 144,563 - S 29,013 $§ 115550 S 29,272
Revenue bonds........ccceeeceiceeciceeeeees 13,573,000 - 964,000 12,609,000 980,000
Graham/Mebane Watershed
ABreemMeNt......coceeerereneere e 1,528,846 - 127,403 1,401,443 127,403
Graham/Mebane Capacity
ABreemMeNt.....ccooeeereeeeereee e 1,682,464 - 150,000 1,532,464 150,000
Net pension liability (LGERS).....ccccceruruevenene. 233,615 643,380 - 876,995 -
Compensated absences.........ccceevvevecveennen, 88,740 73,853 68,086 94,507 73,853
Total OPEB liability....cccoceveveiviiiniiiiiciienns 1,757,921 - 314,250 1,443,671 -
Business-type activity
long-term liabilities....ccoeorvvveeeeererireennne $19,009,149 S 717,233 $1,652,752 $18,073,630 $1,360,528

Compensated absences have typically been liquidated in the General Fund.

C. Interfund Balances and Activity

There are no balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2023.

Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system,
and (3) payments between funds are made. Interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in
the process of consolidation. These balances routinely clear out each month prior to or at year-end.
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A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows:

Cash Transfers:
Transfer from General Fund to:

Cates Farm Park Capital Project FUNd........ccccouiieueiiiececeeeeeceeee e S 1,945,665

Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project FUNd.......ccccooveieieiiicecceeeeeeee e 237,180

Transload Facility Capital Project FUNd.......cccoeieieeceeccecee et 300,843
Transfer from Cates Farm Park Fund Capital Project Fund to:

[T T=T = 1 =V T e PO 696,848
Transfer from Utility Fund to:

WRRF Renovation Capital Project FUNG........ccoeoveiieiiiieiseeeeesee et 50,000

WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project FUNG........cccoeviiieenieineeseescee e 1,654,943

Elevated Water Tank Capital Project FUNG......cccceevevieieeesceseeeeeee e 150,000

GKN Pump Station Capital Project FUNd........cccoeeieeeieceeeceee e 1,853,159
Transfer from American Rescue Plan Grant Project Fund to:

UTHTTY FUNG ettt ettt ettt besaese st ane s eebesnerensenens 2,016,944

TOtal CaSh TFANSTEIS vt ettt bbbt sae e saeas S 8,905,582

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to
the fund that statute or budget requires to spend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the
general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations.

Further, during the year ended June 30, 2023, the City made the following one-time transfers:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

D.

A transfer of $1,945,665 from the General Fund to the Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund for
capital improvements.

A transfer of $237,180 from the General Fund to the Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project Fund
for capital improvements.

A transfer of $300,843 from the General Fund to the Transload Facility Capital Project Fund for
capital improvements.

A transfer of $696,848 from the Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund to the General Fund for
repayment of funds.

A transfer of $50,000 from the Utility Fund to the WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund for capital
improvements.

A transfer of $1,654,943 from the Utility Fund to the WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project Fund
for capital improvements.

A transfer of $150,000 from the Utility Fund to the Elevated Water Tank Capital Project Fund for
capital improvements.

A transfer of $1,853,159 from the Utility Fund to the GKN Pump Station Capital Project Fund for
capital improvements.

A transfer of $2,016,944 for the American Rescue Plan Grant Project Fund to the Utility fund to cover
payroll expenses.

On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

The City has recognized as a revenue and an expenditure on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and
salaries of $4,791, for the salary supplement and stipend benefits paid to eligible firemen by the local
board of trustees of the Firemen’s Relief Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Under State
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law the local board of trustees for the Fund receives an amount each year which the board may use at its
own discretion for eligible firemen or their departments.

E. Net Investment in Capital Assets
Governmental Business-type

CaPital ASSELS .ottt ettt eeen S 69,241,769 S 72,576,174

less: 1oNg-term debt.....c.ooiirieiieeee e 6,834,187 15,658,457
add: unexpended debt proceeds........ccoceeeeeeeceerieeieecieee e 909,900 1,938,180

Net investment in capital @SSetS....cmieeeieeeeeieee et S 63,317,482 S 58,855,897

F. Fund Balance

The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of General
fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance —General FUNG. ...ttt sttt sttt erene S 20,978,011

Less: Stabilization by State StatUte.......ccccieeiiecece e (6,191,378)
Appropriated Fund Balance in 2024 budget.......c.cocoevvrrrinrenccnenneeeereeeeeenes (2,797,463)
WOrKing Capital..c.ccceeeeiereeicce e (11,989,170)

REMaiNING FUNA DAIANCE.....cu vttt ettt ettt anaenson S -

The outstanding encumbrances are amounts needed to pay any commitments related to purchase orders
and contracts that remain unperformed at year-end. Outstanding encumbrances for the Governmental
Funds at June 30, 2023 were $3,071,030 for the General Fund.

G. Jointly Governed Organization

The City, in conjunction with twelve counties and sixty other municipalities established the Piedmont
Triad Regional Council (Council). The participating governments established the Council to coordinate
various funding received from federal and State agencies. Each participating government appoints one
member and one alternate if they so desire, to the Council’s governing board. The City paid $3,737 in
general membership fees and $6,635 in stormwater fees to the Council during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2023.

H. Joint Ventures

The City, in conjunction with the Cities of Burlington and Graham, participate in the Alamance Municipal
ABC Board. Each participating government appoints board members. The ABC Board is a joint venture
established to facilitate control over alcoholic beverages within the Cities. The ABC Board has been in
existence for over 38 years and is self-sustaining. The City has an ongoing financial responsibility for the
ABC Board because it and the Cities of Burlington and Graham are legally obligated under the
intergovernmental agreement that created the ABC Board to honor any deficiencies in the event that
proceeds from other default remedies are insufficient. The participating governments do not have any
equity interest in the joint venture, so no equity interest has been reflected in the financial statements at
June 30, 2023. Complete financial statements for the ABC Board can be obtained from the
administrative offices at 603 W. Harden Street, Graham, North Carolina, 27253.

I. Joint Operation

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham are co-owners and operators of a water supply reservoir and
water treatment plant per an Intergovernmental Watershed Agreement. Since June 22, 1973, the
ownership of the assets and improvements of the joint undertaking remained at 66.7% interest for the
City of Graham and 33.3% interest for the City of Mebane. Due to relative growths of the populations in
units of government, the parties agreed as February 3, 2014 to adjust the capacity, treatment and
operational costs, improvements, upgrades, and repairs to be borne equally by the units. At this time,
the City of Mebane also agreed to pay to the City of Graham an equalizing sum of $2,548,070 for their
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capital interest. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $127,403 with the first
payment due July 31, 2014. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the payable as of
June 30, 2023 was $1,401,443.

J. Interlocal Cooperation Agreement

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham entered into an interlocal cooperation agreement for the
allocation of Twenty One and Forty Three One Hundredths percent (21.43%) of capacity usage of the City
of Graham’s wastewater treatment plant. The cost of agreed upon improvements or upgrades to the
wastewater treatment plant and the Cherry Lane pump station will be shared by the City of Mebane and
the City of Graham based on percentage of capacity usage, as noted above. The duration for the
continuation of the agreement is 99 years. The City of Mebane has agreed to pay the City of Graham
$2,682,464 for this capacity usage. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $200,000
(payments 1-5), $150,000 (payments 6-10), $100,000 (payments 11-15), and $86,493 (payments 16-20)
with the first payment due July 10, 2018. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the
payable as of June 30, 2023 was $1,532,464.

K. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies

Federal and State Assisted Programs

The City has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant
agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies.
Management believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the
accompanying financial statements for the grant monies.

L. Significant Effects of Subsequent Events

In accordance with ASC 855, the City evaluated subsequent events through November 30, 2023, the date
the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no material subsequent events that
required recognition or additional disclosure in these financial statements.
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Retirement System
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Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan
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Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll for Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll for Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios






City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last Ten Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2023

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) (%)......ccccevenne. 0.11670% 0.11787% 0.11237% 0.11189% 0.10735% 0.10919% 0.10681% 0.10043% 0.09862% 0.99260%
Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) ($).....ccccvevnene $ 1,849,476 $1,807,650 $4,015,459 $3,055,629 $2,546,709 $1,668,121 $2,266,866 $ 450,724 $ (581,608) $ 1,116,186
Mebane's covered payroll........c.ccccovevvierenene $8,177,170 $8,101,894 $7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 $5,064,935 $ 4,888,462
Mebane's proportionate share of the

net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll.............. 22.62% 22.31% 53.49% 42.81% 38.94% 27.51% 37.84% 8.72% (11.48%) 22.83%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability **.................. 84.51% 95.51% 88.61% 90.86% 91.63% 94.18% 91.47% 98.09% 102.64% 94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30. This
schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it
becomes available.

** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2023 2022

Contractually required contribution...... $1,250,382 $ 970,164
Contributions in relation to the

contractually required contribution... 1,250,382 970,164

2021 2020 2019

2018

S 671,809 $ 624,341 $ 526,288 S 364,077

671,809 624,341 526,288

364,077

2017

2016

S 438,800 $ 404,627

438,800

404,627

2015

2014

$ 376,969 $ 353,916

376,969

353,916

Contribution deficiency (excess)........... S - S -

$ -3 -3 -

S -

S -

Mebane's covered payroll..................... $9,580,523 $8,177,170

Contributions as a percentage of

covered payroll.......ccoceeererenenenene 13.05% 11.86%

$8,101,894 $7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336

8.29% 8.32% 7.37%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Last Nine Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2023

Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (%)........ccccceevennne 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000%  0.00000%
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability ($).....cccceveeverennnne. S - S - S - S - S - - S - S - S -
State's proportionate share of the net pension

liability associated with the City of Mebane. 26,945 40,756 52,183 53,623 75,430 61,719 45,002 38,775 31,152
TOtAl et s S 26945 $ 40,756 S 52,183 $ 53,623 $§ 75430 $ 61,719 S 45002 $ 38775 S 31,152
Mebane's covered payroll...........ccccceveenncnenns $1,982,811 $1,648356 $ 1,650,409 $ 1,534,858 S 1,371,047 $1,289,371 $ 1,227,668 $ 1,268,042 S 945,728
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll.................. 1.36% 2.47% 3.16% 3.49% 5.50% 4.79% 3.67% 3.06% 3.29%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability.......c.cccceeeviieninnns 102.40% 95.80% 92.30% 90.50% 89.35% 94.94% 91.40% 93.42% 92.76%

* The amounts are presented for the prior fiscal year. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.
Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability

Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
Last Seven Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2023
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Beginning balance........coevvereiiinenieincccee e $1,503,388 $1,372,013 S 802,190 $621,186 $574,870 $427,541 S 400,968
Service cost 91,743 92,414 56,536 49,682 45,895 37,803 35,736
Interest on the total pension liability........c.cccocvvvevviiiieinnnen. 33,693 26,480 26,151 22,611 18,057 16,370 14,155
Changes of benefit terms........ccccocveevciieeiieecie e - - - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability..........c...c....... (192,084) 59,602 46,055 77,061 23,723 53,293 -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs..........ccceevveveennnen. (248,450) (47,121) 441,081 31,650 (34,476) 46,746 (14,371)
Benefit payments.......cooccveceeiieciecee e (11,858) - - - (6,883) (6,883) (8,947)
Other ChangEes....cc.viiiiiieiieecie e et - - - - - - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability............ccocevvnn. $1,176,432 S$1,503,388 $1,372,013 $802,190 $621,186 $574,870 S 427,541

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

Last Ten Fiscal Years

June 30, 2023
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension

liability.....coevieee $1,176,432 $1,503,388 $1,372,013 $ 802,190 S 621,186 S 574,870 S 427,541 S 400,968 S 258,154 S 238,533
Covered payroll....... 2,184,576 2,088,345 1,971,990 1,889,896 1,622,281 1,553,944 1,443,743 1,443,743 1,228,378 1,097,171
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered payroll...  53.85% 71.99% 69.58% 42.45% 38.29% 36.99% 29.61% 27.77% 21.02% 21.74%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance
Last Three Fiscal Years**

June 30, 2023
2023 2022 2021

BeginniNg DalanCe.......c.ooveiiiieeeice e S 666,001 S 637,293 S 427,347
SBIVICE COST. ittt ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e eeeeeeeererbreaeeeas 36,408 39,560 27,629
Interest on the total pension liability.......cccccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiies 14,985 12,300 13,932
Changes of benefit terms.......cccuvviii i - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability........ccccccoevveeeieiiniinn.n. (25,779) 1,618 -
Changes of assumptions or other iNPUtSs........c.cccoecveeeeciiieececinee e, (133,617) (24,770) 168,385
Benefit PayMENTS... ..o - - -
Other CRANEES...coi i et - - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability...........cccoevieveiieieennen. S 557,998 S 666,001 S 637,293

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.
**This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed
as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance

Last Three Fiscal Years**

June 30, 2023
2023 2022 2021

Total pension

1] o111 V2SRRI $ 557,998 S 666,001 $ 637,293
Covered payroll.......cceee e 1,609,805 1,647,382 1,368,060
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered payroll......eeiieiiiiieeeeeecee, 34.66% 40.43% 46.58%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB
Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

**This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last Six Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2023

Total OPEB Liability 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
SEIVICE COST..uuiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiitee e e S 732,681 S 699,762 S 459,321 S 380,966 S 402,678 S 452,991
Interest 292,415 256,952 289,711 238,114 213,111 183,870
Changes of benefit terms.......cccoveeviieeeiceeeiceeeceee e - - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience....... (16,611) 297,009 5,490 1,302,981 8,326 (9,652)
Changes Of ASSUMPLIONS. .....vveveeeeeeeeeeeeeseseseeseeeeseeseeseens (3,192,965) 767,656 2,476,778 (115,846)  (384,358)  (663,734)
BENEFit PAYMENTS.ovrevreveeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeseessseeseeeeseeseeseeeseens (148,243) (138,521) (106,211)  (112,112) (97,786) (74,215)
Net change in total OPEB [iability.......o.oeveeerereererereerrererennns (2,332,723) 1,882,858 3,125,089 1,694,103 141,971  (110,740)
Total OPEB liability - beginning 12,878,757 10,995,899 7,870,810 6,176,707 6,034,736 6,145,476
Total OPEB liability - ending......cceevveeevieiiiieece e $10,546,034 $12,878,757 $ 10,995,899 S 7,870,810 $6,176,707 $ 6,034,736
Covered Payroll........oee e 8,033,806 7,289,922 6,848,284 6,848,284 6,100,000 6,100,000
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll..... 131.27% 176.67% 160.56% 114.93% 101.26% 98.93%

Notes to Schedule

Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount

rate of each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

Fiscal Year Rate
2023 3.54%
2022 2.16%
2021 2.21%
2020 3.50%
2019 3.89%
2018 3.56%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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Major Governmental
Funds

The General Fund - This fund is used to account for
resources traditionally associated with government
which are not required legally or by sound financial
management to be accounted for in another fund.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Balance Sheets
General Fund

June 30, 2023 and 2022 Statement A-1
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022
Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........ceeiviiiiereceeee ettt ettt re e b S 19,407,038 S 18,906,921
YT o o1 (=To [ o= 1] o TSRS 1,302,375 2,117,885
LY G =101 1771 o] [N 107,148 77,563
J Yo ol 18} S =11 V=1 o] [T 145,242 115,682
LEASES MECRIVADIE. . uvvveiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeee e ————— - 28,887
T oY Lo I =T o o USSP - 31,716
Advance t0 Other fUNAS.........c.uiiecii e e - -
Due from other GOVEINMENTS......ccccuiieieiie e e e e e sree e 2,975,104 2,363,029
TOLAl @SSEES.cuuiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiirnrertetetteeeeeesrrsnsneeteeeeeeeeeesssssssssnsssseeeeseessssssssnnnnssnesseeseens S 23,936,907 S 23,641,683
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ..ottt ettt ettt et et ettt e ereeereenes S 1,329,219 $§ 1,596,138
DUE 10 Other GOVEIMMENTS.......viiieiiii ettt e et e et e e e as - -
Payable from restricted assetS.......cciuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e 1,302,375 1,119,671
Total liabilities.....ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccceeeeeree s cess s e e s s e s e s e e e e e e e eessnssnnnssssssssssnes 2,631,594 2,715,809
Deferred inflows Of r@SOUICES.........ciiiieeeeciiiiieiccereennecerrecnnee e e e eeenanseesssennnnnnnnnes 327,302 197,862
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
LB S e tittiieiet ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ———————————————————————aaataaataaaaaaaes - 340
Yo [ To BT <] USSR - 31,716
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State StatULE.....cc.eeiciie e e 6,191,378 4,182,828
Assigned:
Subsequent year's eXPeNitUIES........cceeeccieeeeeiieeciieeeesee e et e s e e e stre e aee e e sreeeens 2,797,463 2,165,385
O L Ty F=d V=T SRS PRR 11,989,171 14,347,743
Total fund balances.......ceeeeeiiiieiecierrtrcc e e s e e e enns e e s eeennsssssseennnnnnnns 20,978,012 20,728,012

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fuNd DalanCes........ceveiieeiiiiniiiieeiiiiirertec e renerreeeeerenneeennes
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S 23,936,908

$ 23,641,683




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement A-2
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Revenues
Property taxes:
Current and Prior Years......cocueeeeeeeieeeeeieieeeeeeenen S S 13,595,276 S S 12,574,194
Penalties and interest, net of discounts.........cccceun..... 96,618 57,746
o] - PSSP 13,144,770 13,691,894 547,124 12,631,940
Other taxes and licenses:
Privilege liCENSEes.......ccceciieeeciie e 1,000 945 (55) 805
Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local option sales taX........ccoveeeeeeeeciiiiieee e e, 6,295,278 5,781,791
Telecommunications sales taX......cccccevvveveeeieieeeeneeennnn, 53,775 54,274
Utility franchise taX......ccccceeeeeeiiieeei e, 1,271,769 1,179,423
Video franchise fee....viviiiiiieee, 71,656 77,107
Beer and WIiNe taX......uueeeeerereeereeeieeereereeeeeeeeeeeciessinnnnns 82,108 70,859
ABC profit distribution..........ccceevvveeeiieiecee e, 136,496 163,667
TaX SNAMING...eviieiee e 281,574 315,498
(014 0 1=T SR SRRSO PP OO PSRRI 41,883 40,856
o] - P PSS 7,334,061 8,234,539 900,478 7,683,475
Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill allocation...........ccccoeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiciee e, 502,733 497,992
Controlled subStanCe taX......ccvvevvvererererereeerereieneeeenenns 1,417 1,726
ABC Revenue for law enforcement..........ceevvvveeveeeennns 34,040 43,323
Solid waste disposal taX......cccceerereereeeiiieeecine e 14,604 13,461
On-behalf of payments - fire......ccocceeeeeeiiiieeicceiecene 51,657 50,815
Federal equitable sharing.........ccccoceveviiiicciee e, 396,063 122,208
Fire district taX fuNdS.........evvevevivieiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeiivvivieeaens 508,080 501,973
TOTAl e e 1,394,623 1,508,594 113,971 1,231,498
Permits and fees:
BUIldiNg PeIrMiItS...cccccveeeeciiie e e 940,726 712,334
INSPECLION FEES...uvvieeiiieiiieee e e 415,663 336,176
Planning fES.....cciviuiii it e 190,369 178,488
Street and utility inspection fees........cccoeeeuvieeeeennennn. 285,456 147,650
O e 46,289 14,165
0] - PSSR 1,259,760 1,878,503 618,743 1,388,813
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement A-2
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual

Revenues (continued)
Sales and services:

Recreation department fees..........ccoovveveeveeveeieeennnns S S 153,977 S S 141,125
SaANITAtioN fEES..covieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 546,456 524,592
Cemetery plot Sales.......cceeieceeeeeiiiee e e 52,250 35,550
TOtAl i 682,114 752,683 70,569 701,267
Investment earnings.......ccccceeeeerrereennnncceenneeennnceenenns 20,000 222,281 202,281 9,809
Miscellaneous:
Material SAlES. ..o 5,727 1,378
20T o | USSR 53,414 65,854
Other grants and awards.......c.cccoeecuvvieeeeeeccciieeeveeee. 5,000 566,050
(011 0 T=T S USROS USSP USSP 200,800 322,516
o] - PR URSPSR 2,698,431 264,941 (2,433,490) 955,798
TOtal rEVENUES....cceueeeiiiereeeennccereeeeeennneeeeeeeennnsseeenaenns 26,534,759 26,554,380 19,621 24,603,405
Expenditures

General government:
City Council:

Salaries and employee benefits........cccoeecvivieeieennennn. 58,969 58,925
Other operating expenditures.........ccccveeeeeecnrvennnennn. 27,849 8,928
TOtAl et 88,237 86,818 1,419 67,853
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits........ccoeecviieeeieennennn. 871,236 708,008
Other operating expenditures.........coceeeevveeescveeeeens 199,097 208,391
Capital OULlaY...ccccvvee e 51,270 15,500
L] | PSRRI 1,249,653 1,121,603 128,050 931,899
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits........ccccccvveeecieeenenns 411,866 368,628
Other operating expenditures.........cccceveeeeeecnvvenenennn. 283,831 239,681
Capital outlay.....ccceeeieiiicii e, - -
TOTAl et e 738,971 695,697 43,274 608,309
Information Technology:
Salaries and employee benefits........cccoeecvivieeieeenennn. 196,239 178,685
Other operating expenditures.........cccceeeevvveescveeeeens 574,313 298,498
Capital oUtlaY...ccccuvee e 143,301 151,528
L] ] PSRRI 1,059,288 913,853 145,435 628,711
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement A-2
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
General government:
Non-departmental:
Salaries and employee benefits.........cccovvevreeveennennne. S 121,734 S 127,326
Other operating expenditures.........coceeeecvveeesiveeeeenns 469,139 432,472
TOtAl e 888,938 590,873 298,065 559,798
Total general government.......ccccveeveveeeeciieeceiiee e, 4,025,087 3,408,844 616,243 2,796,570
Public safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits.........ccoeecvivieeieeenennn. 4,070,547 3,471,541
MaiNtENANCE.....cuuiiiiiieieee e 110,559 118,750
Other operating expenditures........ccccceveeeeeecnrveneneenn. 686,031 687,082
Capital outlay.....ccceeeieiiiciii e, 389,063 437,788
L= PSSR 5,741,451 5,256,200 485,251 4,715,161
Fire:
Salaries and employee benefits........cccoeecviiieeeeeenennn. 3,222,374 2,653,334
MaiNtENANCE.....cuviiiiieeieiee e 205,308 152,125
Other operating expenditures.........ccccveeeeeecnrreeenennn. 446,313 289,857
Capital outlay.....cccueeeieiiiiiii e, 342,860 8,807
[ 1= PSSR 6,453,966 4,216,855 2,237,111 3,104,123
Total public safety.....cccceeeicciie e, 12,195,417 9,473,055 2,722,362 7,819,284
Public works:
Public works:
Salaries and employee benefits........ccccccvveeeiieeeeenns 813,100 716,761
MaiNtENANCE.....cvvviceee e e 918,198 746,627
Other operating expenditures.........coceeeecvveeescveeeeenns 362,941 323,806
Capital OUtlaY...ccccuvee e 819,103 650,859
TOtAL e e 3,726,053 2,913,342 812,711 2,438,053
Public facilities:
Salaries and employee benefits........cccocvveeevcieeie e, 392,224 292,141
MaiNtENANCE.....ovviiieee e 231,190 207,516
Other operating expenditures.........coceeecvvveesiveeeeens 59,742 60,824
Capital OULlaY...ccccvvee e 153,872 34,284
TOtAl e e e 901,199 837,028 64,171 594,765
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement A-2
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
Sanitation:
Salaries and employee benefits.........cccevevvvevrennennne. S 505,342 S 425,570
MaiNtENANCE.....covniiiiiie e 172,816 125,889
TIPPING FEES..cc e 583,203 477,583
Other operating expenditures.........coceeecvvveescveeeeenns 176,886 142,373
Capital OULlaY...ccccvvee e 315,827 311,206
TOTAl-eeerreeeeese ettt 2,167,748 1,754,074 413,674 1,482,621
Total public WOrKS........eeeeiieeeciiie e 6,795,000 5,504,444 1,290,556 4,515,439
Recreation:
Parks and recreation:
Salaries and employee benefits........ccccccvveeecieeenenns 1,091,685 847,152
MaiNtENANCE.....ovvviieee e 286,884 201,970
Other operating expenditures.........ccceeecvveeesciveeeeenns 566,978 489,376
Capital oULlaY...ccccvvee e 324,037 549,981
TOtAl e 2,605,344 2,269,584 335,760 2,088,479
Total recreation.....cccccuveecceieeeciee e e 2,605,344 2,269,584 335,760 2,088,479
Economic and physical development:
Planning:
Salaries and employee benefits........ccccccvveeeiieeenenns 244,593 260,218
MaiNtENANCE.....cvvviieee e 12,568 9,733
Professional Services.....cccccocvvviiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeees 108,044 62,769
Other operating expenditures........cccccveeeeeecnrvenenenen. 24,825 88,129
Capital outlay.....ccceeeeieeiiciiec e, 9,665 31,284
[ 1= PSSR 651,537 399,695 251,842 452,133
Inspections:
Salaries and employee benefits........cccoeecviiieeieennennnn. 666,956 546,524
MaiNtENANCE.....cuuiiiiiieieee e 2,910 2,718
Professional Services......ccccccvviviiiiiiiieiieee, 2,280 -
Other operating expenditures.........ccceeeecvveeesciveeeeenns 58,415 33,798
Capital oULlaY...ccccvvee e 59,310 276,340
TOtAl e e e 878,139 789,871 88,268 859,380
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services.........cccccevveeruveeeenn. 100,000 87,660
Professional services stormwater.........cccuvvvvvvvvvennnnn. 70,000 70,000
Professional Services.......cccccvvviiiiiiiiiiiiieieees 275,500 293,828
[ 1= 1 PSS USRS 445,500 445,500 - 451,488
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement A-2
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual

Expenditures (continued)
Main Street Program:

Professional SEIVICES. ....covueeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeee e S S 78,778 S S 47,875
Other operating expenditures.........cccccveeeeeecnrvenenennn. 63,320 17,320
TOtAl et 221,535 142,098 79,437 65,195
Economic development:
Other operating expenditures.........cocceeecvveeescveeeeenns 1,269,188 755,349
L) | PSRRI 1,269,421 1,269,188 233 755,349
Total economic and physical development.................. 3,466,132 3,046,352 419,780 2,583,545

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement........ccocvevieiniiinieniiccee e, 1,645,621 1,608,965 36,656 1,415,799
Interest and other charges.......ccocvvvvveeviiieeieenieieennn, 174,824 170,431 4,393 178,525
Total debt Service......ccccceveiiiiiee 1,820,445 1,779,396 41,049 1,594,324
Total expenditures........cccceveeriiiiiiiinnneenninnnisnnnnneeenens 30,907,425 25,481,675 5,425,750 21,397,641

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over eXpPenditures......cccccveeeeeeecceereneennnnceeeneeeennnnneens (4,372,666) 1,072,705 5,445,371 3,205,764

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers iN i - - - -

Transfers OUt.....uuieecciie e (4,470,760) (1,786,840) 2,683,920 437,428

Proceeds from long-term debt obligations issued........ 2,466,006 916,006 (1,550,000) 1,365,000

IT subscriptions agreement..........ccceeeeeeciiiieeeeeeeiceeenns - 48,129 48,129 -
Total other financing sources (USes).......cccccererrrrriecnnnne (2,004,754) (822,705) 1,182,049 1,802,428
Fund balance appropriated.........ccccceeeeiiiieeciiiececieeeee. 6,377,420 - (6,377,420) -
Net change in fund balances.........ccoevvveveeviccerieeenee, S - 250,000 S 250,000 5,008,192
Fund balances - beginning .........ccccevevvveiviee e 20,728,012 15,719,820
Fund balances - ending.........ccccvveeeerrrreceerrrneeeeereeeennns S 20,978,012 S 20,728,012
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Non-Major
Governmental Funds

Non-major governmental funds are those funds whose
revenues, expenditures/expenses, assets or liabilities
are less than 10% of corresponding totals for all
governmental or enterprise funds or less than 5% of the
aggregate amount for all governmental and enterprise
funds for the same item.

e The Mebane Mills Loft Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG) Special Revenue Fund - This
fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns
Building into subsidized housing.

e The Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the land purchase and
construction of the city park.

e The Lake Michael Dam Spillway Capital Project
Fund - This fund is used to account for the
construction of the Lake Michael Dam Spillway.

e The Transload Facility Capital Project Fund -
This fund is used to account for the construction of
the Transload Facility.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2023 Statement B-1
Special
Revenue Fund Capital Project Capital Project Capital Project Total
- CDBG - Fund - Cates  Fund - Lake Fund - Nonmajor
Mebane Mills  Farm Park Michael Dam Transload Governmental
Loft Project Spillway Facility Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ..........c..c........ S - S 884,414 S - S 310,843 S 1,195,257
Restricted cash......cccocveeeeciee e 156,746 - - 2,600,000 2,756,746
Total @SSets..cuuiieiiiiiiieerrrrrnneeeeeeeeeereeeessnns S 156,746 S 884,414 S - S 2,910,843 S 3,952,003

Liabilties and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts payable..........ocoevveeiiieerrinennnn. S - S 98,141 §$ 2,128 S - S 100,269
Total liabilities ...cccceeeveirrenierenerreniennnnen - 98,141 2,128 - 100,269

Fund balances:

Restricted
Economic development..........cccvveeeeenn. 156,746 - - - 156,746
Assigned
Capital improvements.........ccccveeecveeens - 786,273 (2,128) 2,910,843 3,694,988
Total fund balances........ccccccervevenneennnnnee. 156,746 786,273 (2,128) 2,910,843 3,851,734
Total liabilities and fund balances........... S 156,746 S 884,414 S - S 2,910,843 S 3,952,003
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Statement B-2
Special
Revenue Capital Capital Capital Total

Fund - CDBG - Project Fund - Project Fund - Project Fund- Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Cates Farm Lake Michael Transload Governmental

Loft Park Project Dam Spillway Facility Funds

Revenues

Restricted intergovernmental.........c............. S - S - S - S 2,600,000 S 2,600,000

Program revenue......cccccveeeveiiiiiiiieeeeeeee, 11,235 - - - 11,235

Interest earnings.........ccoeeeeeeeieveccccccees 4,072 5,320 - 10,000 19,392
Total FEeVENUES.....ccuceveeirirnirrenirereeeereneeeennees 15,307 5,320 - 2,610,000 2,630,627
Expenditures

Capital outlay - other.......ccccceeeciieeecieecee - 467,864 239,308 - 707,172

Capital outlay - equipment........cccceeeecieeennns - - - - -
Total expenditures.....ccccccerreeeencccerreeenncenneees - 467,864 239,308 - 707,172
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 15,307 (462,544) (239,308) 2,610,000 1,923,455

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds.........oeeeeveveennneee - 1,248,817 237,180 300,843 1,786,840
Transfers to other funds.........ccccoeeveiiineenennn. - - - - -
Appropriated fund balance............cccccuuueee.. - - - - -

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)............ - 1,248,817 237,180 300,843 1,786,840
Net change in fund balances...........cccocccuue.... 15,307 786,273 (2,128) 2,910,843 3,710,295
Fund balances - beginning..........ccoccoveeeerinnie 141,439 - - - 141,439
Fund balances - ending.........ccccceeiiiiinnninnnnnns S 156,746 S 786,273 S (2,128) S 2,910,843 S 3,851,734
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Revenue Fund - CDBG - Mebane Mills Loft

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Statement B-3
Actual
Variance
Current Positive
Authorization Prior Years Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
(61021 C TSR SRRY S 250,000 S 250,000 $ - S 250,000 S -
Program revenue- principal receipts....... - 98,269 11,235 109,504 109,504
Program revenue- interest receipts........ - 41,063 2,691 43,754 43,754
Investment earnings.....ccccceeveveveiiinnnnnnnnn. - 2,107 1,381 3,488 3,488
Total revenues.......eeceeereeeeeecceeneeennnccenneenns 250,000 391,439 15,307 406,746 156,746

Expenditures

Pedestrian improvements.............cc........ 56,700 56,700 - 56,700 -
Historic preservation......cccccccvvveeeiinnnnnnnn. 145,645 145,645 - 145,645 -
Other activitieS......uuveveeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeen, 27,655 27,655 - 27,655 -
Administration.......cceceeeeiievieieee e, 20,000 20,000 - 20,000 -
Total expenditures.........cceceeeeeeeeeeeeennennnnns 250,000 250,000 - 250,000 -
Revenue over (under) expenditures......... - 141,439 15,307 156,746 156,746
Net change in fund balance...........ccceeu... S - S 141,439 15,307 S 156,746 S 156,746
Fund balance, July 1.......c.ccoeeiiiiniiinnen. 141,439
Fund balance, June 30........ccccceeeerrrrrreeeeee S 156,746
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - Cates Farm Park Project

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Statement B-4
Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings........cocveevvevveereesveesuesreens S - S - S 5320 S 5320 S 5,320
Total FEVENUES....ccuuereeeireeeiireneiereeeerenneeennnes - - 5,320 5,320 5,320

Expenditures
Professional services........cccceeveevveeeeeeennnnenn.. - - - - -

Design and engineering..........cccecevvveeeeeecnnns 49,800 44,170 5,630 49,800 -
Construction administration.........ccccevvvveeeeens 30,100 - 22,914 22,914 7,186
CoNSEIUCION...eiiie et 981,373 - 413,320 413,320 568,053
Capital outlay - equipment.........cccceeeennneee. 316,536 84,823 26,000 110,823 205,713
Total expenditures........ccceeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnnnnnnnnn. 1,377,809 128,993 467,864 596,857 780,952
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (1,377,809) (128,993) (462,544) (591,537) 786,272

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements.........ccocceeeeeeennnenn.. 1,377,809 128,993 1,248,817 1,377,810

Total other financing sources (uses)............... 1,377,809 128,993 1,248,817 1,377,810

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses..........cceeeeennn.. S - S - 786,273 S 786,273 S 786,273

Fund balance, July 1.......c.ccooeeiiiiiiiiiiience, -
Fund balance, June 30........ccccceeeeererrreeeeeeennne S 786,273
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - Lake Michael Dam Spillway

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Statement B-5

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Design and engineering.........ccceeveveeeereenenne. S 908,240 S 85253 S 239,308 S 324,561 S 583,679
Total expenditures........cccoeviiiiiinneennnnennsisaens 908,240 85,253 239,308 324,561 583,679
Revenue over (under) expenditures............. (908,240) (85,253) (239,308) (324,561) 583,679

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements........ccoceeveereenieenenns 908,240 85,253 237,180 322,433 (585,807)

Total other financing sources (uses)............... 908,240 85,253 237,180 322,433 (585,807)

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses............cceuuee. S - S - (2,128) S (2,128) S (2,128)

Fund balance, July L......ccccooviiiniiniiiiieneen -
Fund balance, June 30.......cccceveeereeeeeeeeeeeennnns S (2,128)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - Transload Facility

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statement B-6

Revenues

State Grant Proceeds........cccceevveernieennennnne.
Alamance County Portion........ccecceevvveeeneennne
Investment earnings.......coceeeerveeeeennieeennnne

Total revenuEs........cceeeeeeereeeneceereennceerennnnns

Expenditures

Professional services........ccccccvvveviiiiiiiieiennnnn.
ConStrUCtioN....ccvveeeeeiieeeeeeee e,

Total expenditures........cccoeviiiiiinneennnnnnnsisnnns

Revenue over (under) expenditures.............

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for

capital improvements........cccceeeeveeeernnennn.
Total other financing sources (uses)..............

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses...........c.cccccu....

Fund balance, July 1......ccccooiiiiniinniiiieeen,
Fund balance, June 30......cccceveuiirennirreniennnnns

Actual

Variance
Positive

Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
S 2,600,000 $ S 2,600,000 $ 2,600,000 $ -

300,843 - - (300,843)

- 10,000 10,000 10,000

2,900,843 2,610,000 2,610,000 (290,843)

360,126 - - 360,126

2,841,560 - - 2,841,560

3,201,686 - - 3,201,686

(300,843) 2,610,000 2,610,000 2,910,843
300,843 300,843 300,843 -
300,843 300,843 300,843 -

S - S 2,910,843 S 2,910,843 $ 2,910,843
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Proprietary Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises, where the intent of the
government's board is that the costs of providing goods
or services to the general public on a continuing basis
be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges; or where the government's board has decided
that periodic determination of net income is
appropriate for accountability purposes.

e Water and Sewer Fund - This fund is used to
account for the operations of the City’s water and
sewer system.

e System Development Capital Reserve Fund - This
fund is specifically dedicated to setting aside
financial resources for long term or large-scale
capital projects for the proprietary fund. Revenue
generated from system development fees are used
as a funding source.

e WRRF Renovation - Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the construction upgrade
of the City’s water resource recovery facility.

¢ WRREF 0.5 MGD Expansion - Capital Project Fund
- This fund is used to account for the construction
expansion of the City’s water resource recovery
facility.

e American Rescue Plan - Grant Project Fund -
This fund is used to account for expenditures related
to the American Rescue Plan Grant.

e Elevated Water Tank - Capital Project Fund -
This fund is used to account for the construction of
the City’s elevated water tank.

e GKN Pump Station - Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the construction of the
City’s GKN Pump Station.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2023 and 2022 Statement C-1
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS.......ccvcvierierecieereeeeee e ettt ettt et e enes S 10,922,599 S 10,061,364
YT o o (=]e o= 1] o TN 9,425,907 14,484,677
Accounts Receivable, net - billed.........ooovvvviiiiiiiiii e 774,427 765,038
Accounts Receivable, net - UNDilled........ccocouvviiiiiiieiiiiirreeeeer e 395,634 341,998
(01 T N ol AVZ | o] F=T- 5,149 5,121
Due from other GOVEIrNMENTS..........vviiiiieiiiieee e e - -
T oY (o I (=T o o TR RTR - -

TOtAl CUITENT @SSO ceiiiiiiiiiiiieieie e ettt ettt e e e e s e s s s s abaararaaaeees 21,523,716 25,658,198

Non-current assets:
Capital assets:

Land and other non-depreciable assets.......c.ccccvevciieeeeeciieeeiiee e 11,853,349 3,681,335
Other capital assets, net of depreciation.........cccceeecuiieeiiiie e 60,722,825 57,456,848
Total CAPItal @SSELS...iiiiiiiiiiie et e a e 72,576,174 61,138,183
o = W g oY A B U =] 4L A= R =L ST 72,576,174 61,138,183
L] & 1 I T =1 PSP 94,099,890 86,796,381
Deferred OULFlOWS Of F@SOUICES.....iieueiiireiiieniireeeiereniereneeeeenesrensseersnseresnssersnnnns 1,347,157 1,187,413
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources......ccccvveeeeeeecceiirrrnneeeeeeeeeeeeeeesnns S 95,447,047 S 87,983,794
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.........covcvvieeeeieeviieeeececeee e S 1,383,354 $§ 1,793,902
Accrued interest Payable...........ooiiie i s 86,108 92,665
DUE 10 Other GOVEIMMENTS. ......viiieiii ettt ettt e et e e e eaaeeeeanns - -
Payable from restricted aSSets........civiiieiiiieeiiie et e 809,746 738,766
UNEAINEA FEVENUES....ceiiiiiieieieieeeeeeeeeeeee et ee et eeeetae e e e e e e e e e e e e ettt e e e e seseesesesssssasssssssararerens 1,120,584 546,199
Compensated @DSENCES. .......uii i e 73,853 73,570
LoNg-term debt - CUITENT......ccc et ee e e e e are e e e e e eanes 306,675 356,415
BoNds Payable - CUMENT......coi i e et e e 980,000 964,000
Total cUrrent labilities. . .uuueeeeeiiiiiieieeeeceee e 4,760,320 4,565,517
Noncurrent liabilities:
CompPeENSALEd ADSENCES......uuiiiii et et e e e 20,653 15,170
Net Pension lIability.......oeee e 876,995 233,615
Other postemployment benefits.......cccoociiiiii e 1,443,671 1,757,921
Long-term debt - NONCUITENT......ccvie et e 2,742,782 2,999,457
Bonds payable - NONCUITENT.......ccciii e e 11,629,000 12,609,000
Total noncurrent abilities.........oooiiiiiiii s 16,713,101 17,615,163
Total llabilities.....ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccrceerrerrrr e cesese s e s s s e s e s e e e e ee s s s s s s nnnssssssssses 21,473,421 22,180,680
Deferred INfIOWS Of r@SOUICES....cccuiiiieeiiiieiireriieieeeienerereseetensssesnserensssesssssrennnns 457,067 438,226
Net Position
Net investment in capital @SSETS......cuuiiiiiiiiiiiie e 58,855,897 53,706,014
Restricted for future system development.........cccccuvveeiieiiieiiiiiee e, 5,539,735 3,702,258
(61T =T g Lot =T ISP USRI 9,120,927 7,956,615
Total Net POSItION......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiirrrrreeerrrreee s ss s s s s s s s e s s s s e s e s e e sesessssnnnnnnnnn: 73,516,559 65,364,887
Total liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and net position...................... S 95,447,047 S 87,983,793
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2023 Statement C-2
WRRF 0.5
System WRRF MGD Elevated GKN Pump
Development  Renovation Expansion American  Water Tank Station
Operating Capital Capital Project Capital Rescue Plan Capital Capital
Fund Reserve Fund Fund Project Fund Grant Project Project Fund Project Fund Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents.........ccccoceveveveveverereverenenns $ 8,902,055 $ - S 50,000 $ - S - S 80,718 $ 1,889,826 $ 10,922,599
Restricted cash 809,746 5,539,735 1,938,180 - 1,138,246 - - 9,425,907
Accounts receivable, net - billed 774,427 - - - - - - 774,427
Accounts receivable, net - unbilled 395,634 - - - - - - 395,634
Other receivables..........ccco.cu..... 5,149 - - - - - - 5,149
Due from other governments - - - - - - - -
Prepaid items - - - - - - - -
Non-capital eliminations.. - - - - - - - -
Total current assets 10,887,011 5,539,735 1,988,180 - 1,138,246 80,718 1,889,826 21,523,716
Non-current assets:
Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable assets......... 11,853,349 - - - - - - 11,853,349
Other capital assets, net of depreciation....... 60,722,825 - - - - - - 60,722,825
Total capital assets 72,576,174 - - - - - - 72,576,174
Total non-current assets 72,576,174 - - - - - - 72,576,174
Total assets 83,463,185 5,539,735 1,988,180 - 1,138,246 80,718 1,889,826 94,099,890
Deferred outflows of resources.........ccceeriunenn 1,347,157 - - - - - - 1,347,157
Total assets and deferred outflows
of resources $ 84,810,342 $ 5,539,735 S 1,988,180 S - $1,138246 $ 80,718 $ 1,889,826 $ 95,447,047
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities......... S 771,965 S - S 397,254 $ 57,092 S - S 149,350 $ 7,693 $ 1,383,354
Accrued interest payable. 86,108 - - - - - - 86,108
Due to other governments.. . - - - - - - - -
Payable from restricted assets........cccceecuereene 809,746 - - - - - - 809,746
Unearned revenues - - - - 1,120,584 - - 1,120,584
Compensated absences 73,853 - - - - - - 73,853
Long-term debt - current 306,675 - - - - - - 306,675
Bonds payable - current 337,261 - 642,739 - - - - 980,000
Total current liabilities 2,385,608 - 1,039,993 57,092 1,120,584 149,350 7,693 4,760,320
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 20,653 - - - - - - 20,653
Net pension liability............. . 876,995 - - - - - - 876,995
Other postemployment benefits 1,443,671 - - - - - - 1,443,671
Long-term debt - noncurrent 2,742,782 - - - - - - 2,742,782
Bonds payable - noncurrent . 3,369,797 - 8,259,203 - - - - 11,629,000
Total noncurrent liabilities.........cccceevveeeiveeenneen. 8,453,898 - 8,259,203 - - - - 16,713,101
Total liabilities 10,839,506 - 9,299,196 57,092 1,120,584 149,350 7,693 21,473,421
Deferred inflows of resources........ccccureeeeeeeenns 457,067 - - - - - - 457,067
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets.........c.ccceueunee 58,855,897 - - - - - - 58,855,897
Restricted for future system development..... - 5,539,735 - - - - - 5,539,735
UNrestricted ..oo.oveeveeeieeneeeeeveeeeeee 14,657,872 - (7,311,016) (57,092) 17,662 (68,632) 1,882,133 9,120,927
Total net position 73,513,769 5,539,735 (7,311,016) (57,092) 17,662 (68,632) 1,882,133 73,516,559
Total liabilities, deferred outflows
of resources, and net position $ 84,810,342 $ 5,539,735 $ 1,988,180 S - $ 1,138,246 S 80,718 $ 1,889,826 S 95,447,047
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2023 Statement C-3
WRRF 0.5
System WRRF MGD Elevated GKN Pump
Development Renovation Expansion American Water Tank Station
Operating Capital Capital Project Capital Rescue Plan Capital Capital
Fund Reserve Fund Fund Project Fund Grant Project Project Fund Project Fund Total

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services........ooouvevvrerereennns S 8,334,674 S - S - S - S - S - S - S 8,334,674

Water and sewer taps......cccccevvereennenne. 18,079 - - - - - - 18,079

Connection fees.......ccuvvvveeeevcivieeeeernnennn, - 1,792,107 - - - - - 1,792,107

Miscellan@ous.........cccueeeveeecieeeciieecieenns 606,672 - - - - - - 606,672
Total operating revenues... 8,959,425 1,792,107 - - - - - 10,751,532
Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and billing.......... 1,163,192 - - - - - - 1,163,192

Utility maintenance........ccccoecvvevveevcvenennns 3,605,415 - - - - - - 3,605,415

ENGINEering...c.cceviieiiieinieeeee e 295,062 - - - - - - 295,062

Water resource recovery facility............. 1,778,774 - - - - - - 1,778,774

Non-departmental........ccccoocvevierieneeninne 28,989 - - - - - - 28,989

Depreciation.......c.cccevceviieeinieeneceeee 1,875,620 - - - - - - 1,875,620
Total operating expenses.........cceeevueeeeas 8,747,052 - - - - - - 8,747,052
Operating income (l0SS)......cccoeeurerrriinnns 212,373 1,792,107 - - - - - 2,004,480
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Interest and investment revenue............ 96,147 45,370 162,670 - 16,912 852 74,826 396,777

(011 VT PSRRI (99,006) - - - - - - (99,006)

Interest EXPeNSe......covvrervereereerueieeeenns (214,005) - - - - - - (214,005)

Intergovernmental Grant Proceeds......... - - - - 2,016,944 - - 2,016,944
Total nonoperating

revenues (eXpenses).......cccceveevnneerainns (216,864) 45,370 162,670 - 2,033,856 852 74,826 2,100,710
Income (loss) before

contributions and transfers............cccc...... (4,491) 1,837,477 162,670 - 2,033,856 852 74,826 4,105,190
Capital contributions........ccccceevevverveneennne. 4,032,800 - - - - - - 4,032,800

Installment purchase obligations

ISSUBT..veirieeveeereereeiee e - - - - - - - -

Expense transfer from projects................. 7,657,286 - (5,679,915)  (1,712,035) - (219,484) (45,852) -
Capital asset transfers from

other funds.......ccceeevieeieeeiieccee e, 13,682 - - - - - - 13,682
Transfers iNe...coeeeeeeneseeeeec s 2,016,944 - 50,000 1,654,943 - 150,000 1,853,159 5,725,046
Transfers out (3,708,102) - - - (2,016,944) - - (5,725,046)
Change in net position........ccccevcevvvervennnns 10,008,119 1,837,477 (5,467,245) (57,092) 16,912 (68,632) 1,882,133 8,151,672
Total net position - beginning................... 63,505,650 3,702,258 (1,843,771) - 750 - - 65,364,887
Total net position - ending.........cccceeueee $ 73,513,769 $ 5,539,735 S (7,311,016) $ (57,092) $ 17,662 S (68,632) $ 1,882,133 $ 73,516,559
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement C-4
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
VAT SIS e eeeeeeeeee ettt eee e e e eeee e S S 4,072,165 S S 3,839,044
SEWEr Charges....cccvveeieeiieee et e 4,041,402 3,783,019
Water and sewer taps.......ccceeeeiveeeeieveeeeesinveennns 18,079 26,279
TOtAl e e 8,275,016 8,131,646 (143,370) 7,648,342
Other operating revenues:
Other operating revenues.........cccecvveeeevvveeeennne 606,672 631,269
TOtAl e e 675,375 606,672 (68,703) 631,269
Other nonoperating revenues:
(0] 1 o 1= S TSP (99,006) 44,539
Interest and investment earnings..........ccccecvven.n. 96,147 4,548
TOtAl e e 214,000 (2,859) (216,859) 49,087
TOtal rEVENUES....cceeurirrreeiiereneeierreeneeeeenneereennenes 9,164,391 8,735,459 (428,932) 8,328,698
Expenditures
Administration, meters and billing:
Salaries and employee benefits...........ccouveeennes 882,783 748,052
SUPPHES. ettt e 29,206 27,749
Other operating expenditures.........cccceeeuvveeennnns 242,888 178,553
TOtAl i e 1,239,935 1,154,877 85,058 954,354
Utility maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits...........ccouveeennes 1,268,126 1,013,294
Chemicals......ooocciviieieee e - 133,824
SUPPHES. ettt e 86,247 125,272
MaiNtENANCE.....vevvveerecceceeeee e 248,530 139,117
Purchases of Water .......ccoovvvveeeeieieeeiiciiieeeenins 1,290,068 980,001
Highway 119 project expenses.........cccccveveeeeunnes - -
Other operating expenditures..........cccoeeuvveeenns 591,350 350,574
TOtAl i e 4,241,777 3,484,321 757,456 2,742,082
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services..........ccuuu...... 115,248 124,447
Other operating expenditures..........cccoeeuvveeennnns 179,815 182,455
TOtAl it e 299,033 295,063 3,970 306,902
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022)

Statement C-4

2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
Water resource recovery facility:
Salaries and employee benefits.........c.ccceeveunene. S 737,043 S 672,838
Chemicals.....cooocciveieieee e 121,435 88,949
SUPPHES. ettt e 18,358 37,770
MaiNtENANCE....cvvvvveiieccceceeeee e 129,996 517,437
Other operating expenditures.........cccceeeuvveeennnns 707,353 272,907
o] -1 ISR 2,011,289 1,714,185 297,104 1,589,901
Non-departmental:
Other operating expenditures........ccccceeevveeeennnnes 28,989 64,185
o] -1 PSS 15,054 28,989 (13,935) 64,185
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement.........ccoceeeviiieeieciieec s 1,272,153 1,270,415 1,738 3,492,619
Interest and other charges........cccccveveivveeercnnnns 221,468 220,562 906 139,476
o] -1 OSSR 1,493,621 1,490,977 2,644 3,632,095
Capital outlay:
Miscellaneous Water........cccceeeeeieeeeeciiieeeecineennn. 1,620,457 1,431,630 188,827 1,467,315
Miscellaneous SEWET ..........eevveeeeiieiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeans 181,410 178,214 3,196 235,212
o] -1 OSSR 1,801,867 1,609,844 192,023 1,702,527
Total expenditures......ccccceeeeeciiiiriiinnnenennnsiiennnnnn 11,102,576 9,778,256 1,324,320 10,992,046
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over eXPenditures........cceeeveeeemeneeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennns (1,938,185) (1,042,797) 895,388 (2,663,348)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
TraNSTEIS iNuueiiiiiiiccieieeeee e 1,980,000 2,016,944 36,944 3,025,062
TIANSTEIS OUL..eveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesreseeeeenn (4,808,159) (3,708,102) 1,100,057 (1,016,746)
Proceeds from long-term debt.........ccccccvveennrennee. - - - 4,794,058
Total other financing sources (uses).........ccceeuuu... (2,828,159) (1,691,158) 1,137,001 6,802,374
Fund balance appropriated.......c.ccceeveevveescieeineenne 4,766,344 - (4,766,344) -
Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses.........ccceevveeeevneennne S - S (2,733,955) $ (2,733,955) S 4,139,026
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022) Statement C-4
2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual

Reconciliation from budgetary basis
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other uses.........ccocceeeeeeecvrnnnens S (2,733,955) S 4,139,026
Reconciling items:

Principal retirement........ccccccveeevciieieciiee e, 1,270,415 3,492,619
Capital outlays......ceeeeeeiiiiiiceecccee e, 1,609,844 1,702,527
Proceeds from long-term debt............ccccuvveeennnenn. - (4,794,058)
Increase (decrease) in receivable allowance......... 167,471 (26,631)
Increase (decrease) in unbilled receivables........... 53,636 21,343
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest

PAYAbIE.....eiiiie e 6,557 (56,530)
(Increase) decrease in vacation pay.......ccccceeeeunee (5,769) (9,749)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

Of resources - PeNSIoNS........ceececveeeeeccvieeeeeinveee e, 234,086 141,958
(Increase) decrease in net pension liability........... (643,380) 308,600
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - PeNSIioNS........ccececveeeeeeciveeeeeinveee e, 344,172 (361,003)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - OPEB..........ccoccveeeeciiiiee e (74,342) 73,498
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - OPEB...........ccccuveeeenneen. (363,014) 17,333
(Increase) decrease in OPEB liability 314,250 (263,314)
Depreciation.......cuueec e (1,875,620) (1,710,866)
Amortization of deferred loss

on refunding........ooociei e - -

Capital contributions........cccceveeieeiiiee e 4,032,800 3,422,692
Interest income from Water and Sewer

Capital Project Funds.........cccccoveveeeciieeccciieeee e, 300,630 9,529
Capital asset transfers from

Other fUNS.....ceviiiiiiiiiieeee e 13,682 423,868
Restricted income from System Development

Capital Reserve Fund........cccccoeecviveeeiiiee e, 1,792,107 1,434,780
Income from American Rescue Plan Grant

Project Special Revenue Fund...........ccccccvveeennes 2,016,944 2,045,130
Net Transfers to (from) Capital Project funds........ 1,691,158 (2,008,316)
Total reconciling items.......cccveveeviieee i 10,885,627 3,863,410
Change in net position........ccceeveeeeereeeercrneeeecsnnens S 8,151,672 S 8,002,436
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

System Development Capital Reserve Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022)

Statement C-5

2023
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2022 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
System Development Fees- Water...................... S S 546,297 S 425,919
System Development Fees- Sewer...................... 1,245,810 1,008,861
TOtal e s 1,598,000 1,792,107 194,107 1,434,780
Other nonoperating revenues:
Interest and investment earnings..................... 45,370 1,293
o] ¢ | PSS 3,000 45,370 42,370 1,293
Total reVeNUES.....cceeeeceerereeeccerreeenneeereeennnneeeneens 1,601,000 1,837,477 236,477 1,436,073
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures.......ccccceveiieeiinneeeeeeeeeeennennnnnes 1,601,000 1,837,477 236,477 1,436,073
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Utility Capital ReServe.......ccccvcveeeeveeeecivee e, (1,601,000) - 1,601,000 -
Transfers to other funds:
Utility Capital Project Fund...........ccccvveevveenee. - - - (199,177)
Appropriated fund balance.........cccccccvveeennennnee. - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses)................... (1,601,000) - 1,601,000 (199,177)
Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses........ccccceveveereernnees S - S 1,837,477 S 1,837,477 S 1,236,896
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statement C-6

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)
Revenues
Investment earnings........ccceevveeeeueennene. S - S 7,486 S 162,670 S 170,156 S 170,156
Total revenues.......ccceeueerreeeirreneceenneenenes - 7,486 162,670 170,156 170,156
Expenditures
Professional services........cccvvvveveeeeeeenenns 102,784 92,284 1,500 93,784 9,000.00
Design and engineering..........cccccuveeeeenn. 555,285 555,285 - 555,285 -
Construction administration................... 591,390 141,324 191,950 333,274 258,116
CoNSEruCtioN......occvieieeiiee e, 7,147,291 538,614 5,486,465 6,025,079 1,122,212
EQUIPMENt....cceiiieeceeecee e 523,750 523,750 - 523,750 -
CoNtiNgeNCY..coeveeeeceerrerereeeeee 31,442 - - - 31,442
Total expenditures.......ccceereeeenccerreennnnnns 8,951,942 1,851,257 5,679,915 7,531,172 1,420,770
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (8,951,942) (1,843,771) (5,517,245)  (7,361,016) 1,590,926
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... 50,000 583,000 50,000 633,000 583,000
Operating transfers out:
To Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... - (583,000) - (583,000) (583,000)
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUBM...eieeiiie e 8,901,942 8,901,942 - 8,901,942 -
Total other financing sources (uses)......... 8,951,942 8,901,942 50,000 8,951,942 -

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................ S -

S 7,058,171 S (5,467,245) $ 1,590,926 S 1,590,926
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project Fund
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statement C-7

Revenues
ARP Grant Proceeds.......ccccceeuvvvvrvvevennnnns

Total revVeNnUES.....cceeeeeeeereeeennceeeeeeenneeens

Expenditures
Design and engineering........c.ccccveeevuveenn.
Land purchase.....cccccoceveeeeeiicciiiieeccecnes
CoNSErUCTION...ceiiieiiieeeee e

Total expenditures........cccceveeeeveeeeeennnnnnns

Revenue over (under) expenditures.......

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements...............

Total other financing sources (uses).........

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................

Actual

Variance

Positive

Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
S 11,925,000 S - S - S - S (11,925,000)
11,925,000 - - - (11,925,000)
3,513,200 1,016,746 1,432,090 2,448,836 1,064,364
286,800 - 279,945 279,945 6,855
11,925,000 - - - 11,925,000
15,725,000 1,016,746 1,712,035 2,728,781 12,996,219
(3,800,000) (1,016,746) (1,712,035) (2,728,781) 1,071,219

3,800,000 1,016,746 1,654,943 2,671,689 (1,128,311)
3,800,000 1,016,746 1,654,943 2,671,689 (1,128,311)
-8 - % (57,092) $  (57,092) $ (57,092)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
American Rescue Plan Grant Project

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 Statement C-8
Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
ARPA Grant Proceeds........cccceeeeeveivvveeeeeeecnnvennnn. S 5,182,658 $ 2,045,130 S 2,016,944 S 4,062,074 S (1,120,584)
Investment earnings.......cccceevueuvuvevnieieneneeeeeeens - 750 16,912 17,662 17,662
Total reVeNUES.....cceeeeeeeerreeeeecceereeeeneceeeeennnnnnens 5,182,658 2,045,880 2,033,856 4,079,736 (1,102,922)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers out:
To Water and Sewer Fund for
salaries and benefits reimbursements.......... (5,182,658) (2,045,130) (2,016,944) (4,062,074) 1,120,584

Total other financing sources (uses)................. (5,182,658) (2,045,130) (2,016,944) (4,062,074) 1,120,584

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses........cccccceueeerennne S - S 750 S 16,912 S 17,662 S 17,662
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
Elevated Water Tank Capital Project Fund
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statement C-9

Revenues
ARP Grant Proceeds........cccoceveeeeeeeicnnnnens
SCIF Grant Proceeds.......ccceveuveeeenvveeennns
Investment earnings......ccccoccveeeveineeennnee.

Total revenues........cceeeeeereeeenceereennncenenns

Expenditures
Professional services.........cccoceercueerieennns
Design and engineering.......c.cccceeveeeveenane
CONSTrUCTION...cciiiieiiiiieeeee e
CoNtiNGENCY..ociiiiieiiiiieeeeee e

Total expenditures.........cccoeveriiiinnnennnnnns
Revenue over (under) expenditures.......

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements................
Installment purchase obligations

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................

Actual

Variance

Positive

Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
2,502,990 $ - S - S8 - $ (2,502,990)
150,000 - - - (150,000)
- - 852 852 852
2,652,990 - 852 852 (2,652,138)
120,000 - 20,965 20,965 99,035
524,000 - 198,519 198,519 325,481
5,852,000 - - - 5,852,000
585,200 - - - 585,200
7,081,200 - 219,484 219,484 6,861,716
(4,428,210) - (218,632) (218,632) 4,209,578
- - 150,000 150,000 150,000
4,428,210 - - - (4,428,210)
4,428,210 - 150,000 150,000 (4,278,210)
- S - S (68,632) S (68,632) S (68,632)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
GKN Pump Station Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statement C-10

Revenues
Investment earnings.......cccoccveeeveieeeennnen.

Total revenues........cceeeeeereeeneceereennneenenns

Expenditures
Design, engineering and construction....

Total expenditures.........cccoevirriiinnnennnnnns
Revenue over (under) expenditures.......

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements................
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUB..ueeeiee et

Total other financing sources (uses).........

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................

Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
- S S 74,826 S 74,826 S 74,826
- 74,826 74,826 74,826
1,853,159 45,852 45,852 1,807,307
1,853,159 45,852 45,852 1,807,307
(1,853,159) 28,974 28,974 1,882,133
- 1,853,159 1,853,159 1,853,159
1,853,159 - - (1,853,159)
1,853,159 1,853,159 1,853,159 -

S 1,882,133

$ 1,882,133 $ 1,882,133
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Additional
Financial Data

This section contains additional information on property
taxes and interfund transfers.

e Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
e Analysis of Current Tax Levy

e Schedule of Ten Largest Taxpayers






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

June 30, 2023 Schedule D-1
Uncollected Uncollected
Balance Collections Balance
Fiscal Year 6/30/2022  Additions and Credits 6/30/2023
2022-2023.....eeeeeee e e e e S - $ 13,721,187 $ 13,652,870 S 68,317
2021-2022...ce et et 30,193 - 12,948 17,245
20202021t e 17,394 - 4,513 12,881
2019-2020...c. e ceeieeeeeeee et et 8,370 - 2,149 6,221
2018-2019...cu et e e s 11,222 - 1,306 9,916
2017-2018 2,687 - 1,284 1,403
2016-2017 1,111 - 630 481
2015-2016...cciiieiiiieee e s 4,515 - 3,518 997
2014-2015....c e s 4,190 - 3,026 1,164
2013-20T4 ... s 4,469 - 593 3,876
2012-2003. . s 5,108 - 5,108 -
$ 89,259 $13,721,187 $ 13,687,945 122,501
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (General FUN).........ooocieeeiciiieeniie e 15,356.00
Ad valorem taxes reCeiVable - NET......ciueiiireeiireeiiiireiiteiirereieteneresnsierensssssssssrenssssssssersnssssssssssannes S 107,145
Reconciliation with revenues:
Ad valorem taxes - GENEIal FUNG........uviiiiiiiiiiieieeee e r e e seeseenans S 13,691,894
Add (subtract):
Penalties and interest, Net Of diISCOUNTS.......cooviiiiiiii e e e e e s s (96,618)
Amount written off for tax year 2011-2012.........cceiiiirieieiieecieee e eree e e e e eare e snaae e snaee e aean 5,108
Refunds and other adjUStMENTS.........cocuiii i e et e et e e e rare e e e ba e e e e e eaaeas 87,561
Total coOllections AN CreditS......cuiiieeiiiireiiienirreeierenirereeieressserseseressssssssssssssssesssssssansssssnsssssssssane: S 13,687,945
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule D-2

City - Wide Total Levy
Property
Excluding
Registered Registered
Total Property Amount of Motor_ Motor_
Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles
Tax levy:
Real Property ...cocceeeeceeeeeereeeeceeeieenens $2,140,989,587 0.47 $10,062,643 S 10,062,643 S -
Personal property ....ccccceeevveeeeeeccineneennn. 753,754,339 0.47 3,542,645 2,590,859 951,786
Public service companies.........cccceeeruneen. 24,903,062 0.47 117,044 117,044 -
SUDTOLAlS....eeiieeie e 2,919,646,988 13,722,332 12,770,546 951,786
Less: Homestead exemptions.................. (243,533) 0.47 (1,145) (1,145) -
| o] -] £ URNt $ 2,919,403,455 13,721,187 12,769,401 951,786
Advertising, interest cost and
late filing fees......ocovvieeeiecciiieeeee, - - -
GroOSS l8VY oo 13,721,187 12,769,401 951,786
Release and adjustments........cccceeeeeen. - - -
Net [eVY ..o, 13,721,187 12,769,401 951,786
Uncollected taxes
atJune 30, 2023......cccccieviieie e 68,317 58,093 10,224
Current year taxes collected.................. $13,652,870 S 12,711,308 $§ 941,562
Current levy collection percentage........ 99.50% 99.55% 98.93%

Page 92




City of Mebane, North Carolina

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 Schedule D-3

Secondary Market Disclosures:
Assessed Valuation:

Assessment Ratio (NOte 1)....cc.eiieeiieiiiiiieeeiiececiee e 100%
Current Year Rate Prior Year Rate
REAI PrOPEItY....viivieieieiecte et eee ettt et ee ettt steeaaeereens S 2,140,989,587 S -
Personal Property.. ..ottt 750,224,126 3,530,213
Public service companies (NOte 2).......ccceeeeiiieeiieeeeeciieeeeieeeens 24,903,062 -
Total Assessed ValuatioN......cccuveveeeeeeeereiieieieieeeecvevvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 2,916,116,775 3,530,213
Tax Rate Per S100......ccueiueirieieeiieeteeeeceeete et et esee e ere e enis 0.47 0.47
13,705,740 16,592
LBV Y ettt ette ettt stt e et e sttt et e et e et e et e et e s e beeeaeenae e e baeebeenraeereenaren S 13,722,332

Note 1: Percentage of appraised value has been established by statute.
Note 2: Valuation of railroads, telephone companies and other utilities
as determined by the North Carolina Property Tax Commission.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ten Largest Taxpayers
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 Schedule D-4
Percentage
of Total
Assessed Assessed
Name Type of Enterprise Valuation Tax Levy  Valuation
Lotus Bakeries US LLC.................... Natural Snack Product Manufacturing....... $ 89,680,372 $ 421,498 3.07%
MRE Propco LP......cccocuvvveviieeeinen. Healthcare Supplies Manufacturer............ 86,510,700 $ 406,600 2.96%
Keystone at Mebane Oaks, LLC...... Apartment CompleX.....cccoevveeeerieeeeieeeennne 82,781,555 $ 389,073 2.84%
XPXIl Greensboro Logistics............. Freight and Logistics Service........cc.cecu.e.. 76,808,168 S 360,998 2.63%
GKN Automotive
CompoNeNnts........ueveeeeveeerererereeenens Auto Components Manufacturing............. 66,975,421 S 314,784 2.29%
Industrial Connections &
Solutions LLC.....cceeevvveeecieeeieen, Electronics Manufacturing...........ccccuveeneee. 60,899,638 S 286,228 2.09%
Liggett Group - One Hundred
Maple, LLC....oecvrveeeiee e Tobacco Manufacturing.........ccceeecveeenneen. 60,654,969 $ 285,078 2.08%
Wal-Mart......coooeeviieeeiee e 2] 7 1| SRS 59,048,891 $ 277,530 2.02%
Cambro Manufacturing Co............ Foodservice Supplies Manufacturing......... 52,456,539 $ 246,546 1.80%
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner... Retail.......cccccocevevciiiee e 44,611,519 S 209,674 1.53%
$680,427,772 $ 3,198,011 23.31%
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Statistical Section

This part of the City of Mebane’s annual comprehensive
financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information say about the government’s
overall financial health.

e Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend
information to help the reader understand how the
government’s financial performance and well-being have
changed over time.

e Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain
information to help the reader assess the government’s
most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

e Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to
help the reader assess the affordability of the
government’s current levels of outstanding debt and the
government’s ability to issue additional debt in the
future.

e Demographic and Economic Information - These
schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within
which the government’s financial activities take place.

e Operating Information - These schedules contain
service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the government’s
financial report relates to the services the government
provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these
schedules is derived from the annual comprehensive financial
report for the relevant year.



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Net investment in capital assets.........cooevvevvevvenreeneenns $ 33,039,857 $ 32,011,821 S 34,801,671 S 30,319,096 S 40,610,954
RESEIICEEA...uuiii i 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579
UNrestricted.....oooouee e 6,195,064 5,185,319 7,502,406 14,338,635 6,147,464
Total governmental activities net position................ S 41,829,162 S 42,422,887 S 44,893,693 S 47,273,164 S 49,515,997
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.........ccevvevvevveireenennn. $ 31,622,606 S 33,155,614 S 34,178,396 S 34,527,281 S 38,122,626
[0S 4 T (=T PSS - - - - -
Unrestricted... 6,415,219 5,635,431 7,589,047 8,948,578 8,413,024
Total business-type activities net position................. $ 38,037,825 $ 38,791,045 S 41,767,443 S 43,475,859 S 46,535,650
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets.........ccuevvevvevveireenennn. S 64,662,463 S 65,167,435 S 68,980,067 S 64,846,377 S 78,733,580
Restricted......ccovvveeeiieeceiieeeieee, 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579
Unrestricted 12,610,283 10,820,750 15,091,453 23,287,213 14,560,488
Total primary government activities net position...... $ 79,866,987 S 81,213,932 S 86,661,136 S 90,749,023 S 96,051,647

Governmental Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Net investment in capital assets.......cccceevereevenennnn. S 44,539,110 $ 48,932,506 $ 53,020,166 $ 58,077,074 S 63,317,482
[ 1 g Lot (=Y [ 2,844,468 2,535,935 3,005,430 4,324,267 6,348,124
[0 e = g [t =T IO 6,328,882 5,788,509 4,859,788 6,266,211 6,665,585
Total governmental activities net position............... $ 53,712,460 $ 57,256,950 $ 60,885,384 S 68,667,552 $ 76,331,191
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.......ccccceevevevervennnn. S 38,984,945 S 45,237,242 S 48,261,754 $ 53,706,014 $ 58,855,897
[0S 1 g Lot (=Y SRR 586,608 970,910 2,465,362 3,702,258 5,539,735.00
Unrestricted... 7,619,918 6,837,732 6,635,335 7,956,615 9,120,927
Total business-type activities net position............... S 47,191,471 $ 53,045,884 $ 57,362,451 $ 65,364,887 $ 73,516,559
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets.......ccccceeeeeevenennnn. S 83,524,055 $ 94,169,748 $ 101,281,920 $ 111,783,088 $ 122,173,379
Restricted......coovvuvveeeiiieiiieeeeens 3,431,076 3,506,845 5,470,792 8,026,525 11,887,859
Unrestricted 13,948,800 12,626,241 11,495,123 14,222,826 15,786,512

Total primary government activities net position

Notes:

$ 100,903,931 §$ 110,302,834 $ 118,247,835

$ 134,032,439

$ 149,847,750

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035;
2017 includes a prior period restatement of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860;
2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).

Business-type Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2

(Page 1 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt......cocviiiiiiiiiiiiieie e s
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on long-term debt.........ccveviririiniiiiiiie e

Total governmental activities exper

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......cucuiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government exper

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and CoONtribUtIONS. ........coerueruiriiiiiis it

Total governmental activities program revenue

Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and contributions.........ccccveeviieiie i

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental aCtIVITIES. ......ccvveiireirce s
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVITIES. .. et

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:
Taxes.
Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes.....
Grants and contributions not restricted
10 SPECITIC PrOBIAMS. . eivvieiiieiiiiieiie ettt bbb e saaesae s
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous....
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic developmen
Transfers..

Total governmental act
Business-type activities:

Unrestricted investment @arningS........c.coueeeeeueeiieeieeeeeereeeieeereeeeeeeereesre e s
Miscellaneous.
Transfers

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Change in primary government net position

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
2,133,862 $ 2,130,084 $ 2,058,889 $ 2,023,497 $ 2,227,259
4,400,496 4,929,504 5,521,196 6,132,593 6,567,770
3,887,001 3,848,791 4,169,363 3,907,270 3,885,804
1,179,235 1,163,723 1,288,321 1,195,553 1,301,845
1,137,040 584,532 1,415,831 461,389 1,879,946
151,011 178,086 156,676 174,166 300,632
12,888,645 12,834,720 14,610,276 13,894,468 16,163,256
4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854 6,039,261
4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465 6,139,854 6,039,261
17,381,840 17,123,677 19,536,741 20,034,322 22,202,517

60,900 45,470 213,347 58,291 60,580
12,986 13,964 13,905 21,135 19,941
355,012 338,920 420,613 401,609 422,237
75,170 77,245 85,535 86,690 87,018
222,071 287,110 374,248 427,814 391,359
667,594 498,060 448,823 574,891 934,764
912,272 2,157,849 972,045 639,266 3,380,460

2,306,005 3,418,618 2,528,516 2,209,696 5,296,359
5,041,627 5,316,218 7,399,492 6,491,915 6,676,309
203,400 196,230 1,376,780 465,220 2,508,340
5,245,027 5,512,448 8,776,272 6,957,135 9,184,649
7,551,032 8,931,066 11,304,788 9,166,831 14,481,008

(10,582,640) (9,416,102) (12,081,760) (11,684,772) (10,866,897)
751,832 1,223,491 3,849,807 817,281 3,145,388
(9,830,808) (8,192,611) (8,231,953) (10,867,491) (7,721,509)
8,054,225 8,572,861 8,859,077 9,751,487 10,279,056
3,519,938 4,105,041 4,188,891 4,299,798 4,563,646

7,000 4,500 12,509 3,050 3,050
2,096 4,083 6,399 25,200 129,302
(7,678) 60,600 41,404 69,609 164,578
- (2,691,591) B B .
784,376 393,092 965,000 - (2,003)
12,359,957 10,448,586 14,073,280 14,149,144 15,137,629
5,801 259 2,244 6,344 28,295
15,835 15,559 22,773 784,791 193,241
(784,376) (393,092) (965,000) - 2,003
(762,740) (377,274) (939,983) 791,135 223,539

11,597,217 10,071,312 13,133,297 14,940,279 15,361,168
1,777,317 1,032,484 1,991,520 2,464,372 4,270,732
(10,908) 846,217 2,909,824 1,608,416 3,368,927
1,766,409 $ 1,878,701 $ 4,901,344 $ 4,072,788 $ 7,639,659
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2
(Page 2 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt......cocviiiiiiiiiiiiieie e s
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on long-term debt.........ccveviririiniiiiiiie e

Total governmental activities expense:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......cucuiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government exper

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and CoONtribUtIONS. ........coerueruiriiiiiis it

Total governmental activities program revenue

Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and contributions.........ccecueviieiie i

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental aCtIVITIES. ......ccvveiireirce s
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVITIES. .. et

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:
Taxes.
Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes.....
Grants and contributions not restricted
10 SPECITIC PrOBIAMS. . eivvieiiieiiiiieiie ettt bbb e saaesae s
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous....
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic developmen
Transfers..

Total governmental act
Business-type activities:

Unrestricted investment @arningS........c.coueeeeeueeiieeieeeeeereeeieeereeeeeeeereesre e s
Miscellaneous.
Transfers

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Change in primary government net position

Notes:

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2,262,074 $ 2,508,794 $ 2,945,979 $ 2,838,280 $ 3,569,169
7,070,899 8,045,419 9,046,866 8,660,213 10,300,977
3,803,467 4,939,677 5,273,617 4,824,551 5,824,083
1,900,889 1,677,079 1,931,238 2,064,269 2,543,789
1,269,525 2,005,292 2,225,126 2,260,845 3,031,889
281,751 257,803 200,005 178,756 174,264
16,588,605 19,434,064 21,622,831 20,826,914 25,444,171
6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961 7,656,972 8,963,936
6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961 7,656,972 8,963,936
23,351,553 26,732,400 29,279,792 28,483,886 34,408,107

1,100 11,850 5,400 4,605 4,505
21,350 17,532 19,750 22,229 51,672
501,353 617,855 701,980 680,282 741,725
92,443 74,138 80,918 141,125 148,528
863,738 742,977 1,233,852 1,317,134 1,742,647
742,312 957,002 821,868 1,071,973 1,322,247

2,617,102 3,927,560 4,465,736 4,284,192 6,500,750
4,839,398 6,348,914 7,329,504 7,521,540 10,512,074
6,995,810 7,644,617 9,146,098 9,703,779 10,749,657

- - - 2,045,130 2,016,944
226,820 5,400,880 2,890,267 3,422,692 4,032,800

7,222,630 13,045,497 12,036,365 15,171,601 16,799,401
12,062,028 19,394,411 19,365,869 22,693,141 27,311,475

(11,749,207) (13,085,150) (14,293,327) (13,305,374) (14,932,097)
459,682 5,747,161 4,379,404 7,514,629 7,835,465

(11,289,525) (7,337,989) (9,913,923) (5,790,745) (7,096,632)
10,895,740 11,378,933 11,807,602 13,129,528 14,228,025
4,885,951 5,067,665 5,764,756 7,341,386 7,926,631

4,050 31,047 191,474 410,380 23,110

180,725 153,113 56,026 12,614 241,674
36,506 427,623 101,903 617,502 189,978
(57,302) (1,394) - (423,868) (13,682)

15,945,670 17,056,987 17,921,761 21,087,542 22,595,736

63,336 89,202 28,073 14,078 396,777
75,501 16,655 (90,910) 49,861 (94,252)
57,302 1,395 - 423,868 13,682
196,139 107,252 (62,837) 487,807 316,207

16,141,809 17,164,239 17,858,924 21,575,349 22,911,943
4,196,463 3,971,837 3,628,434 7,782,168 7,663,639
655,821 5,854,413 4,316,567 8,002,436 8,151,672
4,852,284 $ 9,826,250 $ 7,945,001 $ 15,784,604 $ 15,815,311

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035; 2017 includes a prior period restatement
of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860; 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
General Fund
NONSPENAADIE. ... e $ 20,511 § 27,361 $ 116,295 S 51,005 $ 131,945
Restricted..... 2,566,389 5,183,933 2,533,840 2,545,731 2,673,951
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU. ..eiiiiiiieciiee ettt et 1,543,138 1,549,082 1,419,254 1,803,854 1,828,000
UNASSIZNE.....iiiiiiiiiiiieeiie ettt et 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988 7,563,514

Total general fund $ 10,742,610

$ 11,751,378

$ 11,447,179

S 13,484,578

$ 12,197,410

All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
RESTIICEE. c.uiiieiiie e et 27,852 41,814 55,776 69,702 83,628
COMMILEEd.c..iiiieeiieteeee e e - - - - -

F X 74 VT 1,925,422 1,181,066 640,198 5,986,376 1,757,022
UN@SSIZNEU....cuieieieeieeieeeiesee et e seee e eteeseae e esseesaneenes - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds $ 1,953,274 $ 1,222,880 S 695,974 S 6,056,078 S 1,840,650

Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENAADIE....c..eieiecieee e e S 20,511 §$ 27,361 S 116,295 $ 51,005 $ 131,945
Restricted..... 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616 2,615,433 2,757,579
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU. ...eiiiiiieciiee ettt e e et 3,468,560 2,730,148 2,059,452 7,790,230 3,585,022
UNASSIZNE....uiiiiiiiiiiiieciie ettt e aaa e 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790 9,083,988 7,563,514

Total governmental funds

$ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258

$ 12,143,153

$ 19,540,656

$ 14,038,060

Fund Balances - General Fund
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
General Fund
NONSPENADIE....c..iieeieieee e e S 46,552 S 168,052 $ 31,716 S 32,056 $ -
Restricted..... 2,658,975 2,422,768 2,877,971 4,182,828 6,191,378
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU. ..eeiiiiiieciiee ettt e e et 1,500,000 1,823,718 804,772 2,165,385 2,797,463
UNASSIZNE....uiiiiiiiiiiiieciie ettt e sbae e aaa e 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360 14,347,743 11,989,170
Total general fund S 13,391,694 $ 14,842,317 S 15,719,819 $ 20,728,012 $ 20,978,011
All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable $ - S - $ - S - S -
RESTIICLE. c.uiieeiiii e et 98,182 113,160 127,459 141,439 156,746
COMMILEEd.c..iiiieeiieeteeee e e - - - - -

F X 74 VT S 884,814 - 566,851 - 3,694,988
(818 T T4 V=T USSR - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds S 982,996 S 113,160 $ 694,310 S 141,439 $§ 3,851,734

Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENADIE....c..iieeiesieee e e S 46,552 S 168,052 $ 31,716 S 32,056 $ -
Restricted..... 2,757,157 2,535,928 3,005,430 4,324,267 6,348,124
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU. ..eeiiiiiieciiee ettt et 2,384,814 1,823,718 1,371,623 2,165,385 6,492,451
UNASSIZNE.....iiiiiiiiiiiieciie ettt e aaae e 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360 14,347,743 11,989,170
Total governmental funds S 14,374,690 $ 14,955,477 S 16,414,129 $ 20,869,451 S 24,829,745

Fund Balances - All Other Governmental Funds
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXES.....ccocuvveeeeeeiirieeeeeeieeeeeeeerree e e eesabareee e S 7,705,045 S 8,207,631 S 8,436,102 $ 9,349,863 S 9,851,605

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uuviiivceeiiee e e eeaaes 199,935 190,058 795 960 1,005

Unrestricted intergovernmental..........ccccocvvvveeiieeiiiiieesiineen, 3,323,889 5,033,302 4,191,306 4,427,170 4,866,039

Restricted intergovernmental........cccccoecveecieevieniesceeceeceenne 1,497,810 893,277 880,010 904,619 1,265,968

Permits and fEES.......uviiiiiciieiee e 244,104 320,358 606,212 482,809 411,580

SalES AN SEIVICES....evveiieieeiteeee et 416,084 392,832 433,014 444,814 462,033

INVEStMENt @arNINGS....cccvviviiieiiiiiiieeeeiie e e 17,190 1,746 6,363 25,200 129,302

Miscellaneous 94,753 260,119 155,294 270,538 322,138
TOTAl FEVENUES...ccciieieiiieiniiiteiatectetecasssesassssesasassanens 13,498,810 15,299,323 14,709,096 15,905,973 17,309,670
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT.......c.vevierieeierteeee st see e e eae e eeenne 2,087,742 2,094,055 2,151,509 1,997,039 2,244,898

PUDBIIC Safety..cciiiiiciieecie e e 5,091,637 4,901,955 5,414,023 6,171,044 6,526,581

PUDBIIC WOTKS...eeiiiiceieee ettt 3,708,213 3,708,075 3,733,538 3,268,769 3,400,679

Cultural and recreation.......ccueeeeeeeiveeeeeecieeee e e eeennns 1,195,637 1,318,029 1,466,564 1,056,609 1,828,941

Economic and physical development.........cccevevereiveciveeceeennen. 3,832,902 703,466 1,466,432 703,062 1,878,174

Debt service:

PrINCIPALc.eeeieeee e e 426,667 833,854 835,083 836,338 1,316,286
Interest and other charges........cccocvvveevieieiiie e 119,484 182,646 161,067 139,372 306,592

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiieeiiii et e 1,437,893 2,138,037 1,276,985 634,567 5,739,986
Total expenditures.........ccccccccceeenennennnenssssssssssssssssssssnnes 17,900,175 15,880,117 16,505,201 14,806,800 23,242,137
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........cccevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin (4,401,365) (580,794) (1,796,105) 1,099,173 (5,932,467)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (245,000) (1,450,000) (856,734) (60,000) (1,726,812)

Transfers from other funds.........ccoeeviiieiiiiiiis e 1,029,376 1,843,092 1,821,734 60,000 1,724,810

1SSUANCE OF AEDt..ccc i 4,345,275 - - 6,298,330 431,873

IT subscriptions agreement.........ccceeeeeeeveeceereeneieeeereeseeens - - - - -
Total other financing sources (USes)......cccevureeerrrricrrsnneeennnnans 5,129,651 393,092 965,000 6,298,330 429,871
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeiiiiciierreiiiniccisenneenns 728,286 (187,702) (831,105) 7,397,503 (5,502,596)
Fund balances, beginning........cccocveveeieeviesece e, 11,967,598 12,695,884 12,974,258 12,143,153 19,540,656
Prior period adjustment.........cccooieiiiiiiiiiie e - 466,076 - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........ccccccceevveieiieeeninenn. 11,967,598 13,161,960 12,974,258 12,143,153 19,540,656
Fund balances, ending.........cccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiccceceees $ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 $ 12,143,153 $ 19,540,656 $ 14,038,060
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures.............. 4.6% 8.2% 7.0% 7.4% 10.3%

Page 102



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXES.....ccocuvveeeeeeiirieeeeeeieeeeeeeerree e e eesabareee e 10,413,402 $ 10,897,067 $ 11,339,347 S 12,631,940 S 13,691,894

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uuviiivceeiiee e e eeaaes 1,030 955 955 805 945

Unrestricted intergovernmental..........ccccocvvvveeiieeiiiiieesiineen, 5,095,144 5,433,058 6,101,360 7,683,475 8,234,539

Restricted intergovernmental........cccccoecveecieevieniesceeceeceenne 1,589,184 1,262,717 1,154,666 1,231,498 4,108,594

Permits and fEES.......uviiiiiciieiee e 915,604 811,186 1,338,035 1,388,813 1,878,503

SalES AN SEIVICES....evveiieieeiteeee et 494,687 576,421 616,526 701,267 752,683

INVEStMENt @arNINGS....cccvviviiieiiiiiiieeeeiie e e 180,725 153,113 56,027 12,615 241,673

Miscellaneous 167,614 524,824 262,594 966,972 276,176
TOTAl FEVENUES...ccciieieiiieiniiiteiatectetecasssesassssesasassanens 18,857,390 19,659,341 20,869,510 24,617,385 29,185,007
Expenditures

General GOVEIrNMENT........c.ceveeeeeeereeereseeeeeeeeee e eessasesesenas 2,179,611 2,265,058 2,540,663 2,629,542 3,214,271

PUDBIIC Safety..cciiiiiciieecie e e 6,544,785 6,888,994 6,818,514 7,372,689 8,741,132

PUDBIIC WOTKS...eeiiiiceieee ettt 3,113,625 3,048,385 3,888,863 3,519,090 4,215,643

Cultural and recreation.......ccueeeeeeeiveeeeeecieeee e e eeennns 1,445,320 1,343,057 1,293,315 1,538,498 1,945,547

Economic and physical development.........cccevevereiveciveeceeennen. 1,255,070 1,927,454 2,163,879 2,275,921 2,977,377

Debt service:

PLINCIPAL ctveeieeeeeeee ettt et n s e enenas 1,347,620 1,272,748 1,239,573 1,415,799 1,608,965
Interest and other charges........cccocvvveevieieiiie e 285,412 264,189 211,159 178,525 170,431

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiieeiiii et e 3,652,717 2,068,669 1,685,392 2,597,000 3,315,482
Total expenditures.........ccccccccceeenennennnenssssssssssssssssssssnnes 19,824,160 19,078,554 19,841,358 21,527,064 26,188,848
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........cccevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin (966,770) 580,787 1,028,152 3,090,321 2,996,159
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (1,500,000) (1,183,857) (1,144,592) (696,274) (1,786,840)

Transfers from other funds.........ccoeeviiieiiiiiiis e 2,067,932 1,183,857 1,144,592 696,274 1,786,840

1SSUANCE OF AEDt..ccc i 735,468 - 430,500 1,365,000 916,006

IT subscriptions agreement.........ccceeeeeeeveeceereeneieeeereeseeens - - - - 48,129
Total other financing sources (USes)......cccevureeerrrricrrsnneeennnnans 1,303,400 - 430,500 1,365,000 964,135
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeiiiiciierreiiiniccisenneenns 336,630 580,787 1,458,652 4,455,321 3,960,294
Fund balances, beginning........cccocveveeieeviesece e, 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477 16,414,130 20,869,451
Prior period adjustment.........cccooieiiiiiiiiiie e - - - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........ccccccceevveieiieeeninenn. 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477 16,414,130 20,869,451
Fund balances, ending.........cccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiccceceees 14,374,690 $ 14,955,477 $ 16,414,129 $ 20,869,451 S 24,829,745
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures.............. 10.2% 8.8% 8.0% 8.4% 7.8%

Notes:
(1) 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $466,076.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 5
Ratio of
Assessed
Total Value to
Less Tax- Direct Estimated
Fiscal Personal Public Service Exempt Total Taxable Tax Estimated Actual Actual
Year Real Property Property Companies Property Assessed Value  Rate Taxable Value Value
2014 1,163,814,338 476,296,137 22,343,241 (8,380,262) 1,654,073,454 0.47 1,574,895,032 105.0%
2015 1,171,969,829 498,060,858 22,232,490 (8,580,903) 1,683,682,274 0.49 1,603,949,005 105.0%
2016 1,215,674,661 511,076,370 23,926,263 (9,087,410) 1,741,589,884 0.49 1,648,732,865 105.6%
2017 1,355,230,856 550,037,154 20,701,422 (6,871,152)  1,919,098,280 0.49 1,919,559,215 100.0%
2018 1,519,215,965 576,423,148 21,265,042 (6,231,130)  2,110,673,025 0.47 2,165,774,122 97.5%
2019 1,572,394,043 593,126,106 19,041,041 (2,685,151) 2,181,876,039 0.47 2,238,905,875 97.5%
2020 1,627,662,514 648,540,774 19,264,439 (243,533)  2,295,224,194 0.47 2,449,836,538 93.7%
2021 1,755,206,176 602,162,652 19,101,600 (243,533)  2,376,226,895 0.47 2,542,954,665 93.4%
2022 1,931,258,902 706,724,061 17,085,572 (352,483) 2,654,716,052 0.47 2,872,643,553 92.4%
2023 2,140,989,587 753,754,339 24,903,062 (243,533)  2,919,403,455 0.47 3,641,847,848 80.2%
Sources:

Alamance County and Orange County Tax Departments.

Notes:

Assessed valuations are established by the Alamance County Board of Commissioners at 100% of estimated
market value. A revaluation of real property is required by the North Carolina General Statutes at least every

eight years. Property was last revalued in FY 2023.

Estimated actual taxable value is calculated using information provided in Alamance and Orange County's

Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports (ACFRs).
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Years

(Rates are Per $100 of Assessed Value) Table 6
Direct Rate Overlapping Rates Combined Tax Rate
City of Alamance  Orange Alamance  Orange
Fiscal Year Mebane county™  county? County County
0.47 0.540 0.858 1.010 1.328
0.49 0.530 0.858 1.020 1.348
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.47 0.580 0.838 1.050 1.308
0.47 0.590 0.850 1.060 1.320
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338
0.47 0.660 0.819 1.130 1.289
0.47 0.676 0.820 1.146 1.290

Sources:
@ Alamance County Tax Department.
@ Orange County Tax Department.

Notes:

Overlapping rates are the county government rates that apply to property owners within the City of Mebane.
The City of Mebane is located in both Alamance and Orange counties. Not all overlapping rates apply to al
property owners, but at least one County overlapping rates applies to each property owner.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 7
2023 2014
Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total
Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Value Assessed Taxable Assessed
Taxpayer (” Rank Value Assessed Value Rank Value
Lotus Bakeries US LLC.......o.rververrenrresieeniinssnsenes $ 89,680,372 1 307% S (2)
MIRE PIOPCO LP.voovvveeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeo e seesseeenns 86,510,700 2 2.96% @
Keystone at Mebane Oaks, LLC........ccceevveeveeiienninane 82,781,555 3 2.84% @
IPXIl Greensboro LOGIStiCS........rverrrererererersserereene 76,808,168 4 2.63% @
GKN Automotive Components............ 66,975,421 5 2.29% 108,240,516 1 6.50%
Industrial Connections & Solutions LLC................... 60,899,638 6 2.09% @
Liggett Group - One Hundred Mapel LLC................. 60,654,969 7 2.08% 76,337,861 2 4.60%
Wal-MIaTt.eeveiececeeieiesceeee et en s enen e 59,048,891 8 2.02% 14,774,329 7 0.90%
Cambro Manufacturing CO........veevereeeereseerssreneene 52,456,539 9 1.80% @
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner........cccceeveeevieennns 44,611,519 10 1.53% 37,196,862 4 2.20%
SANAVIK INCerverreeeeeeee e s @ 51,588,563 3 3.10%
Mebane Packaging / Meadwestvaco...........cccceueeuuee @ 24,805,467 5 1.50%
Carden Place Investors LLC @ 16,868,033 6 1.00%
Armacell LLC/Armstrong @ 13,910,017 8 0.80%
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company) @ 13,717,354 9 0.80%
SPFING FOTSt, LLCureerireeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeseseeseseesseneene @ 13,251,550 10 0.80%
TOUAL vttt st $680,427,772 23.31% $370,690,552 22.20%
Source:

Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
M Assessed valuation represents taxes assessed and due in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

@ Not within top ten ranking.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 8

Fiscal Year of the Levy

Taxes Levied
for the Fiscal

Fiscal Year Year ¥
7,764,524
8,223,909
8,528,175
9,288,710
9,815,332

10,383,208

10,854,564

11,273,675

12,490,459

13,721,187

Sources:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:

Amount Percentage

Collected of Levy
7,677,173 98.9%
8,175,886 99.4%
8,485,223 99.5%
9,244,828 99.5%
9,785,748 99.7%

10,326,956 99.5%

10,817,844 99.7%

11,233,082 99.6%
12,460,266 99.8%
13,652,870 99.5%

Total Collections to Date

Collections in
Subsequent
Years

127,578

80,574

105,455

38,044
57,884
54,947
34,571
36,080
17,245

Percentage

Amount of Levy
7,804,751 100.5%
8,256,460 100.4%
8,590,678 100.7%
9,282,872 99.9%
9,843,632 100.3%

10,381,903 100.0%

10,852,415 100.0%

11,269,162 100.0%

12,477,511 99.9%

13,652,870 99.5%

™ Taxes levied for the fiscal year are not adjusted for discoveries in subsequent years but their collectior
is included in the total collections to date for the year in which they would have been levied.

Percentage of Levy

101.0%

A

100.5% | Mg

100.0%

99.5%

99.0% (o

98.5%

98.0%

97.5%
2014 2015 2016 2017

==¢== Current Fiscal Year Collections

2018 2019
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 9
Governmental
Activities Business-type Activities
General Percentage
Installment Obligation Revenue Installment of Personal
Fiscal Year Financing @ Bonds Bonds Financing @ Total Income " Pper Capita @
2014 7,348,610 455,000 - 6,788,750 14,592,360 3.5% 1,180
2015 e 6,514,756 335,000 - 6,162,611 13,012,367 3.1% 1,032
2016...ciicieinieiees 5,679,678 215,000 - 5,272,472 11,167,150 2.6% 874
2017 e 11,141,683 95,000 - 4,869,335 16,106,018 3.6% 1,141
2018, 10,257,277 - - 4,459,195 14,716,472 3.2% 983
2019, 9,645,099 - - 4,042,056 13,687,155 2.9% 878
2020..... 8,371,909 - - 3,617,917 11,989,826 2.3% 737
2021..... 7,562,836 - - 3,186,778 10,749,614 1.4% 615
2022..... 7,512,035 - 13,573,000 144,563 21,229,598 2.7% 1,172
2023 s 6,834,187 - 12,609,000 115,551 19,558,738 2.2% 1,011

Notes:
W see Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

) Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Outstanding Debt Per Capita Outstanding Debt as a Percentage of
$1,400 Personal Income
4.0%
$1,200
3.5%
$1,000 - 3.0%
$800 - 2.5%
2.0%
$600 -
1.5%
$400 - L%
$200 - 0.5%
$0 - 0.0%
¥ 9 0N 99 0NN D
> © A % S % NI FIIIFI Y&
FTEFES TS S
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 10

Percentage of Actual
General Bonded Taxable Value of Per Capita Bonded

Fiscal Year Debt Property W Debt ?

2004 ittt et sreens 455,000 0.03% 37
2005 335,000 0.02% 27
2016, cuieiieiieie ettt e b e besreens 215,000 0.01% 17
2007 e 95,000 0.00% 7
- 0.00% -
- 0.00% -
- 0.00% -
- 0.00% -
- 0.00% -
- 0.00% -

' see Table 5 for Assessed Value of Taxable Property.

2 See Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

) Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Per Capita Bonded Debt Bonded Debt as a Percentage of Actual
<40 Taxable Value of Property
0.0%
S35 - ‘
0.0%
$30 - ?
$25 - 0.0%
$20 - 0.0% \
215 1 0.0%
$10 -
0.0%
$5
0.0%
so n T T T T T T 1
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

As of June 30, 2023 Table 11
Estimated

Share of Direct

Estimated and

Debt Percentage  Qverlapping

Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable™ Debt
Alamance County general obligation debt.........ccccocvvvieeciieniiiieeeceee S 186,452,106 15.00% $ 27,963,522
Orange County general obligation debt...........cccceeviieviiiiiiiiieccie e, 410,129,137 2.98% 12,210,398
Subtotal, overlapping debt.........ceviveieiieciece e 40,173,920
City of Mebane debt.......ccccuieiieiieeeeeecee e 6,834,187
Total direct and overlapping debt.........cccccvieviiiiiiiie e, S 47,008,107

Sources:

Alamance and Orange County debt outstanding provided by Alamance and Orange Counties.

Notes:

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the
City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that
is borne by the residents and businesses of the City. This process recognizes that, when considering the
City's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and
businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident
and, therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government.

™ For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using
taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of
another governmental unit's taxable assessed value that is within the City of Mebane's boundaries and
dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value. Taxable assessed property values as of June 30,
2022 were used to determine the overlapping debt percentage.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 12

Total Net Debt

Legal Debt
Margin as a

Applicable to Legal Debt Percent of Debt
Fiscal Year Debt Limit Limit Margin Limit
132,325,876 13,808,094 118,517,782 89.6%
134,694,582 17,117,480 117,577,102 87.3%
139,327,191 17,644,973 121,682,218 87.3%
153,527,862 25,367,821 128,160,041 83.5%
168,853,842 31,431,998 137,421,844 81.4%
174,550,083 20,412,713 154,137,370 88.3%
183,617,936 22,755,008 160,862,928 87.6%
190,098,152 18,470,042 171,628,110 90.3%
2022 e e 212,377,284 7,512,035 204,865,249 96.5%
2023 e e et 233,552,276 6,834,187 226,718,089 97.1%
Notes:
Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2021:
Assessed valuation.............. S 2,919,403,455
Statutory limit percentage 8.0%
Debt limit - 8.0% Of @SSE@SSEA VAlUE.......ccvvieeiieeiriiee et eeaaeee e S 233,552,276
Gross debt:
Total boNdEd dEDt...cc.eiiiiiiece e e -
Authorized and UNISSUEA DONAS........ueeiieiieiecies e saee e -
Lease fiNANCING @BIrEEMENTS. .....ciiuiecieseeeie et eree e ete et e s e ae e e e steesaaesseesneeeseeneenseas 6,834,187
QoL =TI =4 o e =Y o S 6,834,187
Less: statutory dedUCTIONS. ... ..eiiiiii e et ettt -
Total amount of debt applicable to debt limit (net debt).........ccceveeviieveieiiecceecee e, 6,834,187
LEEAl DBt IMIArEiN....ccueeveieeereireieeirecseeseeseeseeseeseessessessessessessessessessesessessessessessessessessassesans S 226,718,089
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years Table 13
Median value of Median
owner -occupied Family Unemployment
Fiscal Year Population (1) housing (2) Income Median Age (3) Rate (5)
12,366 161,000 * 52,586 35.8 * 6.3%
12,613 * 165,800 * 53,029 35.8 * 5.7%
12,774 * 172,400 * 53,029 35.8 * 4.7%
14,117 * 178,700 * 54,430 35.9 * 4.0%
14,973 * 185,700 * 56,037 35.8 * 4.0%
15,589 * 193,500 * 60,851 34.8 * 3.7%
16,262 * 195,800 * 54,157 34.2 * 4.4%
17,472 * 189,600 * 64,729 34.7 * 5.7%
18,116 * 202,900 * 61,213 35.3 * 4.5%
19,338 * 223,300 * 69,947 35.8 * 5.2%

Note: Many of these data elements are not published annually for cities. Data is estimated using the
ratio of Mebane to Alamance County from the 2020 census and the 2005-2014 American Community
Survey. That ratio was applied back to annual county data to estimate the data for the City of Mebane.

Notes:
(1) Office of State Management and Budget, NC Department of Revenue
(2) U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
United States Census Bureau, Most recent available census data.
(3) American City Survey Fact Finder.
(4) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics
(5) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics

* Data not available - estimated based on trends.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Employer
ABB (General Electric)
SPOrts ENAEAVOIS...ccuvieiiiieiiiieeiiee ettt
Walmart Distribution.........ceeceeveeriieeceeseeseesienene
AKG of America

Liggett Group LLC.......coveiiiiiiiieeeeeee e e
MEAIINE. ..ttt e
MOFINAEA weeeeeeiiiieee et s
JABIl (NYPFO) . cveecieeceeecteete et e
SANAVIK. et

Carrier (Walter Kidde).........ocoeeeeieeeiiieceieeeieeen
KiNGSAOWN...cuviiiiiiieciie et e
RESEIVE COPPEI...eiiiieiiiiieeeeeiteee et
UPI (Universal PersevaChem INC).......ccceeevveeveennenn.
Ferraro FOOdS.......oouiiiiiiiiinieeeee e
West Rock (Meadwestvaco).......ccecevevveeereecveenneene
Prescient - CloSed........ecveeieerieeneesie e e

Sources:
(1) Human Resource Directors- Phone or Email

(2) Alamance County Area Chamber of Commerce data for closest year available

(3) Not available

* Not in top ten this year
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Table 14
2023(1) 20142

Percentage of Percentage of

Total Total
Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
805 1 4.12% 315 4 4.7%
631 2 3.23% 311 5 4.6%
594 3 3.04% * (3)
430 4 2.20% 350 3 5.2%
429 5 2.20% 800 1 11.9%
297 6 1.52% 250 8 3.7%
290 7 1.49% 299 6 4.5%
250 8 1.28% * 3)
228 9 1.17% * (3)
225 10 1.15% 250 9 3.7%
180 * 0.92% * (3)
152 * 0.78% * 3)
143 * 0.73% * (3)
139 * 0.71% * 3)
93 * 0.48% 269 7 4.0%
81 * 0.41% 175 10 2.6%
28 * 0.14% * (3)
- * 0.00% * 3)
- * 0.00% * 3)
- * 0.00% 400 2 6.0%
- * 0.00% * 3)
- * 0.00% * (3)
4,995 25.57% 3,419 50.9%




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Full-time-Equivalent Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 15
Function / Department 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
General Government:
Mayor & City COUNCil...cccuvevreeiieeiieeieeeieeenee, 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
City Man@ger....cceeeeeieeiiiiiiieee e e 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
City ClerK. .o e, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Finance............... 2.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 6.0
Human ReSOUICES.......cccuveiiiieeeee e, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0
Tax Collector....couiiieiieeciecieeee e 1.0 1.0 1.0 - - - - - - -
City AtEOINEY. .o 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Information Technology........cccceevvveeveenieennenn. - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Public BUildings......cveeveeeieeiiecieecee e, 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0
Public Safety:
Police Department 31.0 32.0 35.0 35.5 40.0 40.0 40.0 41.0 49.5 52.5

Fire Department.......c.ccccoeviiiiiniiiinniniiiccnn, 16.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 28.0 29.0 29.0 31.0 37.0

Economic and Physical Development:

Planning...ccueeeeeeceeeee e e, 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.5

INSPECLIONS...eviiiiiieeiieeiiicee e, 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Public Works:

SEFEEES. .etiiiiiee e - - - - - - - - - -

Sanitation. ..o 7.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

PUBIIC WOPKS...ovviieeeee e, 12.0 12.0 12.0 13.0 12.0 14.0 14.0 12.0 14.0 14.0

Culture and Recreation:
ReCreation......cccueeeeeiiee e 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 10.0 9.0
Arts and Community Center 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 1.0

Water and Sewer:
Billing and Metering.......ccccevveeiieciieecieesieeens 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.0 2.0
Water distribution and maintenance............. 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 11.0 -

Waste Collection and Treatment:

Pretreatment - industrial monitoring............. 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.5
Wastewater Treatment Plant... 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 6.0 7.0
Laboratory......cccccveecieecieee e e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Sewer mains and lift stations..........cccccoeeuennes 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 -

[ Ie] 7 | R USPOPPPPRRN 110.5 1225 1285 131.0 136.5 1455 1475 1525 172.0 167.0

Sources:
City of Mebane staff

Notes:

A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).
Full-time-equivalent employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Operating Indicators by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 16
Function 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
General Government
Finance Department
Vendor checks iSSUEd........c.cuevreiceeieirinenicieis 2,952 3,029 3,095 3,104 3,299 3,668 3,613 3,621 3,984 4,004
Human Resources
Workers' compensation lost time (days)............ 122 - - - - 23 - - - -
Employee turnover rate.........ccoevveeveeeeernnennens 3% 5% 9% 5% 9% 4% 6% 12% 13% 16%
Public Safety
Fire Protection
Incident calls 823 773 840 909 918 921 919 939 1,175 1,143
Structure fires... 211 15 19 26 34 21 25 36 49 17
INSPECIONS. c.vteteeiieieieeree et 190 186 394 363 250 545 233 188 725 338
Child passenger seat inspections............ccceeevene. 191 154 204 193 237 190 217 107 219 172
Police Protection
Physical arrests 568 501 377 438 482 506 436 274 299 301
Citations issued.... . 1,226 1,028 926 1,585 1,522 1,846 1,720 970 1,186 1,754
Response to calls/officer initiated activity.......... 14,942 14,685 16,968 16,363 17,220 19,764 21,718 20,932 22,657 21,256
Traffic accidents........cccvviviciieeiniciicce e 528 491 620 790 628 809 642 767 813 884
Public Works
Street resurfacing (miles) 2.67 1.48 1.48 1.51 1.32 2.20 1.56 4.15 3.35 3.02
Refuse collected (tons annually).. 3,390 3,585 3,880 4,073 4,278 4,594 4,950 5,459 5,454 5,578
Homes receiving Service.......coevueereeereeereeeenennes 3,965 4,756 4,527 4,717 5,354 4,965 5,243 5,538 5,867 6,146
Recyclables collected (tons annually)................... 1,112 1,100 841 862 864 831 1,265 792 1,024 1,006
Economic & Physical Development
Inspections
Residential inspections conducted..................... 5,914 5,212 6,477 7,348 4,765 7,032 7,357 11,159 10,274 8,138
Commercial inspections conducted.................... 785 1,462 8,499 9,710 5,449 5,291 2,761 2,214 1,565 2,564
Total inspections conducted............cccoeevevnnnen. 6,699 6674 14976 17,058 10,214 12,323 10,118 13373 11,839 10,702
Certificates of occupancy issued... 131 154 166 216 102 206 207 285 322 386
Building permits issued 228 155 191 143 171 196 259 348 268 291
Cultural & Recreation
Recreation
Athletics participants........coeeeceeerneiceneeenens 2,693 2,653 2,744 2,679 2,679 2,923 1,623 1,846 2,933 1,965
Water Distribution
ACCOUNTS.....vriiiciriiteiee et 4,566 4,744 4,934 5,227 5,471 5,717 5,972 6,008 6,678 6,988
Average daily consumption (mgd).........cccccevvevnnnn 1.350 1.400 1.510 1.880 1.760 1.710 1.707 1.911 1.931 1.985
Wastewater Treatment
ACCOUNTS ...ttt e 4,263 4,424 4,587 4,898 5,034 5,170 5,395 5,564 6,031 6,327
Average daily treatment (Mgd)......ccccevvrvrvririerennen 1.340 1.202 1.359 1.373 1.290 1.690 1.570 1.770 1.588 1.590

Sources:

Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 17

Function 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Public Safety
Fire Protection

StatioNS....oooee e 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Fire trucks....coceveveeveenienieeieeeesienn 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13
Police Protection
SEAtiONS.c.eiieiieeeee 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units........coceeeeeeeeiieecieeeeeeee, 32 30 29 31 39 36 36 36 37 36
Public Works
Miles of streets........coceeeeiveeeiieeccrieeenen. 52.4 54.0 54.3 54.7 56.6 58.0 60.1 62.4 65.6 67.9
Maintenance vehicles.................. . 56 58 58 51 45 29 31 32 32 34
Miles of sidewalks (linear feet)............. 43.0 50.1 50.8 54.2 55.3 57.5 59.8 63.6 69.0 72.0
Refuse collection trucks.........ccceevueneee. 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 7
Cultural & Recreation
Number of parks .......ccccoeeveeeiiieeniienns 6 6 6 6 7 8 9 9 10 11
Park acreage.....ccccocveveeeeceeeceesieseeeiens 275 275 275 308 308 328 328 362 365 366
Trails (Miles)....ccveveeceeeieeieeereecee e 3 3 3 3 3 5 5 5 5 5
Playgrounds.........cccceevverveecieeriieseenenans 5 5 5 5 3 4 5 5 6 6
Baseball/softball diamonds................... 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Soccer fields.....coeveereencieeieceeceeeees 10 10 10 10 10 7 7 7 7 7
Water and Sewer
Miles of gravity sewer lines........cccc....... 89.1 94.3 97.8 98.6 100.1 113.4 1188 122.1 123.6 126.5
Miles of water [ines.......ccocuevverrueenueennnn. 104.6 1113 111.3 1149 117.2 1178 122.2 1258 130.0 132.8
Miles of sewer force mains................... 18.5 18.3 21.9 18.3 18.5 24.2 27.8 27.8 27.8 27.8

Miles of storm sewer 57.6 58.5 61.1 61.8 64.9 65.0 67.6 71.5 81.3 84.3

Source:
Various City departments
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Compliance Section

This section contains compliance reports for the City’s
Governmental Compliance.

Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the City of Mebane's
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 30,
2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City
of Mebane's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Mebane’s financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Suser M%owea £ 06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 30, 2023
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM,;
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; WITH OMB
UNIFORM GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION
ACT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Mebane, North Carolina, compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit
Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government
Commission, that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of Mebane’s
major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The City of Mebane’s major
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Mebane complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Our
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of City of Mebane and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit
does not provide a legal determination of the City of Mebane's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to City of
Mebane federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion
on City of Mebane’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about
City of Mebane’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we

e cxercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding City of Mebane’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances.

e obtain an understanding of City of Mebane's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Mebane's internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section and above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueet M%owen £ K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 30, 2023

Page 121



——
-——wv
v

Certified
Public
Accountants

Adbvisors to
Management

Member of PCPS,
the AICPA Alliance
For CPA Firms

Mailing Address:
P.O. Box 1440
Buslington, NC 27216-1440

Street Address:
1233 South Church Street
Burlington, NC 27215

336.226.7343
fax 336.2294204

www.ssmkllp.com
email: ssmk@ssmkllp.com

STOUT
STUART
MCSGOWEN
& KING p

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE PROGRAM; REPORT
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; WITH OMB UNIFORM
GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION ACT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program

Opinion on Each Major State Program

We have audited the City of Mebane, North Carolina, compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit
Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government
Commission, that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City of Mebane’s
major State programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The City of Mebane’s major State
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Mebane complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major State programs for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Our
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of City of Mebane and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major State program. Our audit
does not provide a legal determination of the City of Mebane's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to City of
Mebane State programs.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion
on City of Mebane’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about
City of Mebane’s compliance with the requirements of each major State program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we

e cxercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding City of Mebane's compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances.

e obtain an understanding of City of Mebane's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Mebane's internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
State program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a State program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a State program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section and above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
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deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Suser M%owea £ 06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 30, 2023
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not

considered to be material weaknesses Yes X  None Reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted Yes X  No
Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes X  None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major federal programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes X  No

Identification of major federal programs:

Federal Assistance Listing No. Names of Federal Program or Cluster

21.027 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Fund

Dollar threshold used to disntinguish between Type A and
Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X  No
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Results

State Awards
Internal control over major State programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes

Significant Deficiency(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses Yes

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major State programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with State Single Audit
Implementation Act Yes

Identification of major State program:

State Program Name

X None Reported

Unmodified

Powell Bill
Section II. Financial Statement Findings
None reported.
Section III. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None reported.
Section V. State Award Findings and Questioned Costs
None reported.
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CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

None
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For The Year Ended June 30, 2023

State/ Federal
Federal Pass-through  (Direct and Passed
Grantor/Pass-through Assistance Grantor's Pass-through) State Through to
Grantor/Program Title Listing No. Number Expenditures Expenditures Subrecipient

Federal Awards:
Cash Programs:

U.S. Dept. of Justice
Direct Program:
Federal Equitable Sharing Funds 16.922 na S 9,823 $ - S -

U.S. Dept. of Treasury
Passed-through the Office of State Budget and Management:

NC Pandemic Recovery Office

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Fund 21.027 2,016,944 - -

Total assistance - federal programs 2,026,767 - -

Cash Assistance:
N.C. Department of Transportation:
Powell Bill na 2000001817 - 502,733 -

N.C. Office of State Budget and Management
State Capital and Infrastructure Fund na - 150,000 -

Total assistance - state programs - 652,733 -

Total assistance $ 2,026,767 S 652,733 $ -

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards:

1. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and State awards (SEFSA) includes the federal and State grant activity of the City of
Mebane under the programs of the federal government and the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2023. The information in
this SEFSA is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 US Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Mebane, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City of Mebane.

2. Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following
the cost principles contained in Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to
reimbursement.

3. City of Mebane has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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